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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
E W AR E

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report that Huanxi Media Group Limited (the
“Company” or "Huanxi Media", together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) has marked a new milestone in the development of its
film and TV business in the past year. The Group has strived to
explore more quality film and TV contents, which have elicited
high praise from the audience in Mainland China.

During the year under review, Crazy Alien (JREHSNE A) and My
People, My Country (B Ek&IMHEE), which were invested in and
produced by the Group, hit cinema screens during the Chinese
New Year holiday and the National Day holiday respectively, and
achieved good box office receipts as well as great reputation.
Adhering to its central strategy of emphasising importance of
contents, the Group maintained close cooperation with top-tier
directors in China, partnering to deliver original and premium film
and TV productions to the market, locking in the sources of the
best contents, with the aim of further fortifying its leading position
in China’s film and TV industry.

Considering the current increasingly popular online viewing
trend, the Group continued to develop its own streaming platform
"huanxi.com” (EZg&m) during the year. The Group has
collaborated closely with many leading internet and entertainment
enterprises in China including Beijing ByteDance Network
Technology Limited* (“ByteDance”) and Maoyan Entertainment,
thereby further introducing greater user traffic to “huanxi.com”
while enhancing its brand image and coverage. Besides, it has
also actively sourced premium movie and TV productions from
around the world to present exclusively on this platform, which
successfully attracted more fee-paying subscribers. As a result,
the streaming service business is well-positioned to become a
growth driver for the Group's business in the foreseeable future.

Subsequent to the year under review, “huanxi.com” commenced
strategic cooperation with ByteDance. Guided by the strategy
of combining popular contents with high volume traffic portals,
both parties began in-depth cooperation, with the aim of driving
the Group to evolve into a leading media group boasting a
sophisticated and experienced production team, the richest
reserve of film and TV contents and a self-operated streaming
platform.

*  For identification purposes only
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In May 2019, the People’s Republic of China (the “"PRC") issued the
“Opinions on Deepening Integrated Reform to Promote Healthy
Development of the Film and TV Industry in China”, which stated
higher requirement for contents of film and TV productions, aimed
at promoting continued healthy development of the industry. At
the same time, China’s film industry grew steadily with domestic
cinema reporting robust results. According to the data from
China Film Administration, the total box office receipts of movies
released in China in 2019 amounted to a record-breaking RMB64.3
billion, with domestic films accounting for over 64%, the highest
ever. The year 2019 was also a year for the release of excellent
domestically produced films with extensive and rich genres and
topics. These movies occupied eight positions out of the top ten
movies with the highest box office receipts in the country. During
the year, the trend of audiences watching blockbusters at the
cinema became more apparent. The cumulative share of these top
ten box office leaders increased three percentage points to 45%
of total receipts, reflecting the more selective criteria of Chinese
audiences who display a greater preference for quality films of
higher production standards.

Moreover, the number of users of online video platforms has
also increased rapidly. According to a report issued by the China
Internet Network Information Center, as at late June 2019, there
were 854 million internet users in China and the country’s internet
penetration rate was 61.2%. According to the “2019 Online Video
Market Research Report” published by BigData-Research, the
number of online video platform users in China reached 774
million in 2019, reflecting the extensive coverage of internet
users by online video platforms. The online video platform market
in China is expected to have a value of RMB170 billion in 2020,
representing an 11.6% increase year-on-year. The report also
cited that the number of users in China’s online video platform
market has already reached 100 million. Online video platforms
in China have started to explore different payment forms such
as "paid advanced viewing” for popular TV dramas. As Chinese
consumers have formed the habit of paying for quality film and TV
contents online, together with the innovative applications of new
technologies such as big data and 5G in the online video platform
sector, perfecting content and optimising viewer experiences have
become the key development directions of the industry.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
B

LEADERSHIP IN MOVIES RELEASED IN KEY
THEATER SCHEDULES

ACHIEVED CRITICAL ACCLAIM AND
SATISFACTORY BOX OFFICE RECEIPTS

During the year under review, Crazy Alien (RERSNEAN), the
scientific comedy solely invested by the Group, was the top draw
among movies released during the Chinese New Year holiday in
2019. The film received positive feedback from audiences and
achieved box office receipts of more than RMB400 million on its
debut. In total, box office receipts amounted to RMB2.2 billion.
Many film critics applauded director Ning Hao's efforts to add
scientific elements in local comedy and create hilarious stories
about ordinary people. My People, My Country (F AT #)EE) with
the Group as one of the producers led the movie trend during
the National Day holiday in 2019, recording box office receipts
of RMB3.2 billion. The movie depicts the development of the
grand era from the perspectives of ordinary people, eliciting the
empathy of the audiences. These two movies ranked among the
top ten in box office receipts during 2019.

OFFERING QUALITY CONTENTS
OUTSTANDING MOVIE AND TV
PRODUCTIONS GRADUALLY HIT THE SCREEN

The Group completed the shooting and production of a number of
films and TV programmes during the year under review. Among
these productions, Lost in Russia (E%%), the latest addition to the
classic “Lost” series of comedies written, and directed by and
starring Xu Zheng and solely invested and produced by the Group,
was originally scheduled to make its debut on cinema screens
during the Chinese New Year holiday in 2020. However, affected
by the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19"),
theatres were temporary closed and the release of movies was
suspended during that time. In response to the situation, the
Group cooperated with ByteDance in respect of Lost in Russia
(F545%), which was then changed to be launched on online video
platforms on the first day of the Chinese New Year, making it the
first movie ever to debut online during the Chinese New Year
holiday. Through this move, the Group received considerable
license fees paid by ByteDance and shared the income related
to this broadcast. The enthusiastic response received also
substantially exceeded the Group's expectation, gaining
considerable acclaims while attracting users of streaming platform
for the Group.
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Leap (BEE), formerly known as Leap (B HkE), and the
biographical film Li Na (88 e £35), formerly known as Li Na
(Z4#F), both directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and invested by
the Group, are two highly-anticipated movies among Chinese
audiences in 2020. Leap (B ) illustrates the heartwarming story
covering the struggle of generations of Chinese women's national
volleyball team members who strived for national glory; while L/
Na (B8 ¢ £3) narrates the story of Li Na, the legendary female
tennis player who was Asia’s first women’s singles winner of a
Grand Slam event, and the extraordinary efforts she put into the
sport and the hardships she endured on the path to glory.

Tropical Memories (251X =), with the Group as an investor, is
produced by Ning Hao and directed by the acclaimed new director
Wen Shipei and will be released in 2020. The film is a nominee
of the Talent Project Market at the 68th Berlin International Film
Festival and received the "VFF Talent Highlight Award” cash prize.
It has been the only Chinese movie to win the Award since its
debut in 2004.

For the Group’s productions One Second (—*t)$%), directed by
Zhang Yimou; Warm Hug (R #&)#3#) directed by Chang Yuan;
Miss Mom (Z&5t), formerly known as Miss Mom ((ENE2),
directed by Tang Danian and produced by Tian Zhunagzhuang;
Leaping Over The Dragon Gate (8£F348), formerly known as The
Advanced Animals (=#&®)%1), produced by Gao Qunshu; The
Mountain (_E L) produced by Wang Xiaoshuai; and Run For Young
(RARADERKZ), an internet drama directed by Zhang Yibai, are
all expected to be released in 2020.

FORMED STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS
TO FACILITATE THE DEVELOPMENT OF
STREAMING PLATFORM

As an industry leader, Huanxi Media has been capturing the huge
market potential presented by online video platforms and has
formed strategic partnerships with a number of leading internet
and entertainment enterprises including ByteDance and Maoyan
Entertainment to further expand its "huanxi.com” business.
We are also pleased to see that "huanxi.com” has currently
accumulated over two million (2,000,000) fee-paying subscribers
and continued to grow steadily. The Group believes the business
will become one of its stable income sources for the foreseeable
future.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
E W AR E

In March 2019, the Group signed a strategic cooperation
agreement with Tianjin Maoyan Weying Cultural Media Co., Ltd*
("Maoyan Weying"), Maoyan Weying will also continue to promote
Huanxi Media on its website and APP and co-invest in films and
TV/internet drama series projects to help “huanxi.com” expand
its content advantage and enhance its influence in the streaming
platform sector.

During the year, Huanxi Media also worked with 1905.com under
CCTVé6, a satellite film channel of the Publicity Department of
the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China. The
“"huanxi.com” zone will be added to the customer terminals
of website, mobile phone and PAD of 1905.com. The parties
will also develop a joint membership programme. In addition,
“huanxi.com” will have access to streaming and TV media through
the TV terminal of BesTV, which can maximise the coverage of our
portal’s channel and enable it to provide selected content services
to a wider audience.

After the year under review, in January 2020, the Group signed
a cooperation agreement with ByteDance, a leading internet
company in China. ByteDance’s popular online platforms,
including “Toutiao” (5 HEE{E) and “Xigua” (PR 58), will add
an independent access for "huanxi.com” and a designated
zone for directing. Both parties also plan to consolidate their
resources, to jointly produce film and TV contents, acquire new
media rights for film and TV contents and jointly establish a
cinema channel. We believe that the cooperation will further
enlarge the user base and enhance the branding effect of
“huanxi.com”, and optimise ByteDance’s layout in the long video
business, and, ultimately, create a situation which will benefit
both parties.

*  For identification purposes only
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SELECTED FILM AND TV CONTENTS TO
ENHANCE THE ATTRACTION OF
"HUANXI.COM"

“huanxi.com” has launched a new documentary channel during
the year, allowing audiences to view documentaries produced
by renowned and respected international teams. The first batch
of programmes aired cover suspense, actual events, human life
activities and nature, including Up Series (N*E&+F Z75), Planet
Farth (#ERMKED) and The Blue Planet (85t 2K) which are rated
nine or above according to Douban, as well as Earth’s Sacred
Wonders (it RIS EEFER), Jack the Ripper — The Case Reopened
(FPEF45e  BERIFAD) and Animals and Love (REHrEHYD),
BBC productions being aired in China for the first time.

The Group also searches for quality films and TV programmes
around the world in order to present them on the platform,
including those produced by famous Chinese film directors.
Highlights of such works include Lost in Russia (B1%5), Two Tigers

(MR ER), The Whistleblower (RIE A), Wild Goose Lake (575 &
UEEE®) and Sheep without a Shepherd (F2%%), as well as quality

film and TV productions from overseas such as Detective Yugami
(FIZ= = 4#), a popular Japanese TV drama series; Bodyguard (85 &
fREE, translated title in Hong Kong: MERHE), the most watched
BBC drama series during the past decade; See You Up There (X_t
FBR), a movie that created a stir in the cinema industry in France;
Snowpiercer (EB%EE); World on Fire (& XF4); Never Look
Away (#E=E 2 1{E); and The Third Murder (35 =E &5k A). Through
these efforts, “huanxi.com” has significantly expanded its user
base. For January and February 2020, total number of its active
users exceeded 13 million. Currently, the number of fee-paying
subscribers exceeds 2 million. The app of “huanxi.com” has been
downloaded over 11 million times. In the future, we will keep
optimising and updating the content of "huanxi.com” so as to
boost its development, provide more wonderful content and bring
more entertaining cinematic experiences to viewers.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Looking into 2020, we believe that the film industry in China will
continuously develop. Cultural-related consumption demand and
the preferences of audiences will become more sophisticated,
which will bring us to the harvest time for the development of
the local film industry, when quality films and TV programmes will
certainly stand out.

Despite the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on film industry at
the beginning of 2020, the Group believes its negative influence
will be short-lived. Film is a key part in the social culture,
well-loved by audiences, and watching movies has become a
popular leisure activity. As the epidemic recedes, we believe the
reopened cinemas will benefit from strong spending from pent-up
demand over a long period, which will contribute to the recovery
of the entire film industry.

The Group firmly believes that content is critical to the success
of the film and TV industry, while outstanding directors and
creative teams are the key factors that determine the artistic
merit and commercial value of films. The Group will continue
to leverage its unique shareholding structure model and build
up close cooperative relationship with world-known directors,
and cooperate with top Chinese directors, including Ning Hao,
Xu Zheng, Chan Ho Sun Peter, Wong Kar Wai, Zhang Yibai, Gu
Changwei, Zhang Yimou, Jia Zhangke and Wang Xiaoshuai to
ensure its access to original contents sources in China’s market
of films and TV dramas. This, in turn, will secure for us a stable
supply of quality film and TV productions, thereby satisfying the
needs of an extensive audience, sparking cultural spending and
further consolidating our leading presence in the film and TV
industry of China.
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At the same time, seeing the huge business opportunities
and long-term prospects of streaming platforms, the Group
will maintain in-depth cooperation with leading internet and
entertainment companies including ByteDance and Maoyan
Entertainment. This is aimed at providing more quality film and
TV contents to “huanxi.com”, transforming it into a premium
streaming platform with tremendous user traffic, thus injecting
strong growth momentum into the Group.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Group will continue to prioritise investment
in and production of quality original film and TV contents by
extending its cooperation with top Chinese directors, while
furthering that with potential acclaimed new directors. The Group
will also continue to map out its dynamic development, seize
the enormous opportunities in the Chinese market, and embrace
the harvest time for ongoing industrialisation of the Chinese film
sector.

At the same time, the Group will continue to further its
cooperation with leading companies in the Internet and
Entertainment sector in China including ByteDance and Maoyan
Entertainment, which aims to provide momentum for the Group's
streaming platform to capture opportunities brought by paid
online viewing, so as to further strengthen and extend our
competitive edge and continuously create promising returns to
our shareholders.

Last but not least, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude
to all members of our Board, our management team, business
partners and staff for their dedication and contributions to the
Group's business.

Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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APPENDIX: FAMOUS DIRECTORS COOPERATING EXCLUSIVELY WITH THE GROUP
ik  BAKEEBRITBRSEZARER

Director

Background
BE/EN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Ning Hao*

TN N %
=iy

Famous internationally for his unique directing
style, all films he made so far had brought
strong investment returns. His directorial debut
Incense (& !X) and another work Mongolian
Ping Pong (4 & it7) were nominated for awards
in over 50 international film festivals
REBREAAREZEBHE  2HMELHTR
LHEKZER R - Eé*%iﬂé%%ﬂ@ﬁkﬁu@fﬁ
WIRE+ZERREZHERE

Crazy Stone (B ®) A ), a low budget
production he directed in 2006, won at the
Taiwan Golden Horse Awards for Best Original
Screenplay. Crazy Racer (JaiEH)EE) (2009),
which he wrote and directed, was produced
with only RMB10 million, yet brought in box
office receipts of over RMB100 million
RIZZREFHENAEZ(RAANABE)ITE
SeleBSREERERAE - FXEARA
B B {ER AN A R %10,000,0007T 2 L IE H) B
B)ZZEZNF) - ZEFZHAK100,000,000
JC

He also directed the huge box office hit
Breakup Buddies (L>7E# H) (2014), which
grossed RMB1.17 billion in box office receipts
in the PRC, making it the highest grossing
domestic Chinese movie of the year

HEHBBZ LR (ZF—NF) - LER
B=E A R%1,170,000,0007T & 2 5 B F E &

=2
ERELZEY

He is one of the co-producers of Dying to
Survive (3 2 B 38) (2018), which earned
RMB3.1 billion in box ofﬂce receipts. The
movie was nominated for seven awards at the
55th Taiwan Golden Horse Awards and won
the awards for Best Leading Actor, Best New
Director and Best Original Screenplay. The
movie also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival

H2HEBAEZMN(BRTRES) (ZE—N\F)
7 5= 5 A K #53,100,000,0007T E%’SS@@
%ﬁqﬂ)\tﬂﬁlﬁ BRESEEREA -
BEEFEERSRERZR A= 1I7§IE i
REFLOERENRARBRELE 2 RERIAE

He also directed Crazy Alien (JRIZHISNE A)
(2019), which grossed RMB2.2 billion in box
office receipts in China
HPZEZ(RANINE AN (ZE—NF) -
NREFE B AR2,200,000,0007T

m\
’W

2

The shareholder director shall direct one
to two films (for public release) every
three years
BRREEHAAEEG=FEE M
B Em (AEm IER AR L 2 2%E)

The Group shall own exclusive
investment and production rights to any
films and programmes developed and
directed by Mr. Ning, i.e. the Group shall
be the sole investor of such productions
AEBEBEEEMBAEBERRRECEY
BB 2 HEtbIR B R BUERE - EHZ!K‘EI#H
REBIER2HE—RESE

The Group shall have priority distribution
rights (including cinema screenings,
audio-visual products, television
broadcasting, network dissemination,
etc.) to the shareholder director’s
productions in China, Hong Kong, Taiwan
and Macau
AEEHEERFREEEREFE  BF -
BENMARPIEEETE  BREEBERK
S5 ERERREEEES

The shareholder director shall, at his
best, provide the Group with the priority
investment, production and distribution
rights for films and TV programmes not
developed or directed, or produced,
screen-written by him or with him as lead
actor or member of the creative team

1% B8 28 U 35 25 T AE BE A0 JE B AR R B R R
ERMEURRREES AEE - RE -
FEIEMEFBAB 2 AIERREE M
REBERBEELRKERE  RUERREITE

Crazy Alien (&L 5NE A), with the
Group as exclusive investor and directed
by Mr. Ning, was released on the first
day of the Chinese New Year in 2019.
It bagged a third-party guaranteed
minimum distribution amount of RMB2.8
billion and generated revenue of RMB700
million for the Group in 2019
REBBRIEE BEEERENETCRT
HINEAIER_-ZE—NFFY — L8
152 = 77 AR #2,800,000,0007T (R & &
T2E ERE-—NFRATEEERA
K %700,000,000775 PN

* Shareholder director and non-executive director of the Company
* REREER AN BIEHITES
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Director Background Cooperation Details

8= BEEN EERE

Xu Zheng* e In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand | e The shareholder director shall direct one
13 g~ (NBEWBE#® 2% ME), which he also wrote, to two films (for public release) every

directed, produced and starred in, earned
over USD200 million in box office receipts
CE - FERERBEEEERERAKES
CANBHEZ D) - 2FE =% ©200,000,000
7T

In 2014, Mr. Xu produced and starred in the
film Great Hypnotist (f&8& K #f) which became
a classic in the thriller film market in China

ZE-UF RAEERETFTEERERE Y
(ERARM) KAEZERBREYMBLA

Dying to Survive (% =& %&1#) co-produced and
starred by Mr. Xu earned RMB3.1 billion in box
office receipts in 2018. The film was nominated
for seven awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden
Horse Awards and won the awards for Best
Leading Actor, Best New Director and Best
Original Screenplay. The movie also won Best
Screenplay at the 42nd Montreal World Film
Festival and Best Film at the 14th Changchun
Film Festival

ZE-)N\F - REAZHEBEERY FIRMNCR
TR g ) WEE E A R ¥53,100,000,0007T * £
ES5E e HERABRTERE  BERESEEDS
FTA REMSBERGERZRAN=(EEIE - )t
FMEEERERENRBEBEZE 2 KEE
RERFUEFEREEZEH o HERFRE

Lost in Russia (45) (2020), written, directed,
produced and starred by Mr. Xu, which was
first released through online video platforms in
China
REFERESEEREHNEL(AHI(ZF
ZEF)RBIABERKTEER

three years
RREEHAELTEEE=FEE =W
BEm (AEREXN QR LB &%)

The Group owns exclusive investment
and production rights to any films and
programmes developed and directed by
Mr. Xu, i.e. the Group shall be the sole
investor of such productions
REEBEEFMWAREEBEERRNE T
T RETE 2 B B R SR - BIARNEE
B nBERAERcE—RES

The Group has priority distribution
rights (including cinema screenings,
audio-visual products, television
broadcasting, network dissemination,
etc.) to the shareholder director’s
productions in China, Hong Kong, Taiwan
and Macau

AEBERKBEERREEEREFE B
B BEBRRFMZEXETE  BEXE
Pt - SEEM - BB R AREE

==
=T

The shareholder director shall, at his
best, provide the Group with the priority
investment, production and distribution
rights for films and TV programmes not
developed or directed, or produced,
screen-written by him or with him as lead
actor or member of the creative team

IR G EAS B R IEH R R B AR
BEERBMENRRREES RELR  RE -
FEFIAMFRAAB R IERKLE B M
RARREEEKRERE  RUERREITE

Lost in Russia (E1%5), the latest in the
“Lost” series, was released through
online video platforms on the first day of
the Chinese New Year in 2020
F—wmKED R EX 2B R T =F
FREN—BBPHET & L

Shareholder director and non-executive director of the Company
REGERARNFIENITES
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China’s Golden Rooster Awards. His films
Almost a Love Story (8 Z %) and Dragon (E %)
had made it among Time Magazine's 10 Best
Movies of the Year

ERBELERAESHFR BTEEXSKREMN
RHBHEYeHR RESBEIMNARESE -
HPBNEZ(HERZ) (AR EEREERE
FEBRBHNFE TEEX

Leap (BE) (formerly known as Leap (FEIZZ
#E)) directed by him is expected to be released
in 2020

HAENE(ER) (BIBCR R H)) Bari§
RZZEZTF i

Li Na (B8 » E£35)(formerly known as Li Na (Z=
#5)) directed by him is expected to be released
in 2020

HPBZMNET(ER « Li15) (RIE(EMH)) Bt
BN —T-TF ik

Director Background Cooperation Details

BE BEEN EERE

Chan Ho Sun e He is the first director crowned the "Best | e During the six-year cooperation period,
Peter* Director” at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, the Group shall have investment right to

Bk A] 3£+ the Hong Kong Film Awards and Mainland at least two films directed or co-directed

by Mr. Chan, in amount up to 60% of the
total investment in each of Mr. Chan's
productions

ERNFEERA  AEEBEESZ LM
HREEEENEBAERNELERE
B HeaREBEAEHREEERIEE
1B EEHI60%

The Group shall have priority over others
to purchase exclusive global distribution
licenses in new media with respect to
Mr. Chan'’s productions
AEBEENDABEREEERB IR
BRITEEFITIA 2R

For those productions the Group invested
in, the Group shall have the right to
decide regarding distribution of the films
to exclusive new media platforms

HASEDIRENEE  REERKERT
MEETCBF NIRRT G AERTE

Shareholder director

I RER
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Director Background Cooperation Details

8= BEEN EERE

Wong Kar Wai* | e Dubbed a “movie poet”, renowned movie | e During the eight-year cooperation
XA director, producer and screenwriter, Mr. Wong period, the Group has the right to invest

won the “Best Director” title at the Hong Kong
Film Awards and the Golden Horse Awards for
the movie Days of Being Wild (B 7 1E {F)
NIEXFAIZBNNEELEE  EERE
Bl e EHENEZ(NREF)KETEETS
GREREReSRFEEREE

He also won the “Best Director” award for
Happy Together (& Yt E &) at the 50th Cannes
Film Festival
BE(EARER)REFVEFENEFHREE
B 52

exclusively in a Chinese internet drama
series — 18 episodes in two seasons —
co-directed and produced by Mr. Wong.
There will be 12 episodes in the first
season

ENFEERRN  REBEBSIZSEHS
8 5 TN BE B R i 2= 2R 185 R S 48 RIS
RENBRITERE BT H12%

e The Group also has a right to invite
Mr. Wong to produce an extra movie or
internet drama series principally invested
by the Group
REBNERERB T REBINEIE—FE
ZHAKEERENETIBERINZEE

e The Group has exclusive right to
distribute, sub-license and broadcast
the internet drama series to the global
audience through new media platforms
for a period of 10 years
REEBEZEIT BRKEBFEETS
MERBERIE R EE R RE R ER
SRl FHETSF

e Mr. Wong is going to produce and
co-direct an internet drama series
Paradise Guesthouse (X EFREE) with 12
episodes
TR IR B R MBS & B R 126 A48
RN EBICREIREED

Shareholder director

PR E
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Director
EBE

Background
BEEN

Cooperation Details
EERE

Zhang Xiaoling*
(also known
as Zhang
Yibai)

of g Pac#

(X&BR—H)

Dubbed the “Godfather of Youth Films” in
China, his love story movies have enjoyed
wide acclaims and among them, the 2016
production / Belonged to You (# Ry 2 i 57
i8) brought in box office receipts of more than
RMB800 million, a record among movies of its
kind

WERIPESERARX]  EHENZHE
BEXHRPBRKNENT  EF T - 58
FARMMHE2EARB) EENEEAARE
800,000,000t RfF * B THEZBEXNRE
o ek

The box office receipts of films he directed
and produced totaled more than RMB3.1
billion, putting him in the league of the
most commercially successful directors and
producers in China today

B ENMERNEYRBEEFHAARKE
3,100,000,0007T * 3+ B Al s A E B EM&
EEERINGEREH Y —

Us and Them (& R &) 317 (2018) produced by
Mr. Zhang and directed by Rene Liu recorded
a box office receipts of more than RMB1.36
billion

RAEGEETER JAERRENERNR
fIHY(ZFE-—NF) DREEEFEBERAARE
1,360,000,0007T

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has priority right over others
to invest in at least two of Mr. Zhang's
productions, in the amount of no less
than 55% of the total investment amount
of each of the productions
ERFEERRN  REBZHEER MDA
KREZDMBREEERZEN  RER
NOREE R EIEmIRE 4258 ,255%

The Group has priority right to purchase
exclusive global distribution licenses to
new media of at least two of Mr. Zhang's
productions
REEZEEEABEEELMAREEEM
ZEMBER AR EATITAI 2 A

The Group has exclusive right to invest
in two seasons of internet drama series
directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Zhang
REEZBHRLENE (HBERE) W
MERBR R RE 2 BRITERE

The Group has been granted exclusive
global distribution rights of two seasons
of the internet drama series directed (or
co-directed) by Mr. Zhang to new media
REERBRREENE (SBEHE) KR
FRE RN ERE 2 2B R IE BT
3

The Group has participation rights to
other productions of Mr. Zhang
REBERREEEMIER CIRE L EE

The internet drama series Run For Young
(AR DERKZE) directed by Mr. Zhang is
expected to be released in 2020
HEHZNHEBICER D FHRZE) A BN
—E-TFEBRAE

Shareholder director

I RER
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Director Background Cooperation Details

B BEEN EERE

Gu Changwei* | o« As one of the few Chinese members of | e During the six-year cooperation period,
BERA the Academy of Motion Picture Arts and the Group has exclusive right to invest

Sciences (AMPAS), he has long been hailed

as “the master cinematographer in Asia” and

subsequently became a director

BERERIBEARNRTEZS - FHIDME—
FMIZHE REEBEREEY

He directed a number of iconic movies
including Love for Life (&%), Peacock (fL.%£),
and was the cinematographer of Red Sorghum
(#I=32) and Farewell To My Concubine (% £
AI/4%), winning accolades at many international
film festivals

BEZHTNEEY  BIE(EE) (FLE)RR
BURR)RCHEERE) EHRARELRE
B EERE

in two seasons of internet drama series
directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Gu
ERNFAERAN AEEZFRELERE
(KB ERE) MM EEKRTTZRE 2B
RIEE R

e The Group has exclusive global new
media distribution rights for these
internet drama series
REBEBEBELEBERIZEER 2 2R
BRI R T

e The Group has priority right to invest
in Mr. Gu's productions. The exact
amount of investment in each of Mr. Gu's
productions is to be agreed between the
Company and Mr. Gu
rEEEZREEAREBAEECEmE
MeB—HELAEECER I ARBRER
BN R EELEERTE

e The Group has the right to purchase
exclusive global distribution licenses to
new media for at least two of Mr. Gu's
productions and has participation right to
invest in his other productions
AEBEZEEEEVPMBELEEFIER
MNENBERFEBERTAUZENNER
WEEMER 2 HE

Shareholder director

PR E
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Director Background
BE BEEN

Cooperation Details
EERE

Zhang Yimou*
3R 28

As an internationally famed movie director, his
works included Red Sorghum ((I=3R), Raise
the Red Lantern (RALE S = =), To Live (&

%), Not One Less ( 1I%BT%‘E9 The Road
Home (ﬁﬁ'ﬂﬁ&%ﬁ!%ﬁ), Hero ( ’E, House of

Flying Daggers (+ E £ {X), Curse of the Golden
Flower (=% =< W), The Flowers of War
(&% + =4V, Coming Home (%% %) and The
Great Wall (), etc.

EEALEE  MEMENEYOE(ISR) -
(Rl gEssH)  CEE) - (—EZTELD)
CHEAGRTE) (R  (HmEBR) - <<ﬁiﬂ
EHESH) (BE+=Z8) - (BXR) (&)

4H§

His works received awards at international film
festivals, including Golden Bear at the Berlin
International Film Festival, Golden Lion at
Venice International Film Festival, and also the
Golden Horse Awards in Taiwan
EHEMNEZ L NESBRBEZHANE  8iF
BB ETEaSRE REMTZRSHEN
aEeHFE

Mr. Zhang was the chief director of the
opening ceremony of the 2008 Beijing
Olympics, and was awarded an honorary
doctorate degree by Boston University and
Yale University in the US
RAEERB-_ZTEEN\FIERRESHENEEE
ERETHEASRBBERNBLEFE L

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has exclusive right to invest
in three internet drama series directed
by Mr. Zhang, with topics to be agreed
between the Group and Mr. Zhang
ERFEERRN  A&EEBEREBRIZRE
REEMBN =HBERRINZHRE - BM
1B AREEER A RTE

The exclusive investment right of one
internet drama series directed by
Mr. Zhang can be converted into priority
investment right of a film directed by
him (with no existing third-party contract
restriction), and the investment amount
within the cooperation period shall not be
less than 60% of the total investment of
the film

H—HREENENNE R RBEHTE
%%xé“%T**?ﬁz%”ﬁﬁiﬂ%ZTﬁﬁﬁéﬁi

FEZFERRFNEBR 2 BEREE - I
/\T’EHﬁWZa“xéﬁﬁT\ RZEFIRERER
#960%

The Group shall own all the tangible and
intangible assets of Mr. Zhang internet
drama series, as well as the rights
derived from or related to them

RE B R R ST AR R FARB 2 AT
BEERLREREENRETE®ET RIEH
T

The film One Second (—#§%), produced
by the Group and directed by Mr. Zhang,
is expected to hit the screen in 2020

K’Elﬁuu %Eﬁ"zi%ﬂ% EX(—1iE)
BEAR —_E_TFEBRER

Shareholder director

I RER
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Director
EE

Background
BEEN

Cooperation Details
EERE

Chen Daming
C N

Mr. Chen studied screenwriting, directing and
acting in the US in the 1990s and starred in
a number of Hollywood movies. Many of the
films he directed won international awards

BREERNTEREEHRNZBFRE - BEME
B B2EZHNEREY  HAEB L HE

R B IR SR

He is currently a visiting professor at the
Beijing Film Academy (bt X & & £B%), Vice
President of the Shanghai International School
of the Beijing Film Academy (It REZ &b /8
BIFR Efr) and has been appointed by Shanghai
Vancouver Film School as its Art Director
EILREZERTEHARRILREZER L
BEERERERR UXEALEATEEY
Bl #7488

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has priority right to invest in at
least three of Mr. Chen’s productions
EAFAERN  AEB=ZFELERMEA
A E D= FPR e A E o RER

The Group has exclusive rights to invest
in two seasons of internet drama series
directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Chen
REBEBREENE (HBEHE) MR
ERE RV RBB 2 BRIRERE

Payments (such as development fund,
film director fees and creative member
fees) will be agreed separately for each
of Mr. Chen’s films and internet drama
series productions

RAEETEHEL MBK R ZABEIRIEZ
N (PFEES  EXEEBRTAIA
BER) BRI E

Jia Zhangke
BB

A distinguished international art-house
director, he has received Lifetime Achievement
Awards from several international film
organisations

B ZREMELEE -
RERE [ 4 5 sk 42 ]

REZEBRREZA

Directed 12 feature films, all nominated for
awards at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice
International Film Festivals. In 2013, A Touch of
Sin (XJE7F) won the award for Best Screenplay
at the 66th Cannes Film Festival
HpE+—BRRA  2EABBMK - EB &R
EHTERE - —T—=F (KT TFE)EF66/E
R B PR E e R B 12

In 2015, he received the Carrosse d'Or at the
Cannes Film Festival
ZE-RF ERBEREFHEREFET
LB & FE ]

In 2018, Ash is Purest White (I35 %) was a
shortlisted contender of the top honor at the
71st Cannes Film Festival

ZE-N\F BEEENCOIBR ) ABE7E
FEWEFHEFREET

The Group has exclusive or priority
right to invest in at least three new
films directed by Mr. Jia in the six-year
cooperation period

ERFEERN  REEESHELER
‘&;fZE%QE%B%ﬁ?E%f’EEuE@%%EJZ@%&
B

The Group has priority distribution right
and exclusive new media right to the
above new films
REFEES A ERERMNELETT
EERATIEEERE
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REE BRI UL EFEE LB
TEEART

Directed 11 feature films that were nominated
eight times in the top three international film
festivals

HpBE+—PEFERE NAABZKBEE

= By e

EVEBREET

In 2005, Shanghali Dreams (7 41) won the Jury
Prize at the 58th Cannes Film Festival
—ZETRF - AP B W(E L) B F58)E Rk E
REE TR E KR

Director Background Cooperation Details

BE BEEN EERE

Wang e A pioneer independent film director in China | ¢ The Group has priority right to invest
Xiaoshuai and recipient of the Ordre des Arts et des in two productions (including films

T /NRb Lettres from the French Minister of Culture and internet drama series) Mr. Wang

directed or produced during the six-year
cooperation period

ERFEERRN REBEBSHELEER
BB MATRER (BREEY LB
BERIZEB) NELRER

The Group has priority right to invest
in and distribute globally his new
productions
AEBRKZEMERNBELERERN IR
B BITHE

The Group has exclusive right to
distribute and re-sell his new productions
to new media platforms worldwide
AEBRZEMERERRESHERTE
BERETEREER

The film The Mountain (1), invested by
the Group and produced by Mr. Wang, is
expected to hit the screen in 2020
AEEERE  FAABEENEZ(LILE
AR RS FEBRAEE

Manfred Wong | e
EXE&
(XEXEH)

A veteran filmmaker in Hong Kong who has
directed, produced, and acted in films and is
also a screenwriter for films and TV dramas
BEEFREXAN  BEAEFEE  EH BB
R AR MR B 5 L

Ventured into the film industry in the early
1990s and co-founded BoB & Partners
Company Limited (&EHEFRAR) in the
mid-90s, he has under his belt more than 30
films including The Storm Riders (R ) and the
Young and Dangerous (&5 21¥) series
MATERVARELEE  RATFERFH
SHEIxEREISY AR BRIEHRMAIEE
% BEEE) (HFRF)RINE

The film Roots and Branches (& 1) 7028 1% 5K) he
produced broke the box office receipt record
of domestic movies in China in 2001 and won
awards at more than 10 film festivals

REEE (R BBHERINR_EZ—FTH
2HREESYEELE TERBBETEXE
KB R 1818

Hong Kong's first producer to venture into
production of internet drama series. His works
included Feel 100% (B 7 & X&) and 20/30
Dictionary (% %2 T #), among others
EEBMUFABERESEREAN  RHERE(ED
BRE)R(BERTH)EPEEIE

The Group has priority right over others
to invest in at least four of Mr. wong's
productions
REBEZHFEENMAREZLOIBE %
HEm 2 R

Wizards in the Royal Palace (& 1%
B2 MBERT), a comedy directed
by Mr. Wong, tells the story of four
princesses encountering some sprites
from outer space and will be released in
2020

FREFNENEZ (OB ZBERT)
B AR BB AR BB E B E S| %
M—RIEBNE KR _E_FTF LW
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EERE

Li Yang
15

Mr. Li is a film director in Mainland China,
outstanding in making documentaries on social
phenomena and movies that portray real life
stories. His work Blind Shaft (8§ 3) has won
more than 30 awards, including the Silver Bear
for Outstanding Artistic Achievement at the
53rd Berlin International Film Festival
ERAAEPEM SRR Rt GMELER KT
EMEETHRRARNEEZER  REGGEH)
TEREEBSTREESBEANEREZ S &KE
#2475 RHRARBBTE A = T 8R (A BIPR K 2

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has exclusive right to invest in
at least three films directed by Mr. Li
TERFEERRN  AEEHERFEER
PERL—HNECERNBRIEER

The Group shall have exclusive right
to broadcast and re-sell to new media
platforms worldwide Mr. Li's productions
it invested in
AEBEBEEARAEBREFT A ZIERE
EPHREHNEBTLeBRBEIELREER

Liu Xingang
21,05

He has years of experience in making movies
and TV drama series, and was the Art Director
of The Sorrow of Brook Steppe (F:1&7 & 52)
and Ccell Phone (F#%) nominated respectively
for the “Best Art Direction” Award at the
Golden Rooster Awards in two years. He won
the “Best Director” award at the public TV
Double Ten (KRR ERE+ ) for I'm Looking
Forward to Being Loved ({3 81T 18+ & &) and
his Five Star Hotel (F £ # X8k &) was named
“TV Drama of the Year” by Sina
HEZEMNETREREHELR S ET
EMBEMN(EBHBERE)MCF ) D RILER
EARREFSERSEEMEBIRE  BEMR
HEOF BT RERBE)MCREEHRRRIE) 2 Bl
BAREGRETEREEREMMRFESH
B 52

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has exclusive right to invest in
at least three films directed by Mr. Liu
TERFEERRN - REEERZ &AM
BeL-HRELFEFRNBERIEER

The Group has exclusive right to
broadcast on and re-sell to new media
platforms worldwide Mr.Liu's productions
it invested in

REEEEAEEKREI SEZERESD
HEFEBYBRENEREER

Huang Chen
=R

Mr. Huang wrote and directed the animated
work Angry Woman (1B &) 2 A) in 2007
BEER _ZEELFEREEHEFER(ERD
ZAD)

He directed the documentary Why Chinese
Guys cannot Get American Girls (% 1+ &
S AR AE EBEM and won the best
documentary in the East American Film
Festival
PELEA(CRTEFESER TR EH M)
KEEZREYHRELEH T

He directed a customised sci-fi drama Yolk
Man (28 A)
HETHBRAOWEBECEFEA)

During the six-year cooperation period,
the Group has priority right over others
to invest in three films or internet drama
series

ERFEERA  REEZEEERMMA
WA= EHEZXME RZINEHRE 2 R

The Group shall own all the tangible and
intangible assets of the productions and
the rights derived from or related to them
REBERERBBIERZABRTLRETL
B EE LA S ELOT A HE A B AR A A A
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BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

In 2019, Crazy Alien (RFEHIINE A) and My People, My Country
(M AR, which were invested in and produced by the
Group, hit cinema screens during the Chinese New Year holiday
and the National Day holiday respectively. The two films received
satisfactory critical acclaim and generated good box office
receipts. Meanwhile, the Group produced a number of excellent
film and TV productions, planning to present them to audiences
in the year ahead, paving the way for the steady development
of the Group’s business. In addition, the Group commenced
several strategic cooperation initiatives with its partners, such
as ByteDance and Maoyan Entertainment, thereby leading to
the pooling of complementary strengths and resources-sharing
outcomes and facilitating rapid development of the Group’s
streaming platform “huanxi.com” (Ei= & e).

INVESTMENT IN FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES
RIGHTS BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue from the
investment in film and TV programmes rights business amounted
to HK$814,425,000 (2018: HK$174,346,000), mainly attributable
to Crazy Alien (JRIEHISINE A), which was solely invested by the
Group and directed by Ning Hao, and My People, My Country
(BRAMFEHEED, a film co-produced by the Group and paying
tribute to the nation. Crazy Alien (JEIEH5NE A) debuted during
the Chinese New Year holiday in 2019, with box office receipts
exceeding RMB400 million on its debut and total box office
receipts reaching RMB2.2 billion, and My People, My Country (¥
AP AER) hit cinema screens during the National Day holiday
with its box office receipts reaching RMB3.2 billion. In addition,
the revenue derived from the Group’s streaming platform
“huanxi.com” also increased. All these initiatives contributed
significant revenue to the Group during the year. This segment
profit rose notably to HK$279,417,000 from last year (2018:
segment loss of HK$244,921,000).

As for the film investments, during the year, the Group
signed a minimum guaranteed distribution agreement
in relation to the film Lost in Russia (%), which was
written and directed by and starring Xu Zheng and
was originally scheduled to be released in the cinemas
during the Chinese New Year holiday in 2020. However,
affected by the outbreak of COVID-19, Lost in Russia (E45)
was unable to hit the screens in accordance with the terms of
the minimum guaranteed distribution agreement. Hence, the
Group changed its strategy to cooperate with ByteDance and to
broadcast Lost in Russia (B%5) on internet platforms during the
Chinese New Year holiday. Through this move, the Group received
the license fees paid by ByteDance and shared the income related
to this broadcast, gaining considerable acclaims while attracting
users of streaming platform for the Group.

EBREBEOHE
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EEZ2ELRZMERC(BEMBEMER)FH - (&
BERNENR_ZE—NEEDEH LY BEy
HEEERBARBLEL  BE2EREARB2E
Jo MCRMBER) REEEE L 858 A
REBLEER  MEAEEREEFEEBEY
BRI R URERIE N AFEARAREERBEZESER - 1tD
BB F &8 279,417,000 (ZE— N\F - D EE
BB #244,921,0000T)  BEFBENRE -

Hep BRRETE FR - AKERCHFEA
mEBRERNEZ(EB) I LREETHZ  RT
E-T-TFEHMEERA LR - AWM Z A E R
WERIEFE (BB REWREETHEOER
Brir bR - Rt RSB SR FE B S 5 KH
BN REFFHRERE T aELD - ERTEHK
BXOREER R EES ZABEREA - BE
SENRTHEENOBRAERTYARAP -
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During the year, the Group continued to invest and produce several
major film productions, including Leap (&) (previously known as
Leap (FEIZzHE) and Li Na (JBe_£35) (previously known as Li Na
(Z1#5)), both directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter; Miss Mom (Si%z5t)
(previously known as Miss Mom (4 T~g#2.)), directed by Tang Danian
and starring Ren Suxi; Tropical Memories (&7 Z), produced by
Ning Hao and directed by the young director Wen Shipei; Leaping
Over The Dragon Gate (8eF94H) (previously known as The Advanced
Animals (S4%&)#)), produced by Gao Qunshu; Warm Hug (EEEE
#18), directed by Chang Yuan and starring Chang Yuan, Shen Teng
and Li Qin; The Mountain (&), produced by Wang Xiaoshuai, and
One Second (—#%b§#), directed by Zhang Yimou. These movies have
entered the post-production or completion stages, and are expected
to be released in 2020.

As for the internet drama investments, Run For Young (BA > FEHX
Z=), a 16-episode internet drama series directed by Zhang Yibai, has
entered the post-production stage and is expected to be released in
2020. Paradise Guesthouse (KEJk&E), a 12-episode internet drama
series produced and co-directed by Wong Kar Wai, is preparing its
pre-production.

As for the streaming platform, the Group has signed a strategic
cooperation agreement with Maoyan Weying during the year.
Maoyan Weying carries out marketing and promotion of “huanxi.
com” on its website and APP and plans to co-invest in films and TV/
internet drama series projects. Besides, the Group also collaborated
with 1905.com of CCTVé, a film satellite channel under the Publicity
Department of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of
China, to establish a joint operation zone for “"huanxi.com” on the
website, mobile phone and PAD customer terminals of 1905.com.
Together with the linking of BesTV terminal and “huanxi.com” via
cooperation with BesTV, the Group’s channel coverage has been
maximised to provide selected content services for audiences.

o BLE W 5L o B
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After the year under review, in January 2020, the Group signed
a cooperation agreement with ByteDance, a leading internet
company in China, pursuant to which, the parties shall carry out
strategic cooperation in various fields related to online videos, and
ByteDance shall pay the Group a minimum of RMB630,000,000 as
consideration. The cooperation will be carried out in two phases:

The term of first-phase cooperation shall be six months, mainly
involving (i) the Group's certain new films and internet drama
series will be broadcast simultaneously on "huanxi.com” and
popular online platforms of ByteDance, such as “Toutiao” (5 H
SE1§) and “Xigua” (7842 48); (i) ByteDance shall set dedicated
gateways and zones on platforms such as “Toutiao” and “Xigua”
for directing traffic to "huanxi.com”; (iii) platforms including
“Toutiao” and “Xigua” shall support the promotion and marketing
of the Group's film and TV projects; (iv) the Group shall provide
ByteDance with resources for advertising placement, joint
marketing and cross-industry cooperation; and (v) provide
ByteDance with the rights of authorship as co-producer(s) for films
of which the Group is the lead producer.

It is expected that the second phase will be commenced
subsequent to the first phase. The parties shall make joint
capital contributions to purchase new media rights of film and TV
contents, jointly establish a cinema channel, in a collective effort
to build the “huanxi.com” brand, to inject new impetus to the
development of the streaming platform of the Group.

Currently, "huanxi.com” (B= &), being the Group’s streaming
platform, has accumulated over two million (2,000,000) fee-paying
subscribers, while downloads for the mobile application of
“huanxi.com” went over eleven million (11,000,000) in total. In
the future, the Group will continue to optimise and update the
contents of the platform and bring more extensive user groups
to “huanxi.com” through forming partnerships, with the aim of
stepping up efforts to facilitate the operation and expansion of its
streaming platform.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER BUSINESSES

The Group’s other businesses include property agency business
and securities trading and investments business. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group's other businesses did
not record any revenue (2018: HK$286,000) and recorded
segmental loss of HK$4,000 (2018: HK$521,000). The Group’s other
businesses have remained inactive during the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
revenue and film investment income of HK$814,425,000 (2018:
HK$174,632,000), representing 3.7 times increase in revenue
and film investment income compared with corresponding
period of last year. The gross profit was HK$343,510,000 (2018:
HK$89,315,000), representing a sharp increase in gross profit
compared with corresponding period of last year. The profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$105,103,000 (2018:
loss of HK$444,693,000). The significant improvement of revenue,
gross profit and profit attributable to owners of the Company
were mainly caused by (i) the substantial increase in revenue
from the Group’s principal business, namely investment in film
and TV programmes rights, as well as the streaming platform
“"huanxi.com”; and (ii) the significant decrease in the recognition of
share-based payments to HK$6,430,000 (2018: HK$355,368,000).

During the year, on 15 June 2019, the Group has entered into
a film investment agreement with an investor, an independent
third party, pursuant to which the investor is entitled to the
predetermined percentage of income to be generated from a film
right held by the Group from the box office in cinema circuits
and cinemas in China at a consideration of RMB210,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$243,056,000). After considering
the film market condition and the Group’s film distribution plan,
the Group recognised the film investment fund received from
the investor of RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$167,299,000) as a financial liability as at 31 December 2019
and the aforementioned consideration of RMB210,000,000 was not
recognised as a revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.
On 31 March 2020, the Group terminated the film investment
agreement with the investor due to the fact that the film was
unable to put on screens on the date agreed.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, earnings per share of the
Group amounted to HK$0.03 (2018: loss per share of HK$0.16) and
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company
was HK$0.36 (2018: HK$0.23).
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments
are mainly funded by cash generated from its operations, equity
fund raising and borrowings. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
had net current assets of HK$512,922,000 (2018: HK$244,714,000),
with cash and cash equivalents of HK$256,203,000 (2018:
HK$158,528,000). As at 31 December 2019, the total equity of the
Company amounted to HK$1,130,230,000 (2018: HK$658,668,000)
with total borrowings of HK$50,000,000 (2018: HK$387,774,000).
The Group's gearing ratio, expressed as the percentage of total
borrowings over total capital, was 0.04 (2018: 0.37) as at 31
December 2019. Total capital is calculated as total equity plus
total borrowings.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had 3,154,655,408
ordinary shares (2018: 2,918,055,408) of HK$0.01 each in issue
(the “Share” or “Shares”).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the movement in the
issued Shares of the Company are as follows:

Oon 12 March 2019, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with Maoyan
Entertainment, pursuant to which the Company has alloted
and issued to Maoyan Entertainment 236,600,000 ordinary
Shares (“Subscription Shares”) of aggregate nominal value
of HK$2,366,000 at the subscription price of HK$1.6507 per
Subscription Share (the “Subscription”). The net price received
by the Company was approximately HK$1.6484 per Subscription
Share. The closing price of the Shares on the date of entering into
the Subscription Agreement was HK$1.560 per Share as quoted on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Please refer to the section “Company’s Contract Involving Issue
of New Shares” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for
details.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any charge of
assets (2018: the Group's secured borrowings of HK$220,364,000
were secured by other receivables amounting to approximately
HK$223,133,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's cash flow from operations, cash on hand and
assets are denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars, US
dollars and Renminbi. Although most of the production costs
and management fees are denominated in Renminbi, foreign
currencies are needed for many investment opportunities
and cooperation plans with mainland China and overseas film
companies. The Group will continue to monitor its capital needs
closely and take appropriate measures to minimise any adverse
impact of exchange rate fluctuation on its overall financial status
and lower the Group’s financial risks.

RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year under review, the Group regularly reviewed the
risk and credit control systems of its profit centers to improve
those systems overall and mitigate credit risk. There have been no
significant changes in the Group’s risk management policy since
the year-end date last year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, save as disclosed in Note 34(b)
“Litigations” to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had no significant contingent liabilities (2018: same).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group firmly believes high-caliber people are the most
valuable asset of a corporation. The Group thus places great
attention on attracting and nurturing talent. It has kept optimising
its staff structure to match its development strategy and business
needs. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 97 employees
(2018: 84). It hired more employees during the year under review
to support the expanding of its business. The Group has in
place well-designed remuneration management and incentive
mechanisms, with employees remunerated based on their
positions and work performance, along with industry trends.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Saved as the film and TV programmes rights set out in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
investments during the year under review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group is seeking for investment opportunities, including but
not limited to, in the media and entertainment related businesses
in order to expand the source of income and prospects of the
Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Set out below are the biographical details of the directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company as at the date of this annual report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong")

Mr. Dong, aged 58, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015, re-designated as the chairman (the “Chairman”)
of the board (the "Board”) of Directors on 15 January 2016 and
is also a member of remuneration committee and a member of
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Dong is also director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Dong has
extensive experience, knowledge and connection in investment
and operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV,
film productions and media fields and was the former chairman
of ChinaVision Media Group Limited (now known as Alibaba
Pictures Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1060). Mr. Dong has been
the principal investor, producer and co-producer of various
internationally renowned films, including Crouching Tiger, Hidden
Dragon (EAFE i 82) (directed by Mr. Ang Lee (%)), Devils on the
Doorstep (F 2 7) (directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (X)), Peacock
(L#) (directed by Mr. Gu Changwei (B& & 1)), Let the Bullets Fly
(3 7587 (directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (2£32)), Journey to the West:
Conquering the Demons (P8 #7e & B E) (directed by Mr. Stephen
Chow (& £§t), Dearest (%= #)) (directed by Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter (BR 7] %)) and Breakup Buddies ({7t & B (directed by
Mr. Ning Hao). Some of these films have won numerous major
awards in both domestic and overseas film festivals. From
August 2003 to April 2005, Mr. Dong was the president of Asian
Union Film and Media. Between 31 May 2005 and 11 January
2008, Mr. bong was appointed as an executive director of Asian
Union New Media (Group) Limited (now known as Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Co. Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), and was the chairman of
the board of directors from 12 May 2006 to 11 January 2008.
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As at the date of this report, Mr. Dong was deemed to be interested
in 1,451,414,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood
Investments Limited (“Newwood”), 92,342,216 Shares held by
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy"), 800,000 Shares held
by Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong,
2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares
held by Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits”) and 438,625,528 Shares
held by Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong”)) within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Please refer to the section “Directors’
Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report
for details.

Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (“Mr. Xiang")

Mr. Xiang, aged 57, was appointed as an executive Director on
2 September 2015 and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
on 18 September 2015. Mr. Xiang is also director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Xiang was a partner of Weil, Gotshal
& Manges LLP, an international law firm, where he has led its China
practice since 2004. Previously, Mr. Xiang was a partner in the
Shanghai office of Clifford Chance, an international law firm from
2002 to 2004. A specialist in mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Xiang
has acted as the principal counsel in many significant transactions
including representing Lenovo Group Limited in its acquisition of
IBM's global personal computer business. He holds a degree of
juris doctor from Vanderbilt University School of Law, U.S.A. and a
Bachelor of Arts from Beijing University of International Relations.
Mr. Xiang is licensed to practice law in New York and in Hong Kong.
Mr. Xiang has been consistently ranked as one of the top mergers
and acquisitions lawyers by Chambers.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xiang was interested in 27,000,000
underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning")

Mr. Ning, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 2 September 2015. Mr. Ning majored in photography
and obtained a bachelor degree from Beijing Film Academy
(JEREEFZF) in China in 2003. Mr. Ning is a film director and
screenwriter who has directed seven films between 2003 and
2014, which were engraved with his unique personal style and
won international acclaim. All of Mr. Ning's films have achieved
strong investment returns. His directorial debut Incense (& X)
(2003) and his second film Mongolian Ping Pong (4 Eb) (2004)
were nominated in more than 50 international film festivals,
including the Berlin International Film Festival, the Locarno
Festival and the Hong Kong International Film Festival. Among
these, Incense (& X) won the Grand Prize at the Fourth Tokyo
FILMeX Festival in 2003 and the Golden Prize (Asian Digital Films)
at the 28th Hong Kong International Film Festival in 2004. In 2006,
Mr. Ning directed his small budget film Crazy Stone (Jaif &) f 58
), which won the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards (& /&< 5 £8) for
the Best Original Screenplay. Crazy Racer (RFHIEE) (2009),
which was wrote and directed by Mr. Ning, was produced for
an investment of only RMB10 million and achieved over RMB100
million at the box office. In 2013, Mr. Ning directed No Man’s Land
(& A &), which won the Annual Tribute Movie by One Hundred
Media (A REHFEHMES) at the 14th Chinese Film Media
Awards (2 528 E 5/ {F 1% K 88). Mr. Ning also directed the huge
box office hit Breakup Buddies (U>{EF ) (2014) which grossed
RMB1,169 million at the PRC box office and became the highest
grossing domestic Chinese film of the year. Crazy Alien (Ja 1 ) 4h
£ A) (2019) which directed by Mr. Ning achieved RMB2,200 million
at the box office.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Ning was deemed to be
interested in 1,451,414,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held
by Newwood, 92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000
Shares held by Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held
by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong,
438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and 438,625,528 Shares
held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Xu Zheng ("Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 2 September 2015. Mr. Xu graduated with a bachelor
degree from Shanghai Theatre Academy (£ /& & B £ R)
in China in 1994. Mr. Xu is an actor, director, screenwriter
and producer. He started his career as an actor in the
1990s. Mr. Xu rose to national stardom in 2000 with the
TV series Sunny Piggy (& X K& 8% /\ M), followed by
other successful TV dramas such as Li Wei the Magistrate
(EHEE) (2002). Mr. Xu then focused more on films, starring in
comedies Call for Love (5" I &E52) (2007) and Call for Love I
(BBl EF£2) (2008), Lost on Journey (AFEEE) (2010), No
Man'’s Land (£ A[&) (2013) (for which he was awarded the best
lead actor by the China Film Directors’ Guild (f B8 & &1 &)
in 2014) and the huge box office hit Breakup Buddies (:{»7E & FR)
(2014) and Lost in Hong Kong (# ) (2015). In 2012, his directorial
debut Lost in Thailand (A B E & 2 Z=ME) (a road trip comedy)
which he also wrote, directed, produced and starred in, earned
over USD200 million and became the highest-grossing domestic
Chinese film ever. In 2014, he produced and starred in The Great
Hypnotist (f&0K KXAD) (@ suspense thriller film), which achieved
ground-breaking box-office success and a great reputation in
the Chinese suspense thriller film market. In 2018, Mr. Xu was
awarded the best leading actor by the Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards (& & £ 5 #8) for his performance in Dying to Survive
(B A= B,

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xu was deemed to be interested
in 1,451,414,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by
Newwood, 92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000
Shares held by Highrise Castle Limited, 16,610,000 Shares held
by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong,
438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and 438,625,528 Shares
held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (“Mr. Wong")

Mr. Wong, aged 55, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 April 2014. Mr. Wong is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, respectively. He has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, financial management, mergers and
acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related positions
in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong, companies
listed in Hong Kong and a company listed in the United States of
America. He is currently a practising Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of (i) Eternity Investment Limited (stock code: 764, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since
7 November 2011; and (ii) China Healthwise Holdings Limited
(stock code: 348, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) since 11 October 2016. Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director of Man Sang International Limited (stock
code: 938, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from 12 July 2016 to 5 November 2018.

# I E R

BYFHTES
EERAE((ELEED

BEhAE B R-_E—NENA+AMALR
Al EABNIERITEE - BEEERARREZE
BEIF BEEDPNABESTMAE - HER
ARG A S R EAR B B TR 5T & 5T A0 1
CCvEFEE  BABBERT FHKEE A
PHEAN B S - BER A —RBERSRAIT - B8
ZREMARR—RER LT RARETE TR
SHRMA - HALBRB AT BSRESHA - JL
HEHE-T——F+— AL ARETKERKIEE
BREAR (BRMHRSE: 764 —KEBSHAEIRED
WAR): R(I)BEZE—AF+A+—BRBETSD
HEeEEERBRAR (BRMOMA 348 —XK
FHRAMER ETMORAR)MBLIERNTES - &
EERZE—X FLtA+ZHE=ZZ—N\F+—A
TEREEREEBEER AR (BRHARIE 938 —
REBTHERLEMHAR]) B IIERTES -

BEGHSEEBRATE » —E-NFFH 33



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
3 E R

Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li")

Mr. Li, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Li is a member of each of
the remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit
committee of the Company. Mr. Li has more than 20 years
of experience in the industry of information technology and
telecommunications. He is the founder and chairman of Net 263
Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange Code: 002467), a company based
in Beijing which provides integrated communication services
for medium-and small-sized enterprises and professionals.
Since September 2004, Mr. Li was the chairman of the board
of Net 263 Ltd., and since August 2006, the director of Net 263
Ltd. He was an independent director at E-Commerce China
Dangdang Inc. from December 2010 to October 2016, and an
independent director at Kongzhong Corp. from 2012 to May
2017. Mr. Li graduated from Beijing University of Technology,
majored in software engineering of computer science. In January
2013, Mr. Li was appointed as a committee member of the
telecommunications and economic experts of the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested
in 15,060,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in
the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Wang Hong (“Mr. Wang")

Mr. Wang, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 September 2019. Mr. Wang is the
chairman of each of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and a member of audit committee
of the Company. He is currently the vice president of Hengdian
Group Holdings Limited, responsible for the group’s overseas
affairs. He once served as the chairman of Hengdian Film and
Television Production Co., Ltd.*, and produced the animation
film Monkey King: Hero is Back (P8 #2 52 < X E & 2K), received the
highest animation box office record in China, and some TV series.
He was the chief executive officer of Asian Union New Media
(Group) Limited (now known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment
Company Limited) (Stock Code: 0419) between January 2008
and March 2012 and was an executive director of the company
between August 2010 and March 2012, responsible for the overall
operation of the company, and engaged in the investment of
Letter from an Unknown Woman (—{EBa 4 Z A 895k {5), Peacock
(FL#), And the Spring Comes (i %), Under the Hawthorn Tree
(LU #&# 2 %) and some other films. He was the president of the
Travel Channel between May 2003 and February 2008, during
which he built up a new Travel Channel with an annual revenue
of over RMB200 million. He also served as the deputy general
manager of a cultural subsidiary of Poly Group between July
1991 and May 2003 and was responsible for the company’s
investment business. He had engaged in the implementation of
Poly Culture’s various investment projects related to the cultural
industries. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor degree of Economics in
International Trade and Economics at University of International
Business and Economics in 1988.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang was interested in 100,000
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to
the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Directors present their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media and
entertainment related businesses which include development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights and operation of
streaming platform.

Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis
of revenue and film investment income and results by principal
activities of the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of this annual report on page 108.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on page 228 of the
annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Details of the ordinary shares issued by the Company in 2019 and
details of movement in the share capital of the Company in 2019
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
and section headed “Company’s Contract Involving Issue of New
Shares” of this Directors’ Report.
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SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme has been adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held
on 17 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The 10% limit of
the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) has been
refreshed on 16 December 2015 and 29 June 2018. As at the date
of this annual report, the Scheme Mandate Limit refreshed on 29
June 2018 has not yet been utilised and the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 276,805,540 shares.

Oon 27 April 2018, 130,700,000 options were granted under the
Share Option Scheme and no share options were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2019.
As at 31 December 2019, the Company has 130,700,000 options
outstanding which represented approximately 4.14% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at that date.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share TEREEHZE_ZT—NWF+_A=+—"HILFE
options during the year ended 31 December 2019: PIN/N Tzﬁﬁﬁﬂiém :
Outstanding Lapsed/
at the Granted  Exercised  cancelled Outstanding Exercise price
beginning during during during at the end per share
Participants Date of grant of the year the year the year the year of the year (HKS)
£1 £ X BROTEE
SHE RitAH R ATE FRRE FRTE  AMEH KT (BET)
Mr. Dong Ping 27 April 2018 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 2.08
ER ZE-\EBMAZTLA
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven 27 April 2018 27,000,000 - N - 27,000,000 2.08
BHERESE “E-\FRAZ++H
Eligible employees 27 April 2018 101,000,000 - - - 101,000,000 2.08
BEKEER ZE-\EBMAZTLA
Total 130,700,000 - - - 130,700,000
st
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Notes:
1. The share options are exercisable as follows:

Number of share options can
Exercise criteria be exercised
(Commencing from the date of the
grantee’s commencement of employment

with the Group)

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with the
Group for 1 year

Up to one-third of the share
options granted

(i) On completion of the continuous
employment of the grantee with the
Group for 2 years

Up to two-thirds of the share
options granted

(iii

On completion of the continuous Up to all of the share options
employment of the grantee with the granted
Group for 3 years

2. The validity period of the share options is from 27 April 2018 to 17 June 2024
(both days inclusive) subject to the provisions for early termination contained
in the Share Option Scheme and certain vesting conditions applicable to the
relevant grantee(s).

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 35(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during 2019 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During 2019, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 110 and Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 31
December 2019 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company did not have distributable
profit to shareholders (2018: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business performance of the Group during 2019
using financial key performance indicators and discussion on the
important events affecting the Group since the end of 2019 and
the Group's future business development that the Group may be
facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report, the discussions
thereof form part of this Directors’ Report.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group are set out
below in the Directors’ Report of this annual report. Please also
refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the
Group's policies in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
o3

(K]

AEBERARRFARBES ZFBDRHNA
FRFENOAGAEREBHRIGEP B MRME
30

LR34

AARRZZE-—NE+_A=+—RAZaA#HS K
2 BEN RS MWK 30 -

RZF-AF+-_A=+—H ARELEAHS
KT BRREDER (ZF—\F &) -

KXo

BERERAVMBEARRRESHAKER_F—A
FEBRBRETZEAUARE T - NFFRIE
TEARENERFHERASERKRERRRE
AWMERAFRZEIEREENEEETWED
1 BRASHBEBRAZEEREN D -

ERAKEZRERK BEIZHRNONEZBER
BITHAREEEATEZHBERIER ZH
BENAFRTXZEZTRE - ERAAKENIARE
BE > ZH2HRE HERERRS -

BEGHSEEBRATE » —E-NFFH 39



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
WO

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement
and Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

1. Operational Risk

In respect of the risk factor relating to the Group'’s business,
given that the Company will invest in a limited number of
films, the success or failure of these films could have a
significant impact on the Company's results of operations
in both the year of release and in the future. Besides,
unauthorised copying and piracy are prevalent in the PRC
and other countries in Asia, whose legal systems may
make it difficult for the Company to enforce its intellectual
property rights.

In 2015, the Group signed several agreements to invest
in films, including two exclusive service agreements with
renowned directors, Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning”) and Mr. Xu
Zheng (“Mr. Xu"), who became the Company’s shareholders
and non-executive Directors. Under the terms of the service
agreements, they are required to produce one to two
films every three years by 31 December 2020, which can
considerably enhance the Group’s capabilities in film content
creation and development. Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong"),
Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu have extensive experience, strong
expertise and a wide business network in the media and
entertainment industry. Mr. Dong, the Company’s substantial
shareholder and the Chairman of the Board, has extensive
experience, knowledge and connection in investment and
operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV, film
productions and media fields, whilst Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu are
prestigious and successful directors and actors in Chinese
movie industry. Please refer to “Biographical Details of
Directors” in this annual report for the biographical details of
Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu.
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On 1 June 2016, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China
Films Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by
Mr. Wong Kar Wai) respectively, pursuant to which each
of Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China Films Limited
has conditionally agreed to provide to the Group with
certain services, and investment and other rights, relating
to film and media productions as set forth in the relevant
agreements. Further, on 6 December 2016, the Group
entered into a cooperation agreement with Mr. Gu Changwei
and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling (also known as Zhang Yibai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Gu Changwei
and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling has conditionally agreed to provide
to the Group with certain services, and investment and other
rights, relating to film and internet drama series productions
as set forth in the relevant agreements.

The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on 24
May 2018 with Unique Swift Limited, a company having an
exclusive investment right of certain internet drama series
productions or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou, and the amended
and restated cooperation agreement on 11 September 2018
with Unigue Swift Limited and Mr. Zhang Yimou, pursuant
to which Unigue Swift Limited has conditionally agreed to
procure Mr. Zhang Yimou to provide the Group with certain
services, investment and other rights, relating to certain
internet drama series productions or films as set forth in the
relevant agreements.

Given the above, the Directors are of the view that the
participation of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Mr. Xu, Mr. Chan Ho
Sun Peter, Mr. Wong Kar Wai, Mr. Gu Changwei, Mr. Zhang
Xiaoling and Mr. Zhang Yimou in the Group and through
cooperation with them would be instrumental in the
Company’s development in the media and entertainment
industry and could migrate the risk.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in various countries in the
beginning of 2020, the PRC government has implemented
several measures to control the epidemic, including
temporary close of cinemas.

The outbreak may impact the production and distribution
plan of the Group’s film and TV programmes rights. If the
COVID-19 outbreak persists for a longer period subsequently,
the financial performance of the Group for the year ending
31 December 2020 may be affected but the financial effect
of which cannot be reasonably estimated at this stage. The
Group will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on the media market,
and will continue to perform relevant assessments and
take proactive measures to minimise its impact towards the
Group's business operations and financial results.
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2. Financial Risks

Details of the Group’s financial risks relating to the
operations of the Group include market risk (including
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2019 and up to the date of the annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ning Hao
Mr. Xu Zheng

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen

Mr. Li Xiaolong

Mr. Wang Hong (appointed on 2 September 2019)

Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David (ceased on 2 September 2019)

In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang
Hong who was appointed with effect from 2 September 2019, shall
retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xu Zheng and
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Both of them, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Brief biographical particulars of the existing Directors are set out
in the "Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report.
Directors’ other particulars are contained in this report and
elsewhere in this annual-report.
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CESSATION OF DIRECTOR

With effect from 2 September 2019, Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David
ceased to act as the independent non-executive Director,
chairman of remuneration committee and nomination committee
as well as member of audit committee of the Company due
to other business commitment. Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David has
confirmed that there is no disagreement with the Board and he is
not aware of any matters relating to his cessation of his term of
office that need to be brought to the attention of the shareholders
of the Company or the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The existing Directors including the executive Directors, the
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are for a term of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
there is no specific term or proposed length of services for
Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of the existing Directors shall be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
when the Directors’ Report prepared by the Directors is approved
in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) under the Listing Rules, or known to the Company,
were as follows:

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of
HK$0.01 Each of the Company and the
Underlying Shares
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underlying Approximate
Number of Ordinary Shares Shares percentage
EBRYE held under of the
Corporate Personal share options issued Shares
Name of Directors interests interests Sub-total BRET Total HERTRH
EERE NG BAER Mt HEBEROHE Mgt BRBEDH
Mr. Dong Ping 1,432,104,354 16,610,000 1,448,714,354 2,700,000 1,451,414,354 46.01%
ol
Mr. Ning Hao®? 1,432,104,354 16,610,000 1,448,714,354 2,700,000 1,451,414,354 46.01%
BEE A
Mr. Xu Zheng © 1,432,104,354 16,610,000 1,448,714,354 2,700,000 1,451,414,354 46.01%
RIE KD
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven @ - - - 27,000,000 27,000,000 0.86%
BB LAY
Mr. Li Xiaolong © 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 0.48%
TR AES
Mr. Wang Hong © - 100,000 100,000 - 100,000 0.00%
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These Shares include Shares held by Newwood Investments Limited
("Newwood"”) as to 461,711,082 Shares, Numerous Joy Limited as to
92,342,216 Shares and Highrise Castle Limited as to 800,000 Shares
which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong").
Mr. Dong also personally holds 16,610,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted
physically settled share options of the Company granted on 27 April
2018 pursuant to the Company's share option scheme adopted on 17
June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr. Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits Limited
(“Pacific Wits"), Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning"), Tairong Holdings Limited
("Tairong”) and Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu") entered into a shareholders
agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets forth certain
rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the governance
of the Company following completion of the subscription for new shares
in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 April
2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 5
August 2015. As Mr. Dong is a party to the Shareholders Agreement,
Mr. Dong is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of
section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by
Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits,
which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. Mr. Ning is a party to the
Shareholders Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all
the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu
and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please
refer to notes 1 and 3 for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong
and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is @ company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. Mr. Xu is a party to the
Shareholders Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all
the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning
and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please
refer to notes 1 and 2 for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong
and Mr. Ning.

These underlying Shares are 27,000,000 unlisted physically settled share
options of the Company granted to Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven on 27
April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on
17 June 2014.

These Shares are held by Panfaith Investments Limited, which is a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Li Xiaolong.

These Shares are jointly held by Mr. wWang Hong and his spouse.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements headed
"Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed "Directors’
Interests in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of
Significance/Connected Transaction/Continuing Connected
Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in this
annual report, no Director nor any entity connected with the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during 2019.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
IN SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements headed
"Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed "Directors’
Interests in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of
Significance/Connected Transaction/Continuing Connected
Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in this annual
report, at no time during 2019 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts
of significance or any contract of significance for the provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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COMPANY'’'S CONTRACT INVOLVING ISSUE
OF NEW SHARES

On 12 March 2019, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with Maoyan
Entertainment, pursuant to which Maoyan Entertainment has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue to Maoyan Entertainment
236,600,000 ordinary Shares (“Subscription Shares”) of aggregate
nominal value of HK$2,366,000 at the subscription price of
HK$1.6507 per Subscription Share (the “Subscription”). The net
price received by the Company was approximately HK$1.6484 per
Subscription Share. The closing price of the Shares on the date of
entering into the Subscription Agreement was HK$1.560 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange.

The gross proceeds and net proceeds raised from the Subscription
is HK$390,555,620 and approximately HK$390,000,000
respectively. Approximately HK$370,279,000 have been used
by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
approximately HK$19,721,000 remains unutilised which was
fully utilised in February 2020. The following table sets out the
breakdown of the use of net proceeds as at 31 December 2019:
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Investment in, production of and purchase of film and TV contents 190,000 (190,000) -
TRADIERE  REREE
Development of online video platform 100,000 (100,000) -
BRASRBETE
General working capital 100,000 (80,279) 19,721
—REEED
Total 390,000 (370,279) 19,721
R
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The proceeds are used in accordance with the intentions
previously disclosed by the Company in the announcement of the
Company dated 12 March 2019.

The Board believes that the Subscription can help to accelerate
the development of its streaming platform as well as the Group’s
investment in film and TV programmes rights, and also serve to
broaden the shareholder base of the Company.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 12 March
2019, 13 March 2019 and 19 March 2019 for details of the
Subscription Agreement.

COMPANY CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE/
CONNECTED TRANSACTION/CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A. The Service Agreements - continuing
connected transactions

On 14 April 2015 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into the service agreements (the “Service Agreements”) with
each of Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng (the "Shareholder
Directors” and each a non-executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company). Pursuant to the
Service Agreements:

(@) the Company shall have exclusive investment and
production rights to any films and programmes
developed and directed by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu
Zheng (the “Shareholder Directors’ Productions”),
i.e. the Company shall be the sole investor to such
productions;

(b) the Company shall have priority distribution rights
(including cinema screenings, audio-visual products,
television broadcasting and network dissemination
etc.) to the Shareholder Directors’ Productions in
China, Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macau,
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(c) each of the Shareholder Directors shall direct one to
two films (being films that shall be publicly released)
every three years in respect of which the Company
shall have the exclusive investment and production
rights, and the priority distribution rights set out in
paragraphs (a) and (b) above. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Company shall not have such rights in
any Shareholder Directors’ Productions in which the
Company decides not to invest;

(d) the Shareholder Directors shall use their best
endeavours to provide the Company with the priority
investment, production and distribution rights for
films and programmes (including films, television
drama series, online drama series and other television
programmes) which are not developed and directed by
any of the Shareholder Directors and the Shareholder
Directors are either producer, screenwriter, lead actor
or other creative member (the “Non-Shareholder
Directors’ Productions”); and

(e) the Shareholder Directors shall actively participate
in the promotional activities of other films and
programmes invested or produced by the Company
according to the requirements of the Company.

Shareholder Directors’ Proposal

During a term of six years from the date of completion
of the subscription agreement entered into between
Newwood Investments Limited, Numerous Joy Limited,
Pacific Wits Limited, Tairong Holdings Limited, Wise Dragon
International Limited, Gold Shine Investment Company
Limited, Dayunmony Investment Corporation, Concept Best
Limited and Reorient Global Limited (“2015 Subscription
Agreement”) (i.e. 2 September 2015) (the “Service Period”),
each Shareholder Director shall, with respect to each
proposed Shareholder Directors’ Production, submit to the
Company a written proposal, which contents shall include
such production’s (i) plot or storyline, (ii) total budget and
the basis for determining the same, (iii) production and
distribution budget, (iv) production plan and timeline, and (v)
the proposed screenwriter, producer and casting.
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The Board or a designated board committee shall, within 30
business days of receiving the foregoing written proposal,
consider and discuss such proposal with respect to its
investment, production and distribution, and shall also make
a determination as to whether the Company will invest in
such proposed Shareholder Directors’ Production.

Service fees

No service fee shall be payable by the Company to the
Shareholder Directors in consideration of entering into
the Service Agreements or the transactions contemplated
thereunder, subject to the Shareholder Directors’ rights to
the following benefits and rewards:

(@) each of the Shareholder Directors shall be entitled to
receive film director fees or creative member fees in
respect of the Shareholder Directors’ Productions and
the Non-Shareholder Directors’ Productions that the
Company invests in with reference to the prevailing
market rates for similar productions, subject to a
maximum amount of HK$30,000,000 per annum; and

(b) the Shareholder Directors shall be entitled to receive
dividends in respect of any Shares held by them, if any,
to be declared by the Company.

Proposed annual caps

Annual caps for the film director fees or creative member
fees payable to the Shareholder Directors under the Service
Agreements of HK$30,000,000 for each Shareholder Director
for each of the years ending 31 December 2015, 2016, 2017,
2018, 2019 and 2020. The annual caps were determined
with reference to the prevailing market rates payable to
independent third party film directors who are of similar
calibre, status, standing and reputation and who have similar
track records of successful and profitable movies and other
media productions.
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As set out in the circular of the Company dated 5 August
2015, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng are prestigious and
successful directors and actors in the Chinese movie
industry. The Directors are of the view that the participation
of Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng in the Company and
through the services they would provide under the Service
Agreements would be instrumental in the Company’s
development in the media and entertainment industry.

After completion of the 2015 Subscription Agreement, each
of Pacific Wits Limited (a company incorporated in the British
Virgins Islands with limited liabilities and wholly owned by
Mr. Ning Hao) and Tairong Holdings Limited (a company
incorporated in the British Virgins Islands with limited
liabilities and wholly owned by Mr. Xu Zheng) has become
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Besides, each of
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng is a non-executive Director
and thus a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the Service Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constituted continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Service Agreements and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are non-exempt continuing connected
transactions and are subject to the requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Service Agreements
and annual caps for each of the six financial years ending 31
December 2020 in relation to the transactions contemplated
under the Service Agreements were approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the actual fee paid
by the Group under the Service Agreements to each of
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng are Nil (2018: RMB4,965,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$5,862,000)) and Nil (2018:
nil) respectively.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the transactions have been entered into:

. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group's business;

. on normal commercial terms or better; and

o according to the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’'s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company has provided
a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock Exchange. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

BUYFATEZCERN LARERERS
WHERBEXHT) :

s MNAKRBEZABERBHEIL:
o ER-RABEFALEEGETET K

o IREBMEEBMZEZGIET MERBER
FEE - BRAARARRER 2 ERHE -

RARZEMBBE(EBEEFXEBENF
30005% (A£ £ 5]) [[E L B IS B R BT s B B
INWEB X | WRRABASMATHE
MHCESHB) E7405% [ R EE WA Al
FT i B RAE X 5 M SR (1 | s A
MIBFEBERS - ZHEERE EWHRAE
BASHEE LR BERAEERAFERS
FIEENRERERINEL RERNER
BE R - At - AQRE MR
ik FEZBEIAR - AR RIEREIRB L

MBI EVLAZ BT HEBERT °

52

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2019



*

Film Production Agreement, Director
Agreement, Producer Agreement,
Screenwriter Agreement and Actor
Agreement - connected transactions

On 26 February 2019, (i) Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Company Limited* (t & Z B M LB R 2 &) (“Shou
Ying"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the film production agreement (“Film Production
Agreement”) with Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication
Co. Ltd. Jt RE LB v EHEBR AR ("Beijing Joy Leader”),
pursuant to which Beijing Joy Leader has conditionally
agreed to provide the film production services to Shou Ying
in relation to the film Lost in Russia (A1) (the “Film”) and
has the right to receive the production fee in the sum of

RMB30,000,000; and (ii) Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture
Investment Company Limited* (& E =R B)XILEE
BT ("Huan Huan Xi Xi"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into (a) the director
agreement (“Director Agreement”) with Mr. Xu Zheng,
pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng has conditionally agreed to
act as the director of the Film and is entitled to a director fee
of RMB27,000,000; (b) the producer agreement (“Producer
Agreement”) with Mr. Xu Zheng, pursuant to which Mr. Xu
Zheng has conditionally agreed to act as the producer of
the Film and is entitled to a producer fee of RMB10,000,000;
(c) the screenwriter agreement (“Screenwriter Agreement”)
with Mr. Xu Zheng, pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng has
conditionally agreed to act as the screenwriter of the Film
and is entitled to a screenwriter fee of RMB10,000,000; and
(d) the actor agreement (“Actor Agreement”) with Mr. Xu
Zheng, pursuant to which Mr. Xu Zheng has conditionally
agreed to act as the leading actor of the Film and is entitled
to an actor fee of RMB40,000,000.

For identification purposes only
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As at the date of the Film Production Agreement, Director
Agreement, Producer Agreement, Screenwriter Agreement
and Actor Agreement (collectively the “"Agreements”), Beijing
Joy Leader is owned as to 51% by Mr. Xu Zheng and 25% by
his spouse. Mr. Xu Zheng is a non-executive Director and the
sole ultimate beneficial owner of Tairong Holdings Limited,
a substantial shareholder of the Company. As such, each of
Mr. Xu Zheng and Beijing Joy Leader (being an associate of
Mr. Xu Zheng) is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Agreements constitute connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The transactions contemplated under the Agreements are
subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

The Agreements were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting of the Company. Please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 26 February 2019 and 12 June 2019
and the Company'’s circular dated 23 May 2019 for details.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

EENBERER 2R

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses to the Group
as at 31 December 2019 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule

8.10 of the Listing Rules were set out as below:

Companies which

FEBF
pIanR

Nature of interest
(including close

RIZB-NAF+-A=+—H EEFRNAEEZH
C AIRE E AR RIESN0GIKE 2

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
REEtE (BEEE
23 ESRHEEZZAT FTEXEBME BMEBALZESR)
Mr. Ning Hao  Tianjin Dirty Monkey Films Company TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
T g Limited* BARENE N EREIE S¢S e
REZEBRFEZEBRDA
INJO Films Co. Ltd. TV and movie production Close associate’s interest
KM AZRULBEREER A A TR E NERRIE EERBMEAL R
Beijing Dirty Monkey Cultural TV production and distribution  Ultimate shareholder
Development Company Limited* BAREN B RUE R BEAT AR R
EREBRFLEEERBER AR
Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture TV production and distribution  Ultimate shareholder
Company Limited* BARE B BRI SIS
ERRMEBRFEZRXEREERAA
ERUESEEBRAA TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BIRE B RERRIE BRARRE
B2RF(EHXEERRAA TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BIREE RELRME S¢S e
Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
ARl ETERBRAA BIREE RERRIE BRARRE
LEEERHEEERAT TV and movie production and Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution S¢S e
BIRETE RELEIEUAR
BRI
REBELEEEFAT L (BRAR) TV and movie investments Ultimate shareholder
TR E NEXRE BRERE
Mr. Xu Zheng  Beijing Joy Leader Culture Movie production and Ultimate shareholder
RUELAE Communication Co. Ltd. investments B AR
I RELBELEHEBR AR BRHERKE

AELE(LEBRERARAR

*  For identification purposes only

TV and movie production and
movie distribution
EREE REFREUR

BEXHRIT

Ultimate shareholder
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The Group is principally engaged in the media and entertainment
related businesses which include development and investment
in film and TV programmes rights and operation of streaming
platform.

Mr. Ning Hao, together with his family, is the ultimate shareholder
of the above companies (together “Mr. Ning's Companies”).
Mr. Ning’'s companies are principally engaged in the TV and movie
production and distribution in the PRC. As at 31 December 2019,
none of Mr. Ning Hao or his close associates was interested in any
business in respect of film production, apart from his and/or his
family’s interests in Mr. Ning's Companies.

Mr. Xu Zheng is the majority shareholder of the above companies
(together “Mr. Xu's Companies”). Mr. Xu's Companies are
principally engaged in the TV and movie production, investment
and distribution in the PRC. The Group entered into the
Film Production Agreement with Beijing Joy Leader Culture
Communication Co. Ltd. and the Group entered into the Director
Agreement, Producer Agreement, Screenwriter Agreement and
Actor Agreement with Mr. Xu Zheng, the agreements have been
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 12 June 2019.
Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26 February
2019 and 12 June 2019 and the Company’s circular dated 23 May
2019 for details. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2019, none of Mr. Xu Zheng or his close associates was interested
in any business in respect of film production, apart from his
interests in Mr. Xu's Companies.

The Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the movie
business of (i) Mr. Ning’s Companies and (i) Mr. Xu's Companies
(( and (i) together, the "Other Companies”) as (i) there is a clear
separation between the Group’s businesses and those of the
Other Companies; (i) the Group is not operationally or financially
dependent on any of the Other Companies, or vice versa; and (iii)
the Board operates independently from the boards of the Other
Companies. The Board consists of seven members, comprising of
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. All of the Directors are
aware of their fiduciary duties as a Director of the Company which
require, among other things, that they act for the benefit and in
the best interests of the Company and do not allow any conflict
between their duties as a Director and their personal interest. In
the event that there is a potential conflict of interest arising out
of any transaction to be entered into between the Group and the
Directors or their respective associates, the interested Director(s)
shall abstain from voting at the relevant board meetings of the
Company in respect of such transactions and shall not be counted
in the quorum.
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From time to time, the Group may consider possible
co-investment opportunities with Mr. Ning's Companies and/
or Mr. Xu's Companies in film or other projects. Any such
investments and the definitive terms thereof would be subject
to further negotiations at arm’s length between the relevant
parties. If any co-investment arrangement between the Group and
Mr. Ning's Companies or Mr. Xu's Companies were to materialise,
it could constitute a connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) in relation to any such
investments will be made as and when appropriate in compliance
with the Listing Rules.

Moreover, the Company has entered into the service agreements
dated 14 April 2015 (the “Service Agreements”) with each of
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng. The Service Agreements and the
relevant annual caps have been approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 28 August 2015. The details of the Film
Production Agreement, Director Agreement, Producer Agreement,
Screenwriter Agreement, Actor Agreement and Service
Agreements are disclosed under the section headed “"Company
Contracts of Significance/Connected Transaction/Continuing
Connected Transaction” in this Directors’ Report.

To avoid any potential direct or indirect competition with the
Group, during the terms of the Service Agreements, save for
the activities and transactions contemplated under the Service
Agreements, unless with the written consent of the Company,
Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng shall not, directly or indirectly
entrust or authorise any third party to undertake any of the
following activities:

(@) directly or indirectly (regardless of whether acting in the
capacity of a shareholder, director, employee, partner,
consultant or agent) undertake or participate or benefit from
any business which is the same as, similar or competes
with the business of the Company, including providing any
services that are the same as or similar to the services to be
provided under the Service Agreements;

(b)  seize any business opportunity of the Company or solicit any
clients or potential clients of the Company, or interfere or
damage any relationship or contracts between the Company
and any clients or potential clients of the Company; or

(c)  assist or support any third person to undertake the activities
set forth in paragraphs (a) and (b) above.
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Notwithstanding the above non-compete obligations of Mr. Ning
Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng shall,
through companies controlled by them, have the right to:

(@) contract to produce the Shareholder Directors’ Productions
which the Company invests in;

operate the Non-Shareholder Directors’ Productions;

operate the Shareholder Directors’ Productions that the
Company does not invest in;

operate projects that have already commenced operations
by the companies controlled by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu
Zheng as at the date of the Service Agreements,

in each case, subject to compliance with any applicable
connected transaction requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Board will consider allowing Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng
to engage in the activities mentioned in this section if, (a) Mr. Ning
Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng have completed their obligations under
their respective Service Agreements, and/or (b) in the view of the
Board, the productions which Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng
wish to undertake would not be profitable or would otherwise
not be suitable for the Company to undertake in light of the
strategic direction of the Company, taking into account the factors
such as (i) the projected cost of the relevant production; (ii)
the lead actors or actresses who will participate in the relevant
production; (iii) the projected length of film shooting of the
relevant production; (iv) the estimated box office and popularity
of the relevant production; (v) the genre of the film; (vi) the plot
of the film; (vii) whether undertaking such a production could
lead to other investment opportunities for the Company, such
as exposure to and contact with other reputable and renowned
players in the industry (including actors, actresses, screenwriters,
directors, costume designers, film editors, makeup artists,
visual effect and sound editors and other relevant personnel of
the production team); and (viii) any other fair and reasonable
considerations which the Board may take into account at the time
of consideration of the relevant production.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2019, save as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this Director’s Report of the
annual report, the Company had been notified of the following
substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital under Section 336 of the SFO.
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E-NET_A=1T—"0 BAFHREEHS
ZF%%Z FEER|—ESHAREEI  AQFE
e Ty ERRER  RIEESFRRE RIS
336IEA R A B EITRARSRHIA £ 2 -

Number of Number of Approximate

ordinary Shares Underlying percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity

BRREW MR 54

held Shares held® shareholding
BEZ BEZHEEH IR REBE A
EBERHE RGEHBEO BoE

Dong Ping @ (“Mr. Dong") Beneficial owner, interests
O([ExAE] of controlled corporation
and a party to an
agreement required to be
disclosed under section
317 of the SFO
fﬁi*%&ﬁ/\ RPEHEE R
mRBEET A IRBERS
MEAE GBI E37IEAET
BER R

Newwood Investments Limited @ Beneficial owner and

(“Newwood") interests of a party to
an agreement required
to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO

BEnB ARBZEITHNFE

BEHKHAEEMZE37
BETHENER

Numerous Joy Limited Beneficial owner
ZHEBR AR BEHMERA

Highrise Castle Limited Beneficial owner
BEHMERA

Ning Hao @ (“Mr. Ning") Interests of controlled
miko([EhAE]) corporation and a
party to an agreement
required to be disclosed
under section 317 of the
SFO
EHEE R S R EET A
HE'(B% EH REIERGIE
BNTIRAETHEN R

1,448,714,354 2,700,000 46.01%

1,448,714,354 2,700,000 46.01%

92,342,216 - 2.93%

800,000 - 0.03%

1,448,714,354 2,700,000 46.01%
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Name of shareholders

BRREW MR

Number of

Ordinary Shares

Capacity held
BEZ

&4 EEREA

Number of Approximate
Underlying percentage of
Shares held® shareholding
HEZHEEH B RE B4
&R Botk

Pacific Wits Limited @
("Pacific Wits")
ZEEBRARO([FRAD

Xu Zheng @ (“Mr. Xu")
REO(TIREAED)

Tairong Holdings Limited @
("Tairong")

TIRZERBER AT ([ ])

Maoyan Entertainment @
SH AR AR 2L

Beneficial owner and 1,448,714,354
interests of a party to
an agreement required
to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO

BEnB ARBZRTHNARE
BEAFREAEEGIE317
BAETHRENER

Interests of controlled 1,448,714,354
corporation and a
party to an agreement
required to be disclosed
under section 317 of the
SFO

REHERE R R IHERT A
TRBEESRAEEOE
BNTIRATHEN R

Beneficial owner and 1,448,714,354
interests of a party to
an agreement required
to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO

BEnB ARBZRTHNAE
BEAREAEEGIE37
BAETHRENER

Beneficial owner 236,600,000
BB A

2,700,000 46.01%

2,700,000 46.01%

2,700,000 46.01%

- 7.50%
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Notes:

1. These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082
Shares, Numerous Joy Limited as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise
Castle Limited as to 800,000 Shares which are companies incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and directly wholly
owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong also personally holds 16,610,000
Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically settled share options of the
Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s share
option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered into a
shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of
the governance of the Company following completion of the subscription
for new shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement
dated 14 April 2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 5 August 2015. As Mr. Dong and Newwood are parties
to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Dong is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Newwood, Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits,
Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO;
and Newwood is therefore also deemed to be interested in all the Shares
and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu
and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please
refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu
and Tairong.

2. These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits,
which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. As Mr. Ning and
Pacific Wits are parties to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Ning and
Pacific Wits are therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1
and 3 for the Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, Newwood,
Mr. Xu and Tairong.

3. These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is @ company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. As Mr. Xu and Tairong are
parties to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Xu and Tairong are therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which
Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue
of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2 for the Shares
and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific
Wits.

4. The number of shares disclosed was based on the Disclosure of Interest
Form received from Maoyan Entertainment up to 31 December 2019.

5. Details of the share options granted to the substantial shareholders of
the Company under the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in the section “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, there were no
other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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1. % F % 1 2 & mNewwood ~ 2 45 [R A 7] KHighrise
Castle Limited (9 AR KB #R A B ST 2B R
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MAZ-Z+-EBA&RH 22700000 KR EFELETEY
HEBRE - R-_T—AFMA+MA  &ExX4E
Newwood - Zx58 * S5 4 - R KRG EEFTIRER
F(BREBZED  HPREREAHA-Z—RFNH
At+MAZRERZE REXRBARAFBRMNE
AINEFHEARAARRIZETRANEEY  BHEFE
HRARABPA-ZTE—HAFNARHZBEXK - AR
A RNewwood AR R sk 2 5T 805 - AR IR B
R HAE GBI SE31715 - & S E R ERNewwood - 2%
A RECBREERTRBEEEZNZHBRDFHES
o RIBERFEH RS EGIE31714 - NewwoodH 1t
TTHWRIERELRE  Bh4E TE BREERTBH
BREENEDRORBERNDREERERS - ABAEL
&R REERRBREEZRG - B2HME2KS
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

According to existing PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are generally restricted to invest in provision of internet
audio-visual programmes services in the PRC.

In January 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company
Limited* (Jt REB X ZELEHEAR QA ("Beijing Subsidiary”)
entered into certain contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”) with Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company
Limited* (t REE EH LB R A ) (the "VIE") and its subsidiary
Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology Company Limited*
GtRZESEEEREBR QA (the VIE and its subsidiary
collectively the “VIE Group”), and the VIE's equity holders who are
independent third party individuals in the PRC. The VIE Group is
principally involved in the film and TV programmes production and
investment and the provision of internet audio-visual programmes
services in the PRC.

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the Group will receive
economic benefits generated by, and obtain effective financial
and operational control and equity holders’ voting rights over
the VIE Group in order to indirectly engage in the film and TV
programmes production and investment and provision of internet
audio-visual programmes services in the PRC. The VIE Group holds
some permits including the License for Publication of Audio-Visual
Programmes through Information Network ({5 B A8#8 EE K= B
#F A #%) and Telecommunication and Information Service Business
Operation Permit (£ 15 B{5 B IR 78 FE 48 & 57 7] #8). Based on the
advice of the Company’s PRC legal advisers, the Board considers
that the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and
enforceable.

The financial position and results of operations of the VIE Group
has been consolidated into the Group’s financial statements
with effect from 19 January 2018 (after the effectiveness of the
Contractual Arrangements) as the VIE Group are regarded as
indirect subsidiaries of the Group under HKFRS 10.

*  For identification purposes only

SRR

REBPBEBITERLER  INEREEETERE
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REEBEXEXLEEESRAR([IERMEAF])
BB E R EERARVIE]) REKB AR
tRZeEHERBEERAR (VEREHB AR
BAIVEREDIZETANTHE ([EHZH] -
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted, and there was
no termination of the Contractual Arrangements nor failure to
terminate when the restrictions that led to the adoptions of the
Contractual Arrangements are removed.

Particulars of the VIE Group, their registered
owners and a summary of major terms of the
Contractual Arrangements

As at 31 December 2019, particulars of the VIE Group are as
follows:

Registered owners
and the shareholding
BREEARKRE

Company names
DRAEE

BE_ZT-NFT+RA=1+T—BILFE  &H%H
R/ SEBENRHE BB ERES 0%
BEREEEAR L - M2 BBUERMA QLT ZR BRI
TEFEERELILROZHNER -

VIEEEREZTHEBAZHBERENZR
e E R R

R-TE-NF+-A=+—H VIEEEZFEN

¥

Registered capital
ZMEX

Principal activities
TEER

Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture HU HUi (99%)

Company Limited* I 22(99%)
tREBEEMR XL ERAR Ni Kelu (1%)
152 2 356 (1%)

Beijing Hangaohua Network
Technology Company Limited*
TRERERERRBRERAT

Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Company Limited* (80%)

ItREEFH AR A FI(B80%)

GU Haibin (20%)

888 (20%)

The major terms of the Contractual Arrangements are summarised
as below:

(1) Exclusive Services Agreement

According to the Exclusive Services Agreement, the VIE
agreed to engage the Beijing Subsidiary as its exclusive
provider of technical support and consultancy services
requested by the VIE from time to time with a service fee
equalled to the net profit of the VIE.

RMB10,000,000
A K #10,000,0007T

Film and TV programmes
production and investment
BEYRERGARERERE

Provision of internet
audio-visual programmes
services

RUODHEEEESHE RS

RMB10,000,000
A K #10,000,0007T

BRRFEZ EEGEFTBRNT

(1) BREBEFHH

BEBREBAERY VERERETEE
Sz B R B AR SRR B AT
EREBREMA - REBESRVIEZ $i
7 o
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Loan Agreement

According to the Loan Agreement, the Beijing Subsidiary
agreed to provide interest-free loans to the registered
owners of the VIE as capital contribution to the VIE. The
registered owners of the VIE, in return for the provision
of loans, agreed to enter into an Equity Interest Pledge
Agreement with the Beijing Subsidiary to pledge all of their
equity interest in the VIE as security.

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

According to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, each
of the registered owners of the VIE Group agreed to pledge
all their respective equity interests in the VIE Group to the
Beijing Subsidiary, as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding loans of the registered owner of the VIE Group.

Powers of Attorney

According to the Powers of Attorney, each of the registered
owners of the VIE irrevocably appointed designee of the
Beijing Subsidiary to act as their attorney on their behalf to
exercise all rights in connection with matters concerning
their rights as shareholders of the VIE.

Exclusive Option Contract

According to the Exclusive Option Contract, each of
the registered owners of the VIE agreed to irrevocably,
unconditionally and exclusively grant an exclusive option
to the Beijing Subsidiary to purchase the equity interests
in the VIE from the registered owners of the VIE, when it is
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws.

(2) EH5HE

RIEER G - LRHBRFARBRVIEZE
LHEAARHREBER  ERYVIEZTE -
ERBEREHRERZE®R  VEZELREE A
FEEIE R BRRT I BREL R A
ERRERVIEZ ZREERIER

(3) RELH HH

RIBREERRE  VEERBEZERHAAS
BRIEHREZBNVIEEEZ 2 8 E L M
TR B ARMERERELS - AREVIES
BrELHBEARTEROEB RN RER

&K o

(4) REZTE

REREZRE  VEZBETHEAAZTATH
B EFRILRMERARZEEALERRK
FZRFEAN RBRETE N EEER
EERVERRZEMNERZEE -

(5) BXIBEEEESR

REBRBEEAR  VEZELEAAZE
AR G ROBF R T A =M
BARBRBER NWEERERZHBEX
BAFZBEANMVIEELEA ABBEVIEZR
o
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Risks associated with Contractual Arrangements
and the actions taken to mitigate the risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements:

J If the PRC government finds that the Contractual
Arrangements that establish the structure for film and TV
programmes production and investment as well as provision
of internet audio-visual programmes series businesses in the
PRC do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
we could be subject to penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected;

o Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws;

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control over our VIE as equity ownership;

o Any failure by the VIE or their respective ultimate
shareholders to perform their obligations under our
Contractual Arrangements would potentially lead to our
having to incur additional costs and expend material
resources to enforce such arrangements, temporary or
permanent loss of control over our provision of internet
audio-visual programmes series businesses or loss of access
to the revenue from these businesses,

o The ultimate owners of the VIE may have potential conflicts
of interest with us, which may materially and adversely
affect our business and financial condition;

J If any of the VIE or its subsidiaries becomes the subject of a
bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability
to use and enjoy certain important assets, which could
materially and adversely affect our business; and

o Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests
of the VIE may be subject to certain limitations and the
ownership transfer may incur substantial costs.
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The Group realised that there are regulatory risks associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. The Group will follow on the latest
developments with regards to the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations and seek professional legal advice when necessary.

Revenue and assets involved in the Contractual
Arrangements

Revenue and assets of the VIE Group of approximately
HK$88,815,000 and HK$750,898,000 are consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements for the year ended 31 December 2019. The above
revenue and assets included transactions and balances with the
Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company
were entered into or exist during the year ended 31 December
2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the percentage of turnover
of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five
largest customers combined are 96.66% and 99.03% respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the percentage of
purchases of the Group attributable to the largest supplier and
the five largest suppliers combined are 15.50% and 44.20%
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's largest
supplier is Mr. Xu Zheng who is a non-executive director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company. It was related to the
production of the film Lost in Russia (H1%). Please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 26 February 2019 and 12 June
2019 and the Company's circular dated 23 May 2019 for details.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of
the directors, their associates or shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the directors own more than five percent of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest
suppliers or customers of the Group.

AEEPHAGNTHSREERR - ARESKEE
FEMEEE RAUNMER T EZ&NER - AN
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with
a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. We offer a competitive
remuneration package and great opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance.

In respect of the business of the Group, the film industry is
fragmented and highly competitive. Following years of rapid
development, there is a vast number of independent service
providers providing various film and television programmes
production and distribution services and there is a number of
reputable and reliable independent service providers who have
been engaged by Hong Kong and overseas film companies for
producing and distributing films and television drama series in the
PRC. Mr. Dong Ping, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, both non-executive
Directors, have extensive experience, expertise and connections
in the media and entertainment industries and each of them has
noteworthy background, experience, social status, personal and/
or professional achievements and connections with business
partners in the film industry, their collective knowledge and
experience would enhance the Group to identify appropriate
and reliable third party service providers and negotiate suitable
commercial arrangements with such providers to provide the
necessary services to the Company.

The Group also places effort to maintain good relationships with
financial institutions and professional advisers to maintain its
continuous growth and operation needs.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable
law framework. Besides, the Group always maintains a safe
working environment for staff in accordance with relevant safety
policies. There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the Company
during 2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group encourages staff to save energy, minimise the use of
natural resources and paper products. The existing businesses
of the Group are not expected to create material damages to
the environment. We will continue to take into account the
environmental protection factor in the future when planning
business activities ahead. Please also refer to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of this annual report for details.

REVIEW OF THE RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting
matters including the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report the Company has maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any donations to
charitable and non-profit-making organisations.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 January 2020, Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment
Company Limited* (BB E ZE(XK2B)X/LIEEBR A F) (“Huan
Huan Xi Xi"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the cooperation agreement with Beijing ByteDance
Network Technology Limited* (it &2 &0 Bk &) 48 4% H 1T B PR A 7))
("ByteDance”), pursuant to which, Huan Huan Xi Xi and ByteDance
will cooperate in several fields in relation to online videos and
ByteDance shall pay to Huan Huan Xi Xi at least RMB630,000,000
as a consideration. Huan Huan Xi Xi and ByteDance shall carry out
two phases of cooperation in the following fields:

The term of the first-phase cooperation is 6 months from the date
of the cooperation agreement, the main details of which are as
follows:

(i)  After release of the Group’s certain new films and internet
drama series on “huanxi.com” (Bt= & #), the Group
shall authorise the licensee’s platforms such as “Toutiao”
(% HEE§) and “Xigua” (78 /N 4% #8) to broadcast the
same simultaneously as “huanxi.com” within the region
of Mainland China; ByteDance shall pay an amount of
RMB630,000,000 on a pro rata basis by reference to the
Group's delivery progress of its certain new films and
internet drama series as consideration; Huan Huan Xi Xi
is entitled to a proportionate share of revenue in excess
of the related income from broadcasting of the licensed
content received by the licensee’s platforms, after deducting
channel costs incurred by the licensee’s platforms and the
consideration of RMB630,000,000 above,

(i) ByteDance shall include dedicated gateways on platforms
such as “Toutiao” and “Xigua” for directing traffic to
“huanxi.com”;

(iliy the licensee’s platforms shall support the promotion and

marketing of the Group's film and TV projects;

*  For identification purposes only
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(iv) the Group shall make available its film and TV projects to
provide ByteDance and its related parties with resources for
advertising placement, joint marketing and cross-industry

cooperation; and

the Group shall offer ByteDance or its related parties the
right of authorship as co-producer(s) for films of which the
Group is the lead producer.

The parties shall discuss and finalise details of the second-phase
cooperation as soon as practicable after commencement of the
first-phase cooperation, then sign the relevant agreements.

The term of the second-phase cooperation will commence on the
date that the first-phase ends and end on 31 December 2022, the
key areas of collaboration for the second-phase cooperation are
as follows:

()  the parties shall jointly establish a cinema channel, in
a collective effort to build the “huanxi.com” streaming
platform; and

(i) the parties shall make joint capital contributions to produce

and purchase new media copyrights of film and TV contents.

The parties shall have the priority to renew the agreement upon
expiry of the second-phase cooperation.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 January
2020 for details of the cooperation agreement between the Group
and ByteDance.

Save as disclosed above and Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, there are no material event after reporting period as
at the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, was
appointed as auditor of the Company with effect from 28 August
2018 following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with
effect from 27 August 2018.
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The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 #HZE-ZT—hWhF+ A=+ BULFEZHEEYV%
December 2019 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, RERCHE TR IGEE T ESEHT (B EESTAD)
Certified Public Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the E#Z - RAQAFEEREBAFEAES FEIRE —18
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint  REZR @ BREE R GES I EBT (RE ST
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, as auditor — Bb) & 7R X &4 EEf -

of the Company.

On behalf of the Board RERESE
Dong Ping Ed
Chairman BY¥
Hong Kong, 31 March 2020 'R ZETTEF=-A=+—H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that maintaining corporate governance
at high standard is essential for enhancing accountability and
transparency of a company to the investing public and other
stakeholders. Therefore, the Company is committed to good
corporate governance practices for corporate sustainability and
business growth.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report (the "CG Code") as listed out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules on the Stock Exchange.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the financial year
2019, Mr. Dong Ping acted as the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven acted as the Chief
Executive Officer.

Mr. Dong Ping focuses on the leadership role in the Board
to ensure that the Board works effectively in discharging its
responsibilities whilst Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven focuses on
day-to-day corporate management matters of the Group. The
Board considers that the segregation of responsibilities among the
Board members meets the requirements under the CG Code. The
roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer are separate and
exercised by different individuals, Code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code has been complied.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is vested with the key roles of formulating the Group’s
corporate strategic directions and policies, monitoring the financial
performance and internal control system of the Group and overseeing
the performance of management, which is delegated with the
responsibilities of executing the Board’s decision and in-charging
day-to-day operation.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. The statement made by the
auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report of the annual report.

Code Provision A.4.1 requires non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing
Directors including the executive Directors, the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are for a term of
2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, there is no specific term
or proposed length of services for Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of
the existing Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
complied with rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors, at least one independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise, and a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the board, respectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, whose biographies are set out in the Biographical Details
of Directors of the annual report. All the Directors are high calibre
executives with diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range
of skills and experience to the Group.
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The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The composition of the Board and their respective attendance

ARADWEIBEBIIFRNTEERIELEMHRAE
313G H 2 IR 598 S M RERR K
HITEZEBBEIAL -

 WRB/EEILIE

BE_T-NF+-_A=+—BHLFE EFaZ

in the general meetings, Board meetings and other committee MHEREKREENREAS BEES@ENLHMES
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows: & &z 2 HEHERNT ¢
No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ REERLEEENY
Regular Audit Remuneration  Nomination
General full Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
Ez¢ =34 ) RE
BREXE 2BHREHE ZEEEE ZEEEE ZE8EE
Number of meetings EEYR 2 4 2 1 1
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) EVEE(FE) 22 44 NATER 1/1 11
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer) — BRRB 4 (77 H#%) 2/2 34 NATEE  NATEE  NATEE
Non-Executive Directors FHATEE
Mr. Ning Hao BEEE 0/2 24 NATEE  NATEE  NATEE
Mr. Xu Zheng BELE 0/2 /4 N/A TNEF N/A NE N/A N iE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEAEE 2/2 4/4 22 NAMER  NAMER
Mr. Li Xiaolong TNERAE 112 a/4 22 11 11
Mr. Wang Hong TORERZE-1E 0/0 1 0/0 0/0 0/0
(appointed on 2 September 2019) NAZREZH)
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David REREE(RZZ-NF 072 213 2/2 1 "

(ceased on 2 September 2019) NAZBEME)
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

With effect from 2 September 2019, (i) Mr. Su Tuong Sing,
David ceased to act as the independent non-executive director,
chairman of remuneration committee, chairman of nomination
committee and member of audit committee of the Company
and (i) Mr. Wang Hong has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of remuneration committee,
chairman of nomination committee and member of audit
committee of the Company.

Save for above, there is no change in Directors’ information
for the year ended 31 December 2019, which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken to perform corporate governance
duties and adopted the terms of reference on corporate
governance functions on 27 March 2012 for better management of
the business and affairs of the Group.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance
functions shall be:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices

on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and its disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
to oversee particular aspect of the Group’s affair. Each of the
committees had defined terms of reference setting out its duty,
power and functions. The committees report to the Board and,
where appropriate, make recommendations on matters discussed.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 1 January 2019, the audit committee was composed of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong
Tak Chuen (committee chairman), Mr. Li Xiaolong and Mr. Su
Tuong Sing, David. On 2 September 2019, Mr. Su Tuong Sing,
David ceased to act as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wang
Hong (independent non-executive Director) has been appointed
as a member of the audit committee of the Company since 2
September 2019. During 2019, the main role and functions of the
audit committee are to review the financial information of the
Ccompany, to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures and maintain
relations with the auditor of the Company.

Under the terms of reference of the audit committee, the audit
committee shall, among others, to monitor the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts,
half-year report and to discuss the risk management and internal
control system with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems. The revised written terms of reference are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
on 7 January 2019.

In 2019, the audit committee had held two meetings. During one
of the meetings, annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 was reviewed with the auditor of the Company.
The audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls
and financial reporting matters with the management team of the
Company. Another meeting was also held during 2019 that interim
results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2019 was
discussed. The audit committee also reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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Besides, the audit committee, with the assistance of the
management and an external internal control and risk
management consultant (the “Consultant”), has conducted annual
review on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for 2019 and considered the Group
has operated an effective and adequate risk management and
internal control systems (based on discussion between the
audit committee and the Consultant and the findings of the
Consultants’ internal control review report). Please refer to the
section “Internal Control and Risk Management” in this Corporate
Governance Report for the details on the review by the audit
committee on the Group's internal control and risk management
for 2019.

The audit committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in the code provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code for the year 2019. The audit committee
reviewed the Consultant’s report on the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities for considering and approving the appointment
of members of the Board and will meet to discuss when
nomination of new director(s) is received or when circumstances
require. In considering the suitability of a candidate for
directorship, the Board will take into account the candidate’s
qualification, experience, expertise and knowledge as well as the
prevailing composition, structure and size of the Board and the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under the terms of reference of the nomination committee, the
nomination committee shall, among others, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; the candidates for directorship
will be selected taken into account a wide range of factors,
including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
service term. The revised written terms of reference are posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on 7
January 2019.
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As at 1 January 2019, the nomination committee was composed of
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David (committee chairman and independent
non-executive Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director
and Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent
non-executive Director). On 2 September 2019, Mr. Su Tuong Sing,
David ceased to act as an independent non-executive Director
and a chairman of the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang Hong (independent non-executive Director) has been
appointed as a chairman of the nomination committee of the
Company since 2 September 2019. The committee member met
once in the year ended 31 December 2019. The meeting was
held to discuss the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meeting held on 31 May 2019.

A policy for board on diversity had been adopted in May 2013 and
a policy for nomination of directors which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship had been adopted in 2019. Please
refer to the “Corporate Governance” section on the Company
website for the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy.

Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy is adopted in 2013 which is to set
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
nomination committee will review the policy and monitor the
implementation of the policy.

RZZE-NF—A—H REZEehFERLE
(REEXFERBUIFATES)  EFLLE@TT
EZREFEIR)RFPERAEBUIFNTE
FEAX -RZE-NAFAAZH HREBREET
BREEARARBUINTEERRAZESGLIR -
TUREBIUIFPTET)ICE-_T-NAFNA
“HEEZERARFREEREGIF BE_ZF
—NEFFT_A=+—HLFEZEGKERIT—
REH - ZEREERI T NAFAA=1T—H
BOUNRRBFASLEREREENER -

—EEFENEZTLERREN _T—=F0HA
ERM —HEFREBRRNTER-_FT-AFER
B EREINREEENRAER - UREERE
BEREANBRENERN - EHEFEREZ TR
RREBEFRABEK FR2HARAMUENIEEE
A1SE o

EEERESTILEE

EEgNBEZTMBRER T =FERHK H
FINARFEETERERKEBEZTEMKIME T
HeoEARATEFENENN  eRZEAFTEEERE
EEXEST  BREETRUMERN - Fi& - Xt
REBEER  BIR - EXEER - X ARERSE
FR -BFEMBEZEHIUAARST BRA - ER
EHREERAZE RARAIBEMNEEENESZTT
e - BB R BEHMITABRL ERZBER
B E B o

78 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED ¢ Annual Report 2019



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy is adopted in 2019 which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures for appointment
of Directors. Factors assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship include but are not limited to
reputation, qualifications, accomplishment and experience,
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
and potential contribution that can bring to the Company.
Independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules will
also be considered in case of appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive director. The nomination committee
will make recommendation to the Board for consideration.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities of recommending to the Board (i) the policy and
structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management;
and (i) the remuneration package of executive directors and
senior management. The Board retains the final authority to
approve the remuneration packages.

Under the terms of reference of the remuneration committee,
the remuneration committee shall, among others, make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy. The remuneration committee
also make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. The written
terms of reference are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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As at 1 January 2019, the remuneration committee was
composed of Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David (committee chairman and
independent non-executive Director), Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman
of the Board and executive Director) and Mr. Li Xiaolong
(independent non-executive Director). On 2 September 2019,
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David ceased to act as an independent
non-executive Director and a chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Wang Hong (independent
non-executive Director) has been appointed as a chairman of
the remuneration committee of the Company since 2 September
2019. The committee met once in the year ended 31 December
2019. The meeting was held to review the emoluments of the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and to review
the remuneration packages of the Directors retired in the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2019.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wing Koon, the Company Secretary of the Company, has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2019.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, remuneration in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor of
the Company to the Group are approximately HK$3,150,000 (2018:
HK$2,670,000) and HK$365,000 (2018: HK$30,000) respectively.

RZZE-NF—A—RB FHZESHFERLE
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TUREBIUIFPTET)ICE-_T-NAFNA
“HEEZERARRFMEESEIR BE_F
—NEFFT_A=+—HLFEZEGKERIT—
REH - ZEREERINBE_T-N\F+=A
StT-BLEFENEEMERBIARAR_F
—“NFRA=ZFT-HETHERRBFAE LER
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HE-Z-AFT-A=+—BLFE KAFAZ
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Risk management and internal control are essential parts
of corporate governance. The Directors have the overall
responsibility for internal control and risk management systems,
and review their effectiveness. The Group has established
policies and procedures for risk management and internal control
to ensure the proper monitoring and control of major risks
arising from the Group’s activities. The Group has engaged an
external internal control and risk management consultant (i.e.
the Consultant) to perform the Group’s internal audit function,
to review and improve the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. The Company has put
in place risk management and internal control systems which
enable the Group to respond appropriately to significant business,
operational, financial, compliance and other risks. Furthermore,
they help ensure the quality of internal and external reporting
within the Group and the compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, and also internal policies with respect to the conduct
of businesses of the Group.

The Board, through the audit committee and with the assistance
of the Consultant, have conducted reviews on the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the Group for
2019 once and considered the Group has operated an effective,
appropriate, and adequate risk management and internal control
systems (based on the findings of the Consultants’ internal control
review reports and discussion with the Consultant). In respect
of the Group's internal control systems, it aims at safeguarding
assets from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts
and ensuring compliance with regulations. The management
is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of the internal control system. The internal
control and risk management systems are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks
of failure to achieve business objectives.
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Along with the internal control review, the Consultant has
prepared annual review report on overall effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control over various aspect including
financial, operational and compliance issues, in particular, the
processes of (i) share of box office revenue, and (ii) financial
reporting were reviewed for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Along with the risk management review, the Board, through the
audit committee and with the assistance of the Consultant, have,
among others, identified, evaluated and assessed the key risk
factors affecting the Group’s business and its operation. During
the risk assessment process, the management of the Company
has reviewed aspects including operation, compliance and
strategic areas. High-priority risks identified included strategic
risk of investing in entertainment industry, operation risks such
as uncertainties in production quality of media projects, credit
risk in relation to distributors and risks involved in compliance
with various censorship regulations, listing rules compliance, and
financial data reporting standards.

Management would from time to time review the key risks
identified and determine their responses to high-priority risks and
where necessary, report on significant changes and effectiveness
of the systems of risk management.

The Board had adopted a whistle blowing policy including
procedures for employees to report any irregularities on the
affairs of the Company.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they fully complied with the Model
Code throughout 2019.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING

The Company has from time to time provided Directors with
materials relating to the business and operations of the Group,
latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and their
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, all existing Directors
have received the following trainings:

BHE_ZT-NF+_A=+—HILFE  FAERME
E=ZDKR2E T :

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

relevant topics
FHALEER EBERRE

R H b E B RE = E I
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) EFLE(EE) v
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer) BRRWzAE (TTHABE) v
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Ning Hao =S AE v
Mr. Xu Zheng TR S5 & v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFBITES
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen =EEAEEE v
Mr. Li Xiaolong N5 e v
Mr. Wang Hong FHEAE v

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for
liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors and officers
of the Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate
activities of the Group under Code A.1.8 of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determined by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

EERSABECEERR
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BRARBIZEERRBFAGBREEEIZES
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

Pursuant to the statutory regime for disclosure of inside
information sets out in Part XIVA of the SFO with effect from 1
January 2013, the Board has adopted an inside information policy
on 27 August 2013 which sets out the guidelines to the Directors,
officers and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure
that the inside information of the Group is to be disseminated
to public in equal and timely manner in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations, which includes, among others,
all inside information must be treated strictly confidential and
disclosure of inside information must be made in a manner that
provides the public with an equal, timely and effective access
to the information, such as through the electronic publication
system operated by the Stock Exchange. Generally, no employee
or Director may disclose, discuss or share with outside parties
(except for communication with the Group’s advisers who owe
a duty of confidentiality, e.g. lawyers, and other categories
of persons as allowed under the Part XIVA of the SFO) the
information of price-sensitive nature about the Company that has
not been released to the public. Please refer to the website of the
Company www.huanximedia.com under the section “Corporate
Governance” for the Company's inside information policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 27 March 2012. Shareholders’ communication policy and
shareholder’s rights are published on the designated website of
the Company.

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Enquiries other than shareholdings may be directed to
the head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out in the Corporation Information of this annual
report for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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RIGHT TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the
bye-law 62 of the Bye-laws, the shareholder(s) of the Company
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of
the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company may request the Board to convene a special general
meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the
Company Secretary and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of
shareholder of the Company representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii) not less than
100 shareholders, the Company shall, at the expense of the
requisitionists:

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting; and
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to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the registered office of the Company at Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring
Director shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless a notice in writing signed by a shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election as a director and also a notice
in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected (including
that person’s biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules) shall be lodged with the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or the
Hong Kong branch share registrar provided that the minimum
length of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall
be at least seven days and that (if the notices are submitted after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election) the period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall
commence on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior
to the date of such general meeting, the Company will need
to consider the adjournment of such general meeting in order
to allow the Shareholders fourteen clear days’ notice of the
proposal.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

A policy on payment of dividend had been adopted in March 2019.
The policy specifies that the Board may pay interim dividends as
appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company
and declare and pay special dividends on such dates as they
think fit. The Company may declare dividends in general meetings
of the Company, but the declared dividend shall not exceed the
amount recommended by the Board.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides
to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains websites at www.huanximedia.com and
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia where information and
updates on the list of directors and their roles and functions,
terms of reference of the Board committees, procedures for
nomination of directors for election, announcements, circulars
and reports released to the Stock Exchange and other information
are posted.

The Company's constitutional documents are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. There were no
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during 2019.
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The Company is pleased to present the environmental, social
and governance report (“ESG Report”) to our stakeholders for
providing an overview of the Group’s efforts in eliminating the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG") impacts arising
from our daily operations.

The content of this ESG Report is prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules to make relevant disclosure of sustainability performance
in material aspects of the guide, covering the whole range of our
business, including development and investment in films and
television drama series as well as operation of streaming platform.
The reporting period of this report shall cover the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We view stakeholder engagement as a critical part of the
sustainable development of the Group. The concerns and opinions
of our stakeholders are valued highly by the Group, and we strive
to meet their expectation and to communicate with them regularly
through different channels, as detailed below:

Stakeholders

Requirements and expectations

ARBMARRMANFNERZRE  HERER
HE - UEAKESRERRMANABELESE
MIRE  HERERFEMELNE S -
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BAREEREREYAS - AREMHHEHEERE
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Communications and actions

HHE ERRBE BRERITE
Government/Regulatory Authorities e compliance with laws and o compliance management
BT, LB e regulations BHRER
BRERER e submission of reports and
. support for economic payment of taxes
development EXRERMNB
XREEER
Shareholders o financial results o reports and announcements
fig 3= B E WERRNE
. business developments o general meetings
¥HBEBRE RERE
o corporate governance o company website, email and
TEER hotline

. channels of communications

BIBRE

NEHEY - EE NGB
. press release
E
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Stakeholders

Requirements and expectations

Communications and actions

BHE ERRBE BRERITE
Customers . high quality products and o creative and quality products
=E services Bl EEEM
B E MRS e protection of customer information
. meeting customers’ needs and privacy
wmEEPHER REZFPEHKMLE
. feedback channels o dedicated customer service
REERE EBEP R
o email and hotline
B REABET
o press release
FER
Employees . employees’ compensation and o provision of good remuneration
== benefits and welfare
EE®FHMRT RER TR FH PR
. career development o regular performance reviews and
BEER feedback
e protection of occupational FHETRARN KR E
health o employee training
IR IE 0 2 4 B2 EEFI
. work and life balance o meetings
FEITEAR S

Suppliers and Business Partners
HrEm REBBH

Community and Environment
@ FIR IR

. compliance with contracts

BFEL

o communication channels
EIBRE

° business ethics
EESERE

. support for charity
IR REEBREEE

. eco-friendly business practices
RIERFAEBR TR

o performance of contracts
according to law
HEBITE R

o attending film festivals
S INEFE

o dedicated internal control and risk
management
HIFNELES T K E e B IR

o emails and meetings

BHREH

o donation
B

o increasing the efficiency of the use
of resources and energy
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board is
responsible for evaluating and determining the Group's
ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
Management is also responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
these systems to the Board.

With reference to the requirements of the ESG Guide of the
Stock Exchange, the Group determines the scope of content for
ESG disclosures. Material issues are identified and evaluated by
management, taking into account the Group’s business operations
and the standards of our peers. The impact of these material
issues is rated according to their importance to the sustainable
development of the Group and its stakeholders. Such ratings
pertain to the current developmental stage of the Group and
may change in the future. The Group identified product quality as
issues of high importance to both the Group and its stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group has made efforts to integrate environmental protection
into our daily business operation. It is reflected by our promotion
of pollution prevention, waste reduction and recycling. For all
of our investment decision-making process, as one of the key
assessment criteria, we perform comprehensive assessments and
give due consideration to minimise the potential impact on the
environment.

Throughout the reporting period, the Group complied with laws
and regulations related to air pollution and waste handling
including relevant regulations in the PRC.
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For air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions performance,
please refer to the table below.

BERBERIBERBINKRE  F2HTE -

Environmental Key Performance Indicators Unit 2019 2018
RERAEXRRER By —EB-NEF —E-NF
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emitted from vehicles g 9,209 9,892
BRBEBE R A PNOX) )
Sulphur oxides (SOx) emitted from vehicles g 385 358
BRI F AL P(SOX) =)
Particulate matter emitted from vehicles g 678 728
BB R )
GHG emissions (Note 1)
=R EEHE R (MtaE1)
Scope 1 (Note 2) tonnes 71 66
& 21 (K352) U7
Scope 2 (Note 3) tonnes 111 103
& [E2 (f7E3) Mg
Scope 3 (Note 4) tonnes 66 59
& [E3 (fft4) U
Total tonnes 248 228
Hne Mg
Notes:
1. GHG emissions included emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and

nitrous oxide, where methane and nitrous oxide emissions were
converted to carbon dioxide emissions based on global warming
potential (GWP). Therefore, the total amount of GHG emissions is the
total amount of carbon dioxide emissions equivalent.

2. Scope 1 calculated direct GHG emissions from combustion of fuels in
mobile sources (e.g. vehicles) controlled by the Group.

3. Scope 2 calculated indirect GHG emissions of electricity purchased from
power companies.

4. Scope 3 calculated the indirect GHG emissions of disposal of paper
waste at landfill and business travel by employees.
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For non-hazardous waste, the Group discharged 586 kg of wasted
papers in 2019 (2018: 538 kg). The papers are either re-used
or collected by third parties for treatment. The Group adopts
double-sided printing for internal documents and re-uses used
paper to minimise wasted paper.

The Group has not identified any hazardous wastes that were
produced in the core business and there are no reducing
initiatives at the moment.

The Group promotes green operations and encourages employees
to turn off unnecessary lighting and air-conditioning. The Group
takes advantage of tele-conferencing and video-conferencing to
eliminate unnecessary business trips for Directors and employees.

Use of Resources

Considering the nature of our businesses with the amounts of
waste produced in the course of operations, the efforts that
we can make should not be taken lightly. we from time to
time convey the concept of green office to our employees. For
instance, we remind our staff the advantages of double-sided
printing and energy saving by switching off idle lighting.

During 2019, the direct and indirect energy consumption by
electricity and petrol are 119,818 kwh (2018: 111,033 kwh) and
26,175 L (2018: 24,343 L) respectively.

Payment for water usage has been included in the management
fee to the landlord, thus related consumption data cannot be
obtained. Meanwhile, the Group did not have problems on
shortage of water supply and use of packaging material is not
applicable to our core business.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group are not expected
to pose a material impact on the environment. However, the
management had nonetheless incorporated the factor of the
potential impact on the environment and natural resources in
business operations planning. The Group hopes that continuous
improvement will make a contribution to the global ecological
environment.
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Although the Group’s impacts on environment are insignificant
and the Group seldom use natural resources directly, we still
encourage our employees to reduce the use of natural resources
and recycle as much as possible.

SOCIAL - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

Recruitment

It is the objective of the Group to provide employees with a
respectful and fair working environment. We have established
a sound system of human resources management covering the
various aspects such as recruitment and remuneration.

We hire employees based on consideration of experience,
qualifications and knowledge. An employment contract is required
to be signed by the employee prior to employment to ensure
job title, job duties, working hours, holidays, remuneration,
termination process, and benefits are agreed.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

The Group motivates employees by promotion and salary
increment based on results of annual performance appraisal. We
will keep optimising the remuneration and promotion mechanism
that enables the employees to share the fruitful achievement
with us. Dismissal is based on the Employment Ordinance,
relevant regulations in the PRC including Labour Law of the PRC
and Labour Contract Law of the PRC and the requirements as
stipulated in the employment contract.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Five-day workweek arrangement is adopted in Hong Kong to
facilitate work-life balance. In additional to all public holidays
(including Sundays) as specified in the General Holidays
Ordinance, employees are entitled to annual leaves, and
other paid leaves such as maternity leave, paternity leave,
compensation leave, wedding leave and examination leave.

Employees enjoy medical benefits, provident fund scheme (if
applicable) and other benefits subject to the Group's policies.
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Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination

The Group strove to optimise the system of human resources
management to promote fairness and equality within the
workplace, human resources policy has been established to
ensure there is no discrimination on the grounds of age, gender,
marital status, family status, sexual orientation, disability, ethnic
group, nationality or religion. In accordance with our human
resource policy, the above factors are not considered in the
decision-making process of employment, remuneration, and
promotion.

The Group would ensure strict compliance with all relevant
regulatory standards, particularly the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance and Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and the
relevant regulations in the PRC including Labour Law of the PRC,
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and Implementation Regulations
for the Labour Contract Law of the PRC.

Details of remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the "Employees and Remuneration Policies” section in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 28.

Health and safety

We believe that safe working does not only uphold the adherence
to people-oriented principles but also preserve our talents from
exposure to occupational diseases or injuries, no matter severe or
minor.

Safety guides in respect of reducing occupational hazards in the
office working environment were circulated to employee to advise
employees to address more attention to health and safety issues.

The Group adopts a five-day workweek in Hong Kong and
motivates our staff to keep a practical and reasonable work-life
balance.

In the meantime, we support our contractors and business
partners placing high emphasis on health and safety issues, in
terms of occupational hazards.
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There is a full compliance towards Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance and relevant regulations that protected employees
from occupation hazards. The Group also complied with Labour
Law of the PRC and Law of PRC on the Prevention & Control of
Occupational Diseases. The Group did not experience any lost
days due to injury or work-related fatalities during the reporting
period.

Development and training

Apart from providing training materials for Directors as stated
in the Corporate Governance Report, in the face of the dynamic
business environment, employees are strongly recommended to
equip themselves with different branches of knowledge. Subsidies
of HK$5,320 (2018: HK$6,890) were given to employees for
participation in training courses of 29 hours (2018: 37.5 hours) in
2019 which aim at enhancing their job skills. The training covered
the management skill and leadership improvement, company'’s
organisation strategy and corporate culture, employee’s business
knowledge, orientation and other specific training.

In addition to the professional training courses, we do not neglect
the opportunities of providing our employees with learning
experience gained through work assignments so as to build up
their on-going job skills which benefit career development of our
staff.

Labour standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within
the Group. In accordance with our Human Resources Policy,
background check and reference check are conducted by Human
Resources Department based on the information provided by
applicants before hiring, among other sources. Applicants who do
not meet the legal requirements would not be hired.

There is full compliance towards relevant national and local
regulations that prohibits child or forced labour. During the
reporting period, we did not receive any complaints or reporting
of child labour or forced labour.
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SOCIAL - OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply chain management

Business contract management is of fundamental concern to
us. We do encourage and expect our contractors and business
partners (i.e. film production companies, film directors and
producers, etc) to uphold a high standard of morality that is
similar to our own. To facilitate the cooperation, thorough
assessment based on a variety of criteria, including but not
limited to attitude towards environmental and social issues, is
conducted to evaluate the quality as well as its moral standards
of our business partners and contractors prior to stepping into
contracting stage.

Product responsibility

The Group is principally engaged in media and entertainment
related businesses. It recognises that proper advertising of
services and products (e.g. films and internet drama series)
provided as well as a timely response is of great importance to
the long-term business development. The Group makes every
endeavor to comply with the relevant legislation.

Being an investor in the media and entertainment field, the
Group has always placed utmost importance to the safeguard
and protection of intellectual property rights, encompassing
the management of the confidentiality and information sharing.
Clauses are included in the media investment agreements and
other related cooperation agreements to protect the Group's
interests in the films and/or internet drama series which it
invested in, such as the Group’s income rights, distribution rights
and copyrights in the productions.
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Product quality

The Group is principally engaged in media and entertainment
related businesses. The Group always looks for good investment
opportunities that bring high economic returns for Shareholders
and provide more choices for customers. Crazy Alien (JRIHINE
A) is the movie exclusively invested by the Group and released
in 2019 which earned RMB2,200 million in box office receipts and
scored 8.5/10 in maoyan.com.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to preventing bribes, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. A whistle-blowing reporting channel has
been established for employees to report any suspected fraud,
malpractice, corruption, or any other unethical actions. The
whistleblowing policy has been uploaded on the website of the
Company www.huanximedia.com. We aim to maintain high moral
standards in the conduct of our business.

The Group has strictly adhered to relevant laws and regulations,
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the relevant
regulations in the PRC. During the year 2019, there was no legal
case or dispute in respect of bribery, extortion, fraud or money
laundering against our employees and the Group.

SOCIAL - COMMUNITY
Community investment

The Group facilitates opportunities for employees to be a part of
our communities. We encourage assistance in and participation
in conventions, conferences, exhibitions and events held by
business communities relevant to our business, with a particular
focus on organisations promoting the development of media
industries and community partnership.
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To the Shareholders of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huanxi Media Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 108 to 227, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019;

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Oour opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEEEAKEERAARRK
(RERZELMALZ BRAA])

=z
=

BERHEETHRR

BEEREEARARA(ATHBIERA]) KA
YA (AT &R ) 5 EH RN F108E227
ENHZEHMB®RE 281

—NF+TZA=+—BNEaUBEIRR

s HBEZRLFEMNGEARATRER:

s HAMBHRMIE BRIZEABEME

o

ERWER

BPRE ZEGEUBRRERETE G
rg([BEEGMAg]) BmaOKEEN KRS
HAD (BB BREED]) EEmMS 5 RER
T EEER-_ZE-NAF+A=+—HNEaY
BRAREBZEZB IEFENGEAMBERE R
EHRERE  WEBRBREBS(RAMER) B FE AR
EZREE -

98

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED e Annual Report 2019



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

e Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets and other intangible assets

e Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible assets

Refer to Note 4(c), Note 19 and Note
22 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

As at 31 December 2019, film and
TV programmes rights classified as
intangible assets and other intangible
assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$822,055,000 and
HK$11,294,000, respectively, and they
collectively represented approximately
45% of the Group's total assets.

As described in the accounting
policies in Note 2.10 to the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group has classified (i) film and
TV programmes rights completed, (i)
film and TV programmes rights under
production, and (iii) licensed film and
TV programmes rights as intangible
assets. All these rights are measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment.

Our procedures in relation to the
valuation and measurement of film
and TV programmes rights classified as
intangible assets and other intangible
assets included:

Film and TV programmes rights
completed and under production

o Assessed the reasonableness of
the sources of information used by
management in identifying impairment
indicators, including management’s
assessment on current market condition,
political environment and latest
regulatory changes.

¢ Examined the relevant correspondences
with joint investors and/or film
production house engaged by the Group
on sample basis to evaluate the progress
of the production of the film and TV
programmes rights and the distribution
plan for the completed titles.

e Discussed with management and
compared with available market
information to assess the expected
performance and distribution plan.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible assets (Continued)

Film and TV programmes rights
completed

In determining whether there is any
impairment indicator on respective
film and TV programmes rights
completed, the Group considered
factors such as current market
condition, political environment, latest
regulatory changes, and whether
there is any adverse change on the
expected performance and distribution
plan. Based on management's
assessment, no impairment indicator
has been identified for the film and TV
programmes rights completed during
the year.

Film and TV programmes rights
under production

In addition to the factors considered in
the impairment assessment performed
for the film and TV programmes
rights completed, for those rights that
are under production, management
also considered whether the Group
has sufficient financial ability and
internal resources to complete
the production of the film and TV
programmes rights and to market them
effectively and whether there are any
adverse changes identified on the
budgeted costs. Besides, management
determined the recoverable amount
of film and TV programmes rights
under production through fair value
less cost of disposal approach. Based
on management’s assessment, no
impairment has been identified for the
film and TV programmes rights under
production during the year.

Film and TV programmes rights
under production

¢ Compared the contractual commitments
of respective film and TV programmes
rights on a sample basis with, and
discussed with management in
relation to, the financing plan on the
commitments in order to complete the
production and marketing plan.

o Assessed the fair value less cost of
disposal determined by management
on a sample basis with reference
to the estimated value of disposal,
budgeted costs and actual costs
incurred.

o Performed specific inquiries with
management about the major crew
members and their background,
experience and profile, and performed
relevant search through external
sources on media coverage on
the related popularity of the crew
members to corroborate with
management’s production plans.

Licensed film and TV programmes
rights and other intangible assets

e We evaluated management’s
impairment assessment by assessing
the DCF used in calculation as set out
below:

- Assessed the competency,
capabilities and objectivity of
the independent external valuer
by considering its qualifications,
relevant experience and
relationship with the Group.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible assets (Continued)

Licensed film and TV programmes
rights and other intangible assets

In determining whether there is
any impairment indicator on the
licensed film and TV programmes
rights, management considered them
together with the other intangible
assets (being license and software
development costs) related to
the Group's streaming platform.
The Group’s licensed film and TV
programmes rights are available for
subscription on its streaming platform
which is considered as a cash-
generating unit (the "Platform CGU").
Based on management's assessment,
impairment indicator existed for the
Platform CGU at the year end.

In carrying out the impairment
assessment, the Group engaged
an external valuer to support the
determination of the recoverable
amount based on the income
approach using the discounted cash
flow forecast ("“DCF") which involves
significant estimates and judgements
including discount rate and terminal
growth rate applied in the DCF of the
Platform CGU. Based on management's
assessment, no impairment provision
is required for the licensed film and TV
programmes rights and other intangible
assets associated with the Platform
CGU as at year end.

- Assessed the methodology adopted and
checked the mathematical accuracy of
the underlying DCF calculation.

- Assessed the reasonableness of the
management key assumptions adopted
and judgement exercised in its DCF,
including the cash flow estimations by
comparing with the approved budget.

- Involved our internal valuation specialists
to assess the model and assumptions
used in the valuation, including the
discount rate and terminal growth rate.

We found the judgements and assumptions
made by management in relation to the
valuation and measurement of film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible
assets and other intangible assets to be
supportable by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation and measurement of film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets and other intangible assets (Continued)

We focused on this area due to the
significance of the carrying amounts
of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets
and other intangible assets to the
consolidated financial statements and
significant management judgements
involved in the valuation and
measurement of these assets.

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group
had prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights of approximately
HK$362,707,000, which represented
approximately 20% of the Group's
total assets. The prepayments were
made under the agreements with film
directors in relation to the acquisition
of future film and TV programmes
rights.

The Group has performed an
assessment on whether impairment
indicator exists for the prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights.
Management considered the status
of film and TV programmes rights
investment plans and the progress of
utilisation of the prepayments. Based
on the management’s assessment,
no impairment indicator has been
identified for the prepayments for film
and TV programmes rights.

We focused on this area due to
the significance of the Group's
prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights to the consolidated
financial statements and the significant
management judgements involved
in assessing the impairment of the
prepayments.

In evaluation of the management’s
assessment on the identification of
impairment indicators for the Group's
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights, we have performed the following
procedures:

e Obtained an understanding on and
evaluated and tested the Group's key
control over initiation and authorisation
of cooperate agreements with film
directors.

e |nquired with the management on the
status of film and TV programmes rights
investment plans with film directors.

* |nspected the correspondences between
the film directors and management
related to the progress of utilisation of
the prepayments on a sample basis.

e Interviewed certain film directors for
confirming the understanding of the
terms of the agreements and compared
the plans of utilisation of prepayments
against management's investment plans.

e Circulated confirmations with
counterparties as to the balances of
prepayments as at 31 December 2019.

We found the judgements made by
management in relation to the impairment
assessment of prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights to be supportable by the
available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
W oF % BB e

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
W oF % BB e

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse conseqguences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o 1H g R B 4 i ik B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —ZE—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ET)N\F
Note HK$'000 'HK$'000
B aE BT T BT TT
Revenue and film investment income WamkEZIZEERA 5 814,425 174,632
Cost of revenue W & 2 A AN 9 (470,915) (85,317)
Gross profit E2X 343,510 89,315
Other income E b g A 7 21,371 42
Other losses H th E518 8 (2,306) (346)
Selling and distribution costs $HE &Ko KA 9 (43,274) (25,958)
Administrative expenses THAX 9 (132,983) (203,521)
Share-based payment for cooperation H—YEFEEAIEZ
with a film director LARR (D B B 2 (3% 35 - (270,000)
Operating profit/(loss) LR (BE) 186,318 (410,468)
Finance income B 75 A 11 3,036 701
Finance costs Bt 7% & 11 (3,170) (16,497)
Finance costs, net MSER  FHE 1 (134) (15,796)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB A=A (ER) 186,184 (426,264)
Income tax expense FriS Bt X 12 (81,081) (18,429)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEBF(FE) 105,103 (444,693)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KRR AEBERFEE
owners of the Company m A, (E518) 105,103 (444,693)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income  Hti2E (&18) W&
Item that will not be reclassified to T EEF S EEEm 2 HE
profit or l0Ss:
Exchange differences arising on translation # 1) gt & # 8 5 2 3R 5 K
of functional currency to presentation EEZERER
currency (7,195) 5,028
Item that may be reclassified to ARt EF 7R B o HA
profit or l0ss:
Exchange differences on translation of BEBINERZIE L =58
foreign operations (22,776) (49,202)
(29,971) (44,174)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AEEEEME(FHE)
for the year W 75,132 (488,867)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for KRR ABIEAREE
the year attributable to owners of the 2HEME(&EE) %58
Company 75,132 (488,867)
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) Z~2 F#EHE AEEZEFR, (&
attributable to owners of the Company #8) > SREF (&18)
Basic and diluted (in HK$) BEARREE (B T) 16 0.03 (0.16)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  EFifi4r& 1828 & E b 2 M Uk %5 2% 78 B2 B8 B B 5 —
comprehensive income-should be read in conjunction with the  f+53& -

accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

o BB OR DL &
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 R—E—h&E+=-A=+—H
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Note HK$'000 _HK$'000
B 5E BET T BEETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 17 4,571 3,762
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 36,097 -
Intangible assets | EE 19 11,294 16,285
Deposits and prepayments e MIE R 23 105,198 5,608
Prepayments for film and B R ERBINREREMN R
TV programmes rights 21 362,707 370,222
Film and TV programmes rights B LEREIRE 22 118,438 18,077
638,305 413,954
CURRENT ASSETS _ REBEE
Film and TV programmes rights B N ERERE 22 803,514 744,542
Trade and other receivables, FE UG BE =1 o EoAth e I 2008 - 1S
deposits and prepayments MIBI R 23 155,120 371,305
Contract assets BREE 6 2,364 5,220
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRSEE 24 256,203 158,528
1,217,201 1,279,595
Total assets BEERAE 1,855,506 1,693,549
EQUITY e
Share capital R AN 29 31,547 29,181
Reserves s 30 1,098,683 629,487
Total equity fER A 1,130,230 658,668
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 18 20,997 -
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables FE 5 BR 2N N B fth B~ FX I8 25 93,860 98,025
Film investment funds from investors REFEENEIEE KIE 26 188,634 -
Contract liabilities =X oh=F 6 279,250 528,652
Amounts due to related parties fE ST RAE A +5KI8 37 - 92,467
Borrowings EEN 27 50,000 295,307
Lease liabilities HERE 18 15,897 -
Current tax liabilities BVEAf IR & (& 76,638 20,430
704,279 1,034,881
Total liabilities SREAE 725,276 1,034,881
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHAE 1,855,506 1,693,549
The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 227 were H108B E22/ B Ve AWM BHREAE RN T _TE=
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2020 and were A=+—HEZSEei#t/f WHNIEERKRESE
signed on its behalf: BEE:

Dong Ping

DIRECTOR
kg

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Xiang Shaokun, Steven

AR
DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B4y ME o 52 B %

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 R=—ZE—hE+=-A=+—81

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEE AEM
Share
capital Reserves Total
(Note 29) (Note 30)
[ &N f#1E W
(FzE29) (FzE30)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok ok BT T
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—NF—H—H 27,681 764,486 792,167
Loss for the year NFEEEE - (444,693) (444,693)
Other comprehensive loss EM 2 mEE = (44,174) (44,174)
Total comprehensive loss AEETHEBRRE
for the year - (488,867) (488,867)
Transactions with owners: HBEBANRS :
Issue of ordinary shares for H—2EEESIEM
cooperation with a film director BTz EER 1,500 268,500 270,000
Share option scheme: EIRERTE
— value of services provided —ERHEEREZEE - 85,368 85,368
1,500 353,868 355,368
At 31 December 2018 RZE—NF+=A=+—H 29,181 629,487 658,668
At 1 January 2019 R=ZF—-—hE—H—H 29,181 629,487 658,668
Profit for the year ZNCIERE - 105,103 105,103
Other comprehensive 10ss Hib2mEEE - (29,971) (29,971)
Total comprehensive income rEEZEHRZEE
for the year - 75,132 75,132
Transactions with owners: HEBEANRS :
Issue of ordinary shares, BT AR (HBRRZGHA)
net of transaction costs 2,366 387,634 390,000
Share option scheme: FERrEETE
— value of services provided —ERERBEE - 6,430 6,430
2,366 394,064 396,430
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—h&E+=-A=+—H 31,547 1,098,683 1,130,230

e

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be &l 47 & #E 25 £ B 5% & B2 (5 P BT 5 — BF BRI A8 -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAaBlemax

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E BT T BT T
Cash flows from operating activities K& FEBHFREECEELSRE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations K& EEFmELS (FR)
ZHE 31 95,933 (61,880)
Income taxes paid BT (22,422) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) RESEEFELE ()
operating activities ZEESFE 73,511 (61,880)
Cash flows from investing activities ®REFBHFREAZHRERE
Interest received B U F B 3,036 701
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEK
plant and equipment BLERCE /] 31 170 18
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE W% W= MR (3,244) (332)
Payment of software development costs B 5 B B B AR S 3R - (334)
Inflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WENBARIZEERA -
net of cash acquired HERFmBEAZE® 36 - 494
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZEFT (A EE
investing activities ZHEEFE (38) S47
Cash flows from financing activities ®BEFBHFRELAZHRERE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT EBRATS Z0E 390,556 -
Share issue transaction costs & 1D BT R B KA (556) -
Advances from related parties REBEALZEK 16,763 175,156
Proceeds from borrowings B3 53K8 50,000 368,313
Repayments of advance BEERBBEEALT 2K
from related parties (114,291) (197,024)
Repayments of borrowings BEER (293,036) (156,810)
Principal elements of lease payments HENZKZAEED (13,285) -
Interest paid EIFE (8,305) (2,307)
Net cash generated from financing METBFEECREFE
activities 27,846 187,328
Net increase in cash and ReRReEE2EMEHE
cash equivalents 101,319 125,995
Cash and cash equivalents at FNzHeskReEE
beginning of the year 158,528 39,169
Effects of exchange rate changes EXZHURERBA L
on cash and cash equivalents EEZTE (3,644) (6,636)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEESREESEE
at end of the year 24 256,203 158,528

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _Fit4R &30 £ 7k 2 3 fE BRBE T M s — (F R 3E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

GENERAL

Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office of the
Company has been changed to Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda with effect from 15
July 2019 and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 11th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
media and entertainment related businesses which include
development and investment in film and TV programmes
rights and operation of streaming platform. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise
stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap.
622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain
financial assets measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting

period commencing 1 January 2019:

Annual Improvement Annual improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle

projects (Amendments)
HKAS 19 (Amendments)  Plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments)  Long-term interests in associates and
joint ventures
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)  Prepayment features with negative

compensation
HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments

The Group had to change its accounting policies but
no retrospective adjustments were resulted following
the adopting HKFRS 16. The impact of adoption is
disclosed in Note 2.2. Most of the other amendments
listed above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2019 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These standards are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

2 FESTEERBEE)

2.1

(d)

mREE (F)
1R 2 R AT R R 2 FE

ETHesrElRREERMELRR
—E-NEFTA=t+—HxkEHRHM
FIER - BASE B ERR PR - BaT
ZEEATSHERBRE AR RS
B UERABRARZRGELEEANY
5

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or

after
RUTHHSHZ2#&
Rz EFEHBER
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of material 1 January 2020
B G EAE R REB G ERFESR E-PN:IRE:S —ET_TF—-H—H
(1BETA)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of business 1 January 2020
BN BREERE3NR (BITX) Eyi ot —T-Z5-H—H
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting  Revised conceptual framework for financial 1 January 2020
2018 reporting
—E-N\FHBRERSER IR B S SESR —ET_TF-H—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
BRMBREERETH R E 4 T —4§—H—H
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or contribution of assets between an To be announced
investor and its associate or joint venture
BAMBHELENZ10RRBESSTER REEZHRABE RS ELEZHD Fofm
28285 ({531 7<) BELEHIHLE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESTHERBEE)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 2.2 BT BEES

This note explains the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 Leases on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has
adopted HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 1
January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for
the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the
specific transition provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening statement of financial position on 1 January
2019. The new accounting policies are disclosed in
Note 2.30.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the
principles of HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.82%.

AW EMEBRAT BT HREERE16
HIHAE | HAEBMNGATBRRZY
@,

I EX M2 AEBE %
—NF—A—-BEREPRATEH KR
SERNFE 165 [HE | ERZERHH
B MIRX AR WEES —F
—N\FREMOLBHET - Fitt - FHE
ERAFFEENEF D BMNARR T
—NF—A— BB VIHBARRE P HE
R oo NG BRI 230 E -

RERABEMBREEAF 165 - K
SEBERREE B ERE175R
HEINRA >BERIEEHEI WA
ERRAHERRE RFABREENK
HENRENE  YEAABEARSE
—NE—A—BHOEEERNEETR
B-R-_FT-NAF—A—B BRARXHA
EREMATEARERBRFIRR3.82%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & Z —ZE— hWF+-_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
(Continued)

(a) Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has
used the following practical expedients permitted by
the standard:

o applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics

o relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to
performing an impairment review — there were no
onerous contracts as at 1 January 2019

o accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January
2019 as short-term leases

o excluding initial direct costs for the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application and

o using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether
a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into
before the transition date the Group relied on its
assessment made applying HKAS 17 and Interpretation
4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a
Lease.

2 FESTEERBEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

2 FESTHERBEE)

22 B BEREE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Measurement of lease liabilities (b)) HEEERE
HK$'000
BT T
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at R-ZZE—N\F+_HA=+—H
31 December 2018 (Note 33) BB 2 T & A (M5E33) 35,577
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing {& FB & A R ¥ 15 FE B H Hi /Y
rate of at the date of initial application IS 5 KA R EITARER (2,134)
Short-term leases not recognised as a liability WARERRBEZEHES (3,540)
Lease liabilities recognised R-ZZE-—hF—HA—HERZ
as at 1 January 2019 HEAE 29,903
Of which are: B e
— Current lease liabilities — R EaE 8,899
— Non-current lease liabilities — AN EAE 21,004
29,903
(c) Measurement of right-of-use assets (c) FEHEZSERE

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at
the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that
would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use GHY o
assets at the date of initial application.

HEERREEDZHEAEREEAR
MEEAE YRR T N\F+_H
=t — BEKEPBIR R AR EZ
EEE AR AN R EE N K
SRETHE RIKEREH  fiE
AHERAEEEFLARNBEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #Z =%

—NETA=t—HLFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEEFBRBEE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 2.2 SR EE (&)
(Continued)

(d) Adjustments recognised in the consolidated () R=-ZF—NF—HA—HEHFEHENRE
statement of financial position on 1 January 2019 KERZFHE
The change in accounting policy affected the following RZE—NF— 2ETBURE )
items in the consolidated statement of financial FETI4A! ﬁ%ﬂﬁu‘%%lﬁﬁ
position on 1 January 2019:
e right-of-use assets — increase by approximately o (TRAREEE—IEINKAEEE29,903,000

HK$29,903,000; and T &
e lease liabilities — increase by approximately o  FHEBE-IEINKE%29,903,0007T
HK$29,903,000

2.3 Principles of consolidation 2.3 Z"ERE

(i) Subsidiaries (i) HERE
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 11‘%@7%52!&%@%75? HIERNEE
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group R(BEELEEMEER) EXAEEKS
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or Eﬁ%%%i‘%ﬁ’ﬁﬁk?ﬁﬂﬂ S H 7] # B R 2 &
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with Bk EHAIEEH R WHEHE
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns BENEREDH TSR BEZEMR
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. B AIXAEEEHZES - [WEARR
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on EHEEREASEE HRE2HLE
which control is transferred to the Group. They are B WRNERIEIEHIEE BREKILES
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. iR o
The acquisition method of accounting is used to AEBRBBBEEBRERE AR
account for business combinations by the Group (refer (2BHFE2.4)
to Note 2.4).
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised EIW”ﬂF‘EJ?c% HEHREEAR A
gains on transactions between group companies are RGABHEW ST H I - REIHE
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated %ﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁ WRRFGEEBRBRREE
unless the transaction provides evidence of an EEERBRBERRI -MEAGTNE
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting SHREEESERELAE - U#ER
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where BRAZNES B PR ER AN ALK — B ©
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 &%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

(i)

2.4

Principles of consolidation (Continued)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. The Group has joint operations.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations
and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
under the appropriate headings.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

o equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

2.3

(1i)

2.4

A W B R M R

—F - L sl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity's net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & Z —ZE— hWF+-_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEBTHBEBME(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Separate financial statements 2.5 BB HRK
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost R BB A R 2 & & & K A $0 B RLE 7|
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable B o NABIEEEREEBGIRERE - B
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are NAEIZEBE T AR RRIRE WL B & E
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend IR TH A2 AER ©

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries EREBHMNBARERKEEHFAZME
is required upon receiving a dividend from these H& SHEEE ARV BmERPIRER
investments if the dividend exceeds the total HEBLHGEVBRERATIRELERE
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period EFE(BEEE) <REE - AIZERK
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of BZEE2RER  HZEWB A AN
the investment in the separate financial statements WEETHERANR -

exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

2.6 Segment reporting 2.6 DEPWE
Operating segments are reported in a manner mENBILEREEEEREKE (2
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the BIERRE DIREZABRSE —H2H
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"). KNEHR °
The executive directors of the Company have RRABIZHITESFELZERKEEERE
appointed a strategic steering committee which g - a%é%ﬁé,\f?ﬁK%lﬁﬁ%%iﬁ
assesses the financial performance and position BARRIEH REERE - BEE S
of the Group, and makes strategic decisions. The WHEEAEEZEERRSE EE%?HT%%
steering committee, which has been identified as being # K o

the chief operating decision maker, consists of the
executive directors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB") while the consolidated financial statements
of the Company are presented in HK$, which the
management of the Group considers that it is more
convenient to the shareholders as the Company is a
listed company in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a net
basis within other losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 &%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(ifi)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on
non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

A W B R M R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

(iif)

2.8

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESTHERBEE)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment 2.8 ¥ - BERRZE(E)

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net
of their residual values, over their estimated useful
lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and
certain leased plant and equipment, the shorter lease
term as follows:

FEDRGAFAIEAFS (HWBEERE

MERERETHEREL&RE

Az

REHEFH)  UEREGEKAL
B (IBRRE FENT :

. Leasehold improvements 33% or over o THEWEEIE 33%3sk 7 HA
the lease term, (AR E BLE)

whichever

is shorter
. Furniture, fixtures and equipment  20% to 33% e RE -EERRXE 20%Z33%
. Motor vehicles 20% e AHE 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.11).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or l0ss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Intangible assets

License

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Software

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the
design and testing of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

it is technically feasible to complete the software
so that it will be available for use

o management intends to complete the software
and use or sell it

o there is an ability to use or sell the software

o it can be demonstrated how the software will
generate probable future economic benefits

o adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the software are available, and

o the expenditure attributable to the software
during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (Continued)

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises software and license with a useful
life using the straight-line method over five years.

2.10 Film and TV programmes rights

Film and TV programmes rights under production

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
carried at cost, less accumulated impairment loss. Cost
includes all direct costs associated with the production
of film and TV programmes rights.

Film and TV programmes rights under production
are transferred to “Film and TV programmes rights
completed” upon completion of production.

Film and TV programmes rights completed

Film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost,
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Amortisation for these film
and TV programmes rights is charged to profit or loss
over the period of the first release of the films and
programmes through various distribution channels,
such as theatrical release, television release or internet
release, and other licensing arrangement.

Film right investments

Film right investments are the Group’s investments
in film production project which entitles the Group to
share certain percentage of income to be generated
from the related film based on the Group's investment
portion as specified in respective film right investment
agreements but the Group has no control nor joint
control over the investments. Film right investments
are carried at fair value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Film and TV programmes rights

(Continued)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights

Licensed film and TV programmes rights represent
the Group's investment in film and TV programmes
rights licenses. The Group acquired or licensed
rights from outsiders for broadcasting of films or
TV programmes series on its online video platform
or sub-licensing the license rights to other parties.
Licensed film and TV programmes rights are carried at
cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights are amortised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of one to two years. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimation being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition

Film and TV programmes rights are derecognised
on disposal, or when no future economic benefits
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses
arising from derecognition of film and TV programmes
rights, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 &%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and/or not
available for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’'s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income
(“OCI") or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
be recorded in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There is one measurement category which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(ifi)

(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in other losses together
with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL
are recognised in other losses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(iv)

(Continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables,
see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

2.13 Financial liabilities

(i)

(i)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at
amortised cost, net of directly attributable transaction
COsts.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial liabilities (Continued)
(iii) Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within one year
and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 23 for further information
about the Group's accounting for trade receivables and
Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with
financial institutions.

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 29).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.18 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within the credit term.
Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESTHERBEE)

2.19 Borrowings (Continued) 2.19 B (&)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor
to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity
swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss,
which is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair
value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

2.20 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.
Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’'s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESTHERBEE)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax 221 VA RIEFEFR 8% (42)

(Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

The full-time employees of the Group are covered by
various government-sponsored pension plans under
which the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. Contributions to these plans
are expensed as incurred.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBERME(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 22 EEEA (&)

(iv) Termination benefits (iv) BEBEF
Termination benefits are payable when employment is AEBEEFRKNBHRIEERSSE
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement B8 B FEEE BB DA ER 3% 55 48 A1 2 A
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary BERRER - AEBERUATHRS (KRR
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group ERE)ERHBREN - QXK BEE
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the WER#HEZEREMN 2B R(D)EERER
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer BHERABE BT EREI7REER
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when Wi R MEEREN 2 B - ERREED
the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is B A EREROERT - BERER T
within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment BEEREXZEYVNEBAZGE - B
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made W B RE T 1216 A 12 B ERFE 1T A48
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination MK EERE -

benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

2.23 Share-based payments 2B UBRMDAER AR

(i)  Employee options (i) ESERE
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to AEBFERESBERESE - TRAER
employees via the Group’s employee option scheme, EHURE R B R IRZ AR E BRI
the executive short-term incentive scheme and share BRGDABERZFHMET - ZEENE
appreciation. Information relating to these schemes is HFEF BT 5E35 o

set out in Note 35.
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—hFt+=-A=

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share-based payments (Continued)

(i)

Employee options (Continued)

The fair value of options granted under the employee
option scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions (e.g.
the entity’s share price)

o excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions (eg.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period), and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (eg. the requirement for employees to
save or holdings shares for a specific period of
time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBERME(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share-based payments (Continued) 2 UBRMBABAER AR (EZ)

(i)  Share-based payment for cooperation with a film (i) H—EBHEERGEZURGBEEZ
director e
Equity-settled share-based payment for cooperation BE-—ZEXEERSEZARREEIL
with a film director is measured at the fair value of B% 0 7 BB 2 A 3% B WER S an 3k AR 75
the goods or services received or the fair value of the Z AV EEFE - SMEER S E
equity instrument granted if the fair value of goods or mek RS 2 AF{E - BIZFTIR TR RS
services cannot be estimated reliably. The share-based TEMAFEEE - BRIFEMIRFEH
payment is recognised as expenses in accordance with CERERAREE  BRINUKRGO RER
"HKFRS 2 — Share-based payment” unless the goods or Z AT AR B B T w5 2E R 28255 [ A
services qualify for recognition as assets. RO RBERZNRIBEREAXL

2.24 Provisions 2.24 #1fE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a EASERBESHARKERGEAREK
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of HEEEME MBTEEBRAETEE
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources Bmd c BB TR EihER
will be required to settle the obligation and the AEEERRABE ETSRBRERIE
amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not EEEER (A -

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the WHBRZEENUET  RERZERR
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement EUABITEENEEERESTERE
is determined by considering the class of obligations as EE - EpmREEEREH—ELIR
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood BRI Z AR A » 2 FER A -

of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of BEREEBHNREHRERTRE
management’'s best estimate of the expenditure EENT N REGTHORESTZ - B
required to settle the present obligation at the end REEREMNINE XA REE RMiZH
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to & B & B E R E R AR
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that A 2= o B BRF D 7 0 i 3 00 9 485 s e 52
reflects current market assessments of the time value ABFERAX -

of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sales
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the services may be transferred
over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer,

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the services. Specific criteria where
revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & Z —ZE— hWF+-_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESTHERBEE)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued) 225 WEER (E)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a service
to the customer, the Group presents the contract as
a contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer services
to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an

R AKERATFERRBEA - TFX
B SN S R A WA (B 3R 8 16k
FERER - BIZSER B H A SRSk IR IR
BARE (UARFPERE) BAN2IR
BHREE - ANABEAKERERTE
P Y EAE (BB E P B AERK) MR
EFBERBHEL -

P& WS R TR 17 AN £ [ 2 A LA EIR XA Y AR 16

unconditional right to consideration. A right to THREFI B ABR o fin X (B {2 B BeF [ HE 75 B
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of 2R A HERN - AJBRENEN A
time is requited before payment of that consideration SR o

is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been W N AEERES) (AT Frt) /56
met for the Group'’s activity as described below: BREERER :

Content production A B RHE

The Group invests in and produces entertainment
content such as film and TV programmes series.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
control of the entertainment content is transferred to
the customers so that the customers can direct the use
and obtain associated benefit.

2.26 Film investment income

Film investment income is recognised in profit or loss
when the right to receive payment is established.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are
paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of an
investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in
OCI if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI.
However, the investment may need to be tested for
impairment as a consequence.

2.28 Interest income

Interest income from financial asset at FVTPL is
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
and financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss
as part of other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 11 below. Any other
interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Earnings per share

(i)

(ii)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to equity owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity
other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2 FESTHERBEE)

229 BIRE R
(i) EHREXEF

BRERBANZFAREITES

BN ARBEREAR AT
(T B EBBIAINN 2 E A T4
SARA) BR A

e RUMREFEACHETEZBEBZN
BYHRGLFERABRTZEBRZ
ANTERELRBARLTEEE
EFR)

(i) SRMIRF
SIREE R AL ST SR ERRAS

FTE R 2 8iF AR I

s HmEREBELBRBMIMNENRHE
BN RN ZRAEHETE &

s BEMABEHFTLEBERE A
KRB ETZRINE BB INEF
B -

BEGHESEERAT » —E-NFFH 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #Z =%

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group is
the lessee. The new policy is described below and the
impact of the change is described in Note 2.2.

until 31 December 2018, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were
not transferred to the Group as lessee were classified
as operating leases (Note 33). Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,
and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBERME(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases (Continued) 230 HE (&)
The lease payments are discounted using the interest Tﬂiaﬁ KRR ETRE SRR = T AR
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily o AR G EFEZANE (BREE
determined, which is generally the case for leases in fﬂ‘éﬁ’]*ﬁ'li/ﬂ) - BI{sE FB A AR A Y 12
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is SEHRHE - BMERIEABA R T ELEM
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would i«f/ﬁiaiﬁqﬂ?%ﬁﬂwﬁk R R R 11
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain mHEEAEEEABEUEENEERS
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in )\ﬁﬁméiﬁﬁ)&\//\351‘fﬁ’ﬁ'JT °

a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the RETEEEFRINE  KEH -
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing EAREIER T - AR AME AR

received by the individual lessee as a starting MESHNE=ZTRE R EIE
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing LR URMBESE=TRE
conditions since third party financing was LA ZR B & % 1 A 2
received

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a o ([FRERIE HARALEENEAE
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for HEMEERR (RELEE=F
leases held by the Group, which does not have BE) ARERERAE &

recent third-party financing, and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, such as e ETHERBELNREE - fla0H
term, country, currency and security. R BExR - B KREF -

Lease payments are allocated between principal and HEMRDIPEEZEAE KUK ER - 8t

finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or HERARBBANEEENG - L8

loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant SHEBEAESRNETE BT E -

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Leases (Continued)

2.31

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received, and

o any initial direct costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are
presented within property, plant and equipment, it has
chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held
by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group's exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s
future financial performance. Current year profit or loss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group’s management monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group
through internal risk reports which analyse exposures
by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include
market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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TR RN - BT B A P

=7
s °©

B 75 [ B 5 B
3.1 I EKREE

7S B 5 B8 2R AN SR [ T I 0 B 7S LB A R
ZERR A REHARB AR HRRE
ENFE - AFENRZEMESENE
BAART  AEE—ZHHA -

AEEEREEBABRRES (ZR
SHARZEERERNEDIN) EER
EEARASELE 2 MBRER - %F
Rk 25 E R (82575 &R & F
Xmfg)  FERREREBEZAR -

AREORIATHZARELKAE
1R AR 2 B R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

BERRERE(E)

3.1 BMBEREER (&)

Market risk (a) WHERE
Foreign exchange risk () sEEEE
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s AEBEEBSRPEARLRME ([
Republic of China (“PRC") with most of the transactions Bl ))& & 275 - H R H X539 AER
denominated and settled in Renminbi (“RMB"), the SEERBCUKEEBARE(TARE])
functional currency of relevant group entities. SHEMAEE -
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of HK$ REBEFERZABERES ([E2]) K
and United States Dollars (“USD"), arising from foreign g2 Ak 2K B NS STHE R B U ER
currency trade and other receivables, cash and cash AREMEWRFIE BekBEeEE
equivalents, trade and other payables, amounts due to FERTBR R R EL A0 FE T 5RIR - IR E A
related parties and borrowings. TIRIBRMERK -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency AEERBEHRUINESBEZEEE
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities EREEGEZRABNT :
at the end of reporting period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2018 2019 2018
—E-AFE ZT-)\F ZEBE-hAEFE ZZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T BT
HK$ & (80,553) (46,958) 8,811 4,645
usb e (182,340) 1,825 1,060
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease RMB against
the above foreign currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. A (negative)/positive number below indicates
a (decrease)/increase in profit for the year (2018:
(increase)/decrease in loss for the year) where the
above foreign currencies strengthen 5% (2018: 5%)
against RMB. For a 5% (2018: 5%) weakening of the
above foreign currencies against RMB, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit/(loss) for
the year.

BERRER(E)

3.1 MBEREE(E)

(@)

(1)

5B (&)

SME RS (&)

R DT

TRFAVNAEER ARKE S L INERE
R EHNTIESR(ZZF—)\F :5%) 2
GRS o 5% (=T — \F : 5%) JhAE
BEIR A B RIMNE R 7RIS IR
AzBEELER  REREEEHIMNERE
Ku ez A BEEmEL 271G -
TEHP (BE) EEXRTE Lt s
HAREIAES%(—ZT—N\F :5%)
REZHFZ CRd) Em=T—N
F:AFEBRBZ (BN B M
Lt onEEE AR ENS (ZE— N
F:5%) AlgHAFEEHN (EBE)
BRREEEZARKER -

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

(Decrease)/increase in profit == |

o 1 yEa CACGTOVE D!

HK$ & M (2,690) (1,587)
usD e 68 (6,798)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #Z =%

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

—NETA=t—HLFE

BERRERE(E)

MBERBEERE)

(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) HHEEE(E)

(i) Interest rate risk (i) FYE =
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from REBZRERENERBESRITH
cash at banks. & o
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate AEE T AZEEFEMNEERABZ A
risk in relation to fixed-rate borrowing (Note 27). The ¥TE%IJTH (Wu£27) EEREE
directors consider that the fair value risk in relation FME TR E i HA PR A2 - i B & 5E A1) R
to the fixed-rate borrowing is insignificant as the BEEzA F#Tﬁﬂﬁfﬂi?ij{
borrowing has a short maturity period.
The Group currently does not have any interest rate AEEH I EAREATFELE SR
hedging policy in relation to fair value and cash flow ENERERHEBEONZE AR - EF
interest rate risks. The directors monitor the Group's FHEEEAEBERR  THERESEHN
exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider ZRE A EER
hedging the interest rate risk should the need arise.
Sensitivity analysis BEE DT
Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk, the RESTREMERERME © TXHERE
sensitivity analysis below have been determined based DI TIBIBER R E B RAR 2 IEHTE
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative Iﬂﬂ?ﬂ R MEE © BLFBRITFER
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For MmsE @ PWIERENRBEBR RS KRE S
variable-rate bank deposits, the analysis is prepared ZHBAEESEREBTEANG RE
assuming the amount of the relevant asset outstanding B M EE o AN D0EER (=ZF
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding —/\i C50MEEE) REREEEMTE
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2018: 50 FIEATGEH IR 2 & B E
basis points) increase or decrease represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 fisi ¥ =38 0,5 S0 E2E (= — N
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables F50EEZ) - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm“%{ﬁ’ﬂf
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year TE - REE 2 ARE R 8 0408
would have increased by approximately HK$948,000 %948,0007&:?—}\@ CRFEEHE
(2018: loss for the year would have decreased by 158 A 4 78 #594,0007T ) ©
approximately HK$594,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Credit risk

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit
risk of the Group mainly arises from financial assets,
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
assets.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is
considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be close to
zero and no provision was made as at 31 December
2019 (2018: same).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 70%
(2018: 92%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group's largest customer.

3 MBEARER(E)

3.1 MBRBRER (&
(b) EEEE

() EREHE

EERRREBEEER - AEENE
ERRIZRECHEE B2 LRE

EFE - BRENR

BHEE RERH

BRI - ZFREBROEEEN AR

Bz EEEMAR RSEER

=

Rk -

REBTREME EERRBBEESK
K ERXZHEFREERFRIT
BERGHFUAERELBED -
bt RITRENBHREE BB L XRFE
RELRE BHR_ZE-—NAF+H
=+t HYRFRER(ZT-NF:

R °

RABEERREERE AEEEEE
EZk—EGEEEEEERE 5
EHNEMERERF - ARERREIURE

T A M B A B E S = e sb -

AEER

BEMR A ZEHNER2ATKE S

B R BRI D 2 &5

BErIED

HEREIE - Bt ARFEERRAE

Bz EERBREARBEER -

HRERARERAEF 2 RIAGER
AR ARREH70% (ZF — \F - 92%) -

rEBFESETEERR

BEERKEERLE o« —2-NFFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #Z =%

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(if)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables and contract
assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It
considers available, reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information.

As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables and
contract assets that are individually significant have
been separately assessed for impairment. The Group
makes periodic assessments on the recoverability
of the receivables based on the background and
reputation of the customers, historical settlement
records, past experience and available, reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

The Group classifies its trade receivables and contract
assets by nature of customer. These include customers
from media and entertainment related business and
other customers.

—NETA=t—HLFE

BERRERE(E)

(b)

(1)

MEEER ()
EEmER (H)
REEREKEENE

AEBEZ BB HHREEIEIRNR
EXRABE T AREREESET R
o REAATRABERUEREEH
EECAZBAENEEBERE - At
EFRHEEER BRUERRAVWEE
ERBEAFRNEERREHRBHXHK
D e $§.Ei§ﬁrﬁﬁ/\$ﬁ - WHETE
TEFERRIEHEEERENIRL
EEY - TERAHEHAEAAER
TR ATIEEER

RZZE—NF+-_A=+—8 B4 A
AIERMERERRENEESEFET
WENE AEBRBREBERFOESRE
2 RBrREERs  BELRRAHE
Bl& 12 B BIRIR X 15 A RTRE 14 & &l 7
ST {ey JE U5 5Kk T8 A AT iz [0 1 o

AEEREPHOMEEHERKER LS
HMEEETOR HEPERERIRE
HEEBZEPREMER -
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(b)

(ii)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMEBERBEREE)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HEBEE (&)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) EREE(E)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (i) =HEEREIVEENREE)
(Continued)
Lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime
credit loss carrying expected Net carrying
rate amount credit loss amount
207G 2H7ES
FEFEER BEAE EEFR REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT
At 31 December 2018 W_E-N\E+=-A=1+—H
Customers from media and BRLREEEEB I EE
entertainment related business
Provision on individual basis 1R {ERIEEHEEE 0% 144,391 = 144,391
Other customers HiRF
Provision on collective basis &R EEFIREE 73% 349 (257) 92
144,740 (257) 144,483
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-hE+=A=+-H
Customers from media and EERBRLABEEBEF
entertainment related
business
Provision on individual basis ~ $R{EBIEES R 0% 111,496 - 111,496
Other customers HttZF
Provision on collective basis Rt F EES RS 73% 349 (257) 92
111,845 (257) 111,588
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

BERRERE(E)

3.1 BMBEREER (&)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) GERERE(Z)
(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (i) Z=HEEREVEEFE(E)
(Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and R+=ZA=+—8 ' BWEZRKRELHNE
contract assets as at 31 December reconcile to the ERAREBEREEPYEERESER
opening loss allowances as follows: (N
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
At 1 January ®—HB—H 257 2,175
Receivables written off during F A RN EERE M
the year as uncollectible 1 S5 B FE WK IE - (1,918)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+-—H 257 257

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off
where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same
line item.

ERBRA R B HNEENESIEHE AT
(2] f i 5 o I 4 A 72 H 2B AJ U (3 SRR EY
B esm (Eh ek BB ARERRE
B B i B KA B KRR & M Y

Eo
oA °

EUER R R & WEERRERBESK
20 A R EY R (E R IR R R - R El %k
AIMH S B AR—EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(ii)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The credit quality of the other receivables has been
assessed with reference to historical information about
the counterparties default rates and financial position
of the counterparties. The directors are of the opinion
that the credit risk of other receivables is low due to
the sound collection history of the receivables due
from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the
other receivables is assessed to be close to zero and
no provision was made as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
same).

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$256,203,000, and
short-term borrowings of approximately HK$50,000,000,
and the Group had net cash generated from operating
activities for the year of approximately HK$73,511,000 and
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$105,103,000. In the opinion of
the directors, the Group does not have any significant
liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the consolidated statement of
financial position date to the contractual maturity date.
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

3 MBEARER(E)

3.1 BERER(F

(b) EFEmRE(E)

() ZBEEREXEENWE (&)

BREBERATENEMEREE

Hits MK ENEEERIR2EER
RBBFEOERIBERANESLE R
‘L -EFTRR BREFINHZE
YRR IR B WO RO 8% R 4 - BUEL b B IR
BENEERREIE - Bt - B g KRR
HHEMEEBERLEXFHA/ARIRN
T HBR-_F-NAF+_A=1+—BY
AtRBEH (ZF—N\F  H8R) -

(c) mEBELEE

R-ZFB-NAE+-A=1t—H A&KHE
BEERE RIRNEFELE®256,203,000
7t & 52 HA 48 R 4978 #50,000,0007T © A
SEAEERERPMELEZRESFER
#) /75 %73,511,0007T © AR R HE
A N4 24 M) 40 2378 %105,103,000
T BEERR AEBYTFEMEMFE

RrnBEzRR -

TEREFAEEN SR B EREA

mAn

[ =]

BRAKXGEERDESKHEIH A FIRE
ROKMBENERERNETON - AR
BRRFEYTEA - W12 A REIEH

REREFNEREAER

BEERKEERLE o« —2-NFFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

3 MBEARER(E)

3.1 BMBEREER (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) mEEZERE(E)
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
Contractual maturities of interest ~ orless than 1-3 3months  Undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities rate 1 month months to 1year cash flows amount
REERH AR
SRARNANIER mERSHE SRR -2=fA ZEAE-%£ HenskE KEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
2018 “E-)\F
Non-derivative financial liabilities HiEcHaE
Trade and other payables ERETRAMENTE - 79,487 - - 79,487 79,487
Amounts due to related parties ERBEALHE - - 46,930 45,537 92,467 92467
Borrowings 3 3.0% 18,021 - 277 564 295,585 295,307
97,508 46,930 323,101 467,539 467,261
Weighted
average  On demand Total
Contractual maturities of interest ~ or less than 1-3 3 months 1-3  Undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows amount
ARELY R
SHEENRATER mEYHHE  HR-BR  -E=fR =fRE-% -EZF  ReNEAE ke
% HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
¥ S BT BT BT BT
2019 ZE-0E
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 £REE
Trade and other payables ERERREMERTE - 75,862 - - - 75,862 75,862
Film investment funds from investors RERBZNEY XA - - - 188,634 - 188,634 188,634
Borrowings B3 - - 50,000 - - 50,000 50,000
Lease liailties HERR 4.2% 1,445 2,890 12,998 21,404 38737 36,894
11,307 52,890 201,632 21,404 353,233 351,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2

3.3

(i)

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt
which includes borrowings in Note 27 and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt or reduction in capital.

Fair value estimation

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.

3 MBEARER(E)

3.2

3.3

(i)

EXxER

FEEEBHEER  UBEREAEKEZE
BRENBERBELE  ANEBRKE

R EmEREL  RERRERZAE
] o ANEE  ERRBARRTFER -

AEBEZEARBREGRR (BEME
272185 RAR B HE AR (B
REBRTRARSEMER) -

ARBEFERBRHAEARE - FRIL
B IEc— 80 EFZREEAKAN
REERER 2 HERR - AEBEHR
BREFRLZES  BRBTHRN
BOHMEERIBRRBEELBIRE
K FEEEEBERRERE -

AFEAE
RFEEBRE

RENR AL E RIS IR T R RIE R
FEFENERTAQFEMELH
B L fbst - RRLBEREBEERTFEMB
WABIB A EMER  AREERE
AEARESEERMTAESA=ESF
B BFEHENTNRETHAL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

3 UHRERER(E)

3.3 DREME (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) RFEEERF(E)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R FR F=& “m
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fisE BETT BETT BETT BETT
Recurring fair value BEYATFEFE
measurements
At 31 December 2019 R-E-NE§
+=A=+—-H
Financial assets CREE
Film right investments BYRERE 22 - - 99,897 99,897
As at 31 December 2018, there is no financial RZE-—N\F+_A=+—8 " #iEx
instrument measured at fair value. AEEFEZLERIEA -

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year. For
transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see (iii)
below.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

FA EE-BRB-RZ2ELERLL
FUHEAFEFEETER -F=AE
BV A KB H 20 T XX (ii)E -

AEEBRREERBRBEPRRAFE
RBERROEAREBHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives,
and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices
at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in
level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation technigues used to value financial
instruments include replacement cost.

BERRER(E)

3.3 A EMEE(E)

()

(1i)

RFPEEBRE (E)

F-R - EERMESLEENSRTA
(MAREENTETARKRAZESR)HA
FEDZERRSHRONSRELTE -
AEEFMFHEREERAOMSRER
ERERE RFTAFAE R

FoR AEEEMSLEENSRT
B (PlasssMTE T A) A FERBME
BRXREE - RFHENDEZEERAT
BERMSHE YR TERERS
EfLE - W ETARFEMFENERKR
WABBESAES  AZTAFASE
Ao

B - W-ERZEEABGAZEL
FEURBRMISHBRAER - AIZIA
ATAE=R - HRIIELTRABLEMS
ERa -

FAREE R FEREE S

AR ER TABENAEBMGES X
BREERRAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT MBRERER (&)
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AV EME (&)
(iii)  Fair value measurements using significant (i) PRAEBAXT A BRI A B 15 £ 1T 2 F1E
unobservable inputs (level 3) FTE(E=4)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TEREINF=ZREENFEEZH
items for the year:
Film right
investments
EXIRERE
HK$'000
BT T
Opening balance 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—A—BHNEBYEH 23,980
Additions HHE 15,036
Fair value gains NEE W= 137,973
Derecognition IR (176,622)
Exchange differences ME 5 = & (367)
Closing balance 31 December 2018 R-ZZE-—NF+-A=+—HWHERLER =
Additions b 105,750
Fair value gains »FERE 7,469
Derecognition IIETERR (9,553)
Exchange differences I+ =5 (3,769)
Closing balance 31 December 2019 R-B-NE+-A=+—BHWHREH 99,897
The key unobservable input includes the replacement FETAERGABBEERECHEEN
costs of the financial assets. If the replacement costs BREKA o (MBI 5% - BIAF
were reduced by 5%, the fair value would decrease by B 2 49748 £ 4,995,0007T °
approximately HK$4,995,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by
definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management
also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Revenue derived from content
production and film investment income

The directors of the Company considered whether
it was appropriate to recognise the revenue from
content production and film investment income of
approximately HK$814,425,000 (2018: HK$174,346,000)
in the current year, which is in line with the Group’s
general policy of recognising revenue and film
investment income as set out in Note 2.25 and 2.26.

In making the judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the detailed criteria included satisfying
the performance obligation and the right to receive
payment for the recognition of revenue derived
from content production and measurement of film
investment income set out in the applicable standards.
In the event where the aforementioned criteria are met
but the final statement of the relevant film has not yet
been received, judgement is required to estimate the
revenue and related costs of the film investment.

4 EBRMHFTRAE

REGAMBRRBERG A BE R
F HBRIEFERAERER - EEENKER
AEE SRR IR AE T HIE -

Rt R HI B 7 B HETT AT (G » D ERBE
KRLELRE  BEREBEBL THER
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38R -
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ARARIEEERRAFERRRE A
AREZHEREZEERALNB
#814,425,0007C (= ZF — \F : B
174,346,0007T) &= B E - RS
FE2.25 %2 26FN# A B AN & B R W =
REZEEWRAZ —BREUR -

RIEL HIE RS - ARAREZE IR
RREELEZHEMFTEEZRELA
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P T8 40 B AE K e L MRER S SR 2 HE R = i
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Classification of film investment

(c)

The Group has entered into film investment
agreements with counterparties on certain film and
TV programmes rights to produce and/or distribute
films. Judgement is required to determine whether
the Group has joint controls on these investments.
For investments where the Group has joint control
over these arrangements as under the contractual
agreements, unanimous consent is required from
all parties to the agreements to direct the relevant
activities. These investments are classified as film and
TV programmes rights under production or film and
TV programmes rights completed. When joint controls
cannot be demonstrated, the investments are classified
as film right investments. The determination of the
relevant activities under joint arrangements requires
management’s significant judgement.

Measurement of film and TV
programmes rights classified as
intangible assets, and impairment of
license and software development
costs

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of
the Company assessed the amortisation policy and
expected useful lives of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible asset, license and
software development costs. The determination of
amortisation policy and expected useful lives requires
management’s significant judgement.

—NETA=t—HLFE

4 ERMEFRAEE)

(b)

(c)
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Measurement of film and TV

programmes rights classified as
intangible assets, and impairment of
license and software development
costs (Continued)

Other than the amortisation, the directors also
assessed whether impairment indicator existed
on film and TV programmes rights completed,
licensed film and TV programmes rights that are
classified as intangible assets, license and software
development costs, assessed impairment for film
and TV programmes rights under production and
provided impairment up to its recoverable amount
in accordance with the respective impairment
assessment. For film and TV programmes rights
completed or under production classified as intangible
assets, the assessment was made on a film-by-film
basis. In respect of the film and TV programmes rights
completed with impairment indicator existed or the
film and TV programmes rights under production, the
recoverable amount of the associated film and TV
programmes rights was determined by using the fair
value less cost of disposal approach. In respect of
the Group's license and software development costs,
together with the licensed film and TV programmes
rights available for subscription on the Group’s
streaming platform, they are the essential elements of
the Group's streaming platform. Management identified
the Group’s streaming platform as a cash-generating
unit (the “Platform CGU"), which is the basis for
impairment assessment of Group's license, software
development costs and film and TV programmes
rights available for subscription. The recoverable
amount of the Platform CGU was determined based
on the present value of the expected future cash flow
generated from the Platform CGU.

4 ERMEFRAEGE)

(c) 7 HARBREEZEXRERA
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Measurement of film and TV

programmes rights classified as
intangible assets, and impairment of
license and software development
costs (Continued)

In determining whether impairment indicator
existed and the recoverable amount of film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible assets and
not included in the Platform CGU, the Group takes
into consideration both internal and external market
information, for example, the sales forecasts, the
production, sales and distribution costs budget and the
general economic condition of the relevant markets.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of film
and TV programmes rights classified as intangible
asset, license and software development costs
amounted to approximately HK$822,055,000 (2018:
HK$762,619,000), HK$275,000 (2018: HK$540,000) and
HK$11,019,000 (2018: HK$15,745,000), respectively. The
directors of the Company determined that impairment
indicator existed for the Platform CGU at year end.
In carrying out the impairment assessment of the
Platform CGU, the directors of the Company adopted
the income approach using the discounted cash flow
forecast (“DCF”) which involved key assumptions
including discount rate of 24% and terminal growth
rate of 3%. Based on management’'s assessment, no
impairment provision to be charged to film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible assets,
license and software development costs during the
year (2018: same). Changes in assumptions used in
this assessment, including the forecasted revenue,
may result in additional provision being made in the
consolidated financial statements.

—NETA=t—HLFE
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Estimated impairment of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights

At the end of each reporting period, the management
of the Group assesses whether the impairment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights based
on the contract terms of the agreements, estimated
budget of the proposed production and the progress on
how the prepayment has been used.

Based on the management’s assessment on the
recoverability of prepayments of film and TV
programmes rights, the directors of the Company
determined that no impairment provision to be charged
to prepayments of film and TV programmes rights
during the year (2018: same).

Loss allowances of trade receivables
and contract assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and contract
assets are based on assumptions about risk of default,
expected loss rates and forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company use judgements
in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the calculation, based on the past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking
information at the end of each reporting period. Details
of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1(b).
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REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT 5
INCOME

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and film investment
income for the year, net of sales related tax, is as follows:

WmRkELREVRA

FA-AEENEEREZRERA (R HE

SHREHB) MO T :

2019 2018
—®-nE —Z)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue W25
- Share of box office income —DMHERERA 787,256 12,761
- Sub-licensing of film and TV programmes — 9 & &Ex &K EHE
rights 3 11,858 22,978
— Other media related revenue — H i 15 B8 48 B Uk & 7,842 634
- Others —Hfh - 286
806,956 36,659
Film investment income BERERA 7,469 137,973
814,425 174,632
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 DEER

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
who review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. The CODM has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure
of profit/(loss) before tax and considers all businesses to be
included in a single operating segment.

The Group’s operations are currently organised into one
reportable segment which is investment in film and TV

HITEFEWHAA/E
EHNAKENABERS - 5
ER TBRERR

e
TERLEDED °

= e
2K
=

BREE BE
A EE R D
RECREZETHREE

ITBREARAREENERBANEHN, (BB
Mt EFEEE  TEERIMAE-—KED

EBEOPT B XA

AEBNEEEBRAREA—EAI2HD
M AETLERERERE - Ao HA

programmes rights. Other segments do not meet the
reportable segment threshold and thus they are not
separately included in the reports provided to the CODM.
The results of these operations are included in the ‘others’
column.

HEAERNDAPHREER R W E|AELR
HTITIBEREARRENRSPEBZ - %
EXRBOEEFTATEMLIA -
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 TDEER (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AREFIRKERAIEROEIMEI D 2 WE K
results by operating and reportable segments: EEOWWT :

Investment in film
and TV programmes

rights Others Consolidated
&%ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ%?ﬁﬁ Hitr ey
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-hE -\ ZE-NE T\ ZB-RE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'OOO HK$'000 H\K$'OOO HK$'000 H‘I,($'OOO
B¥Tr AT B%Trn BETr B¥%Tx BT
Segment revenue a1l 6
Revenue Mlﬁé
- Share of box office income AEERE WA 787,256 12,761 - - 787,256 12,761
- Sub-licensing of film and AEREYRERE
TV programmes rights i 11,858 22,978 - — 11,858 22,978
- Other media related revenue Hih g A 7,842 634 - - 7,842 634
- Others —Hf - - - 286 - 286
Film investment income BYLAKA 7,469 137,973 - - 7,469 137,973
814,425 174,346 - 286 814,425 174,632
Timing of revenue recognition W i e R By
At a point in time -k Fﬁi!iﬁ 806,956 36,373 - 286 806,956 36,659
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/ (ER) 279,417 (244,921) (4) (521) 279,413 (245,442)
Unallocated corporate expenses A2 E 2 ¥R (93,095)  (165,026)
Finance costs, net HHER FE (134) (15,796)
Profit/(l0ss) before tax BREADREF/ (BE) 186,184 (426,264)
Income tax expense FEERS (81,081)  (18,429)
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERF/(BR) 105,103  (444,693)
Other information (included  Et&EH (G AY 2
in measure of segment A/ (E8)
profit/(loss)) Mt E)
Share-based payment for H—REYERG{EL
cooperation with a film director AR BER ZH = - (270,000) - -
Other income H g A 21,371 32 - 10
Depreciation of property, ER S
plant and equipment & (1,120) (1,164) (1) (1)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEE & (4,639) - - =
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 2 5 (4,837) (5,027) - =
Amortisation of film and EF LERBIRE
TV programmes rights 2EH (466,342) (80,477) - -
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BER
plant and equipment R ER - (29) - -
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—NETA=t—HLFE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 oEHER (&)
All of the segment revenue reported above was derived from ERMEDBREEIREINGEF o
external customers.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the #e i EBET A 2 2 TR B 2T AR A [
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note SRR - HEEF, (BE)ESS
2. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) from HegEF, (BE)  BXESERSREZE
each segment without allocation of unallocated corporate AX (EE2REETITHRRIRELEEF
expenses (which mainly include certain administrative B)RMBER - D ASRERKTHERSE
expenses and net foreign exchange losses) and finance MAEESLERAREERNTEEE -
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and RO EROHENDCAEBEERBEDN
liabilities by reportable segments: wm
Investment in film
and TV programmes
rights Others Consolidated
ERERBRERE Het RE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NfF T\ ZE-hEFE ZT-\F ZE-NE ZT)\&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BBt B¥%Tn BETr B¥TR BB
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE 1,765,711 1,685,455 117 182 1,765,828 1,685,637
Unallocated assets APEEE 89,678 7,912
Total assets EEESR 1,855,506 1,693,549
LIABILITIES =L
Segment liabilities SEEE (631,521)  (786,380) (3,898) (3,959) (635,419)  (790,339)
Unallocated liabilities APEAE (89,857)  (244,542)
Total liabilities BEAE (725,276) (1,034,881)
Additions to non-current assets * 2B IERENE A 129,209 28,117 - -
3 Other than financial assets and deferred tax * TEESREERELERIE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segment other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain
right-of-use assets, certain other receivables and
certain cash and cash equivalents; and

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segment other
than certain other payables and certain lease liabilities.

Entity-wide disclosures

Geographical information

The Group’s current operations are mainly located in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue and film investment
income net of tax is presented based on the location of
the operations of the relevant business units. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial
instruments) by geographical location of the assets are
detailed below:

A W B R M R

E-AFT=AST—ALEE

DEER (EF)
THMEEREE(E)

&

RERDMERBRREDBENEER

- HMBEESEZAZ2HOH HETY
%‘Jﬂ?‘%& 1% ETHERREE &
THMEKRFEARETRERRESE
BRON B

- FMBERESIEEFIZHOM HEETH
N RERETHERGRIN

ERSEEARE

ith B2 E #)
AEERENEBSEZMRFRRED °
AREE 7 RFELEFZREWA (NKFHE)E
PR ES B EEHME 2T - R EE

sl o AEEERBEE (TREIESR
TER)ERFBOT :

Revenue and film

investment income

Non-current assets

KBEREZRERA IRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F Z=ZEB-hF ZZ—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T BT
The PRC R 814,373 174,346 532,316 277,478
Hong Kong BB 52 286 105,989 136,476
814,425 174,632 638,305 413,954
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEER(£EZ)
Information about major customers FEEXEFER
During the year, revenue and film investment income FR - HAEEBKZREZRERAETR
derived for the customers contributing over 10% of the total BI0% . BEFEE 2B RELRERANR
revenue and film investment income of the Group are as T
follows:
2019 2018
—B-hE —T)\&F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Customer A ZEA 787,256 -
Customer B! = FB! - 82,977
Customer C' EEC - 47,780
U The revenue and film investment income was derived from ! W R BEZREWARE P EHE R & ERBE R
investment in film and TV programmes rights in the PRC. ERE -
Assets and liabilities related to contracts HEFENERNEERERS
with customers
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AEEBEHRAUNTHEHREFEHNEENEER
related to contracts with customers: BE:
2019 2018
—E—NEF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 BET T BT T
Contract assets BHEE (i) 2,364 5,220
Loss allowance BB - -
Total contract assets BHEERT 2,364 5,220
Contract liabilities aHaE (i) 279,250 528,652
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts
with customers (Continued)

(i)

Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, contract assets represented
unbilled revenue arisen from the sub-licensing of
film and TV programmes rights in accordance with
the payment terms as stipulated in the respective
contracts (2018: same).

As at 31 December 2019, contract liabilities mainly
represented the receipt of RMB250,000,000 (2018:
RMB464,000,000), equivalent to approximately
HK$278,831,000 (2018:HK$528,233,000), in respect of
a guaranteed minimum distribution income totalling
RMB600,000,000 (2018: RMB700,000,000) from
distribution of a film. This contract liability has been
released and repaid subsequent to year end (please
refer to Note 38(a)) (2018: recognised as revenue
subsequent to year end). The amount disclosed above
does not include variable consideration which is
constrained.

Changes in accounting policy

The adoption of the new leasing standard described in Note
2.2 had the following impact on the segment disclosures in
the current year.

6 THEH(E)
HEFAENARANEERER(F)

() ENEERAERHEALD
R=B-nE+=A=+—0 &4
IR ARR A AT XA R 2

SEH R B SIREE £ R R B

—F—\F :HERD -

\
’

R-ZEBE—NE+=-_A=+—8 &4
BEFEERBITPEFYZ2RER
T A A £ A K #600,000,000 7T (=
=T — \4F : A R#%700,000,0007T) 4
Bz A R #250,000,0007T (=& — N\
F : AR #464,000,0007T) (488 R4
75 #278,831,0007T (= — )\ & : B ¥
528,233,0007T)) - ZAHEBERNFE
ERBERG REE (B2 HEWES38E))
ZE-N\F REEEREERBK
=)o LXBWEZSBITBEEZREDN
AJERAE -

Wl

(.

ERBEREH

R T2 2P # AT HEER M AREFERZN
MEBEEEWNT -

Increase/(decrease)
®in,/ O 2)
Segment Segment
Depreciation assets liabilities
e DEEE PHBEME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ok ok ST T
Investment in film and B RERE
TV programmes rights hix 1 1% &
— The PRC — A 4,639 15,646 15,890

Comparative segment information has not been restated.
As a consequence, the segment information disclosed for
the items noted above is not entirely comparable to the
information disclosed for the prior year.

AW E DS AR - Bt - 5 ERIE A
BEZHBERL L THEFREL S
BHELL B -
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7 OTHER INCOME 7 HMwA
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Government grant (Note) B 78 B (B 5%) 21,371 -
Sundry income ESIE PN - 42
21,371 42
Note: During the year, a government grant of approximately MEE : & A - BURT 6 B A9 A R #518,464,0007T (18 & 7
RMB18,464,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$21,371,000), #97 #21,371,0007T) B3 H BB AT 55 HH o 5% f B
was received from the PRC government. There are no unfulfilled PR A i R ER R (RS o fth s B =18 -
conditions or other contingencies attaching to this grant.
8 OTHER LOSSES 8 HMEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net foreign exchange losses X R FE (2,311) (505)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEDE  BENERE
plant and equipment Wz (EBE) 5 (29)
Gain from bargain purchase (Note 36) KEZEBEE 2 W (MHEE36) - 188
(2,306) (346)
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EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 EMESEIzZHX
2019 2018
—E-hE T N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt &% BT T BT
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EE®&MH X (B
directors’ remuneration and BEEEHRARG B
share-based compensation) B 7 E ) 10 46,110 38,045
Directors’ remuneration (excluding EE2HH (T BREBENUKRS
share-based compensation) RER 2 FHM) 14 25,199 21,056
Share-based compensation AR 15 & EE W 2 3
— Directors —-E5% 14 - 28,129
- Employees —EB 10 6,430 57,239
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment — M BE KRG 17 2,244 2,361
- Right-of-use assets —EREEE 18(b) 14,091 -
Short-term lease expense EHAERAX 18(b) 2,754 -
Operating lease payments in PN E Y R AR E
respect of office premises and BT E MR
photocopying machines - 15,481
Legal and professional fees FEREEEA 8,615 12,692
Travelling and entertainment expenses 2= ik & FE BB &= 9,351 10,476
Advertising and marketing expenses BEENEHEES 43,274 25,245
Amortisation of intangible assets B EECHEE 19 4,837 5,027
Amortisation of film and B REBRBIRE
TV programmes rights 2 HE 5 22 466,342 80,477
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B R0 BN &
- Audit services — BRI 3,150 2,670
— Non-audit services —EEZRTE 365 30
Others Hih 14,410 15,868
Total cost of revenue, selling and Wat 2 A~ SHE K
distribution costs and 2 88 A AN A
administrative expenses TR %8 647,172 314,796
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 HZ—ZE—hEF+_A=+—HILFE
10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EEEAHEZ (FTEBIEESHH)
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION)
2019 2018
—EB-NF —F-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Wages and salaries TEKFH® 39,622 32,724
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  R{R &K A — 55 2 2 st 2| 5,789 4,677
Share-based compensation LARR 15 7 E 1 2 %7 6,430 57,239
Others EHb 699 644
Total employee benefit expenses EERMAZ AR 52,540 95,284

(a) Pension costs - defined contribution (@) BAREHE—1FEAMKGE
plans
Contributions totalling approximately HK$482,000 WS BR FE (R R BB 40 A8 482,000
(2018: HK$38,000) were payable at the end of reporting T (ZZ— N\ : B%38,0007T) °
period.
Five highest paid individuals (b) EEEEMEAL
The five highest paid employees of the Group during FR-AEBREESHESEEBTEAR
the year included two directors (2018: two) of the NEMBES (ZE—N\F WE) &
Ccompany, details of whose emoluments are included in B BN T X144 - FAEBR=
Note 14 below. Details of the remuneration for the year HExmeEE (ZE—NF:=&)Z
of the remaining three employees (2018: three) with FEFBOT
highest paid are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-AF —E—)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BETRT BT T
Salaries and other benefits e REMBER 6,138 4,697
Performance related bonus RRIBEE W ZIEA 1,547 391
Share-based compensation VARS 0 3 EL 1 2 % A 3,331 31,612
Pension costs - defined contribution plans iRk & kA8 — 45 5E i 3K 5+ 2 36 36
11,052 36,736
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

10 Es?ﬁﬂﬁﬁfi (TERESHFMH)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS'
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEBEEME AL (&)

FMNFUATHENRSMEEE (G
RABESR) BT -

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands are as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)N\F
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 752 000,0017T 2 7% #2,500,0007T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 75 #2,500,0017T 2 7 3,000,000 1 =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 75 5,500,001 7T £ 78 # 6,000,000 1 =
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 758,000,001 7T 2 7% #£8,500,0007T - 1
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 75 #9,000,0017T £ 7 9,500,000 - 1
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000 & #18,500,001 T £ & # 19,000,000 - 1
3 3
11 FINANCE COSTS, NET 11 MKEER  F8
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Finance income B A WL A
Bank interest income RITH BULA 3,036 701
Finance costs BKkEA
Interest on borrowings EEACAPSS (2,339) (6,612)
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on HNEE 18 SR EE 5 Uz (85 48)
foreign currency denominated borrowings  E%E 761 (9,885)
Finance charges for lease liabilities HEaBZUBRY
(Note 18(b)) (P 5E18(b)) (1,592) -
(3,170) (16,497)
Finance costs, net MKBER FE (134) (15,796)

BEGHSEERATE o —E-NFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

12

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied
on the PRC sourced income on foreign entities without
establishments or places of business in the PRC.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities have incurred tax
losses (2018: same).

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for the group
entities that are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI") or Bermuda as they are exempted from tax (2018:
same).

Income tax expense charged to the profit or loss represents:

12

FrigBip <

REBFBECEMBHE(TREMBHRED &
EEMBHIERGS B =TT N\F—A
—HE  PERBARZHER25% °

REBEEEMBTE  AARRPEBEARIH
BREXGMHINEERBAMERIFR T
FE AR ABAR10% FAFO L -

M 4F E 2 BB MBS R R MG BRB S A
AT E16.5%TH - HREREEERELD
HER MY BERNGEAWBRRARETEN
BRELEEB(ZT—N\F : BR) -

HRERBEBARHERNARENILZEER
ERENGHR AR EIZEFEEEES
BEBEHIMNFH(ZFE—N\F : HE) -

FRABEAEHATE

2019 2018

—2-nE —T)\F

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Current tax BV HAR 18 81,145 18,429
Over-provision in prior year BEFEHERE (64) -
81,081 18,429
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12 FR8BiEAxX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to REEZHEHASTEGEE=RREMER
the profit/(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of WasR ZBRBIATER, (B18) HERMT -

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\EF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T ok
Profit/(loss) before tax BRFLRTR T (EE) 186,184 (426,264)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REARSERF,(E18)
applicable to profit/(loss) in the ZEM M RAE 2 f1E
respective countries 51,126 (66,470)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose Nl AEMNHR 2 H X 2,560 65,822
Income not taxable AR 2 A (560) (187)
Utilisation of tax loss previously AR ARER 2 IBEE
not recognised (568) (1,279)
Tax loss not recognised RIERZ TIEEE 13,242 20,549
Withholding tax TEHFL 15,287 -
Over-provision in prior year BT FEBREEE (64) -
Others H Ay 58 (6)
Income tax expense Fri5 i < 81,081 18,429
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 27.5% (2018: IEFHERMRE B275% (T — \F:
15.6%). The change in weighted average applicable tax rate 15.6%) - MEFHERBER 2 EHEERAH
was mainly caused by a change in mix of profits earned or SEEEMRIENSMEEEENHES S
losses incurred by the group entities. Bl if EBY o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 13 XRBXENBEREFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued Effective economic
operation and kind share capital/ interest held
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital by the Group
i/ SERER BRARE/ rREfE
EREB EEERER TBEH EMERZEE ERQHEESR
2019 2018
ZE-pE TN\
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture The PRC, limited liability Film and TV programmes RMBB0,201,750 100% 100%
Media Company Limited & company rights investments AR %80,201,7507
IREBZENEEAR AR mE - EREEAA SYRERBIRERE
Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment The PRC, limited liability Film and TV programmes RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited @& company rights investments AR 100,000,000
BEZE (RE) W RERR AR mE EREEAT Y REREIRER
Taizhou Huanxi Culture Investment Company ~ The PRC, limited liability Film and TV programmes USD29,899,965 100% 100%
Limited (14 company rights investments £$29,899,9657T
ANBEXRERRA A mE - BREAEAA B REREIRER
Guangdong Sinofocus Media Limited W& The PRC, limited liability Film and TV programmes RMB50,000,000 100% 100%
BERPEERERAR 20 company rights investments AR #50,000,0007C
mE - EREEAA SYRERBIRERE
Gain Flow Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Streaming platform USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
JERERAB AR company development ERITEBR
ABERRES/ MEBTARE
& ARAA
Power Thought Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Film and TV programmes USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
NEREEB AT company rights investments ERITEER
ABERRES/ EE REREIRER
&% BRAR
HX Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited Film and TV programmes HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
HERE(BA)GBRAH company rights investments BEATLER

&5 BRAT

TYRERIRRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

13 ARFAETEMBRAFE (E)

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued Effective economic
operation and kind share capital/ interest held
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital by the Group
iR/ SERER BRIKRE/ rEEfE
EEER EEERER TEEE EMERESE ERGERS
2019 2018
ZE-hE —T)\E
Wiz Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of management ~ HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
ZMERAR company services to the Group AEEITLER
&k BRRA mASERHERRE
Graceful View Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
company RAER T L AR
ERERRES/
& BRRA
Sinofocus Media (Holdings) Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Investment holding and USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
PEER(ER)ERAT company management ERITERER
RBEBRES/ RAERRER
&% ARAA
Huanxi Entertainment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
BERL(RH)ERARA company RERR EB10,000 LB &
&% BRAH
Huanxi Media Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
BEZRREERAT company REER BEATERER
&k BRAA
Joyful Sky Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
ERERBRAF company RAER ERTL AR
ERERRES/
i BRRA
Mansford Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
company RARR ERTLAR
RBEBRER/

&E BRAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

13 XA ETEMBRAFE (E)

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued Effective economic
operation and kind share capital/ interest held
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital by the Group
iR/ SERER BRARE/ rEEfE
ERER EEERER TEEE EMERESE ERGERS
2019 2018
ZE-hE T)\E
Kingbox Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited Investment holding USD48,137 ordinary shares 100% 100%
company RERR F208 137 T EBR
ZBERRES/
&% ARAR
Century 21 (HK) Group Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
21 EAEBERAA company RERE BEATL AR
&% ARAA
Century 21 Property Agency Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of property HK$2 ordinary shares 100% 100%
HENDEBRAA company agency and related services B2 EER
&% BRAA in Hong Kong
EEAREMERE
RAEBRE
Century 21 Surveyors Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of property project  HK$100 ordinary shares 100% 100%
2 A TER A company consulting and related BEI00T L AR
&% BRAA services
REWZERFA
REBRE
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company The PRC, limited liability Film and TV programmes RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Limited @1e6) company production and investment A &%10,000,0007¢
IRBEER L BRAR @ 1 mE - EREEAT SYRERMERERRE
Beijing Hangaohua Network The PRC, other limited Provision of internet RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Company Limited ¢4 liability company audio-visual AR 10,000,000
IRERERERBEERARF RO e AtEREEAF programmes services

REEBRSREHA RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(1

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned enterprises of
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate body under the PRC Law.

This subsidiary is registered as wholly-owned enterprise of
foreign-invested corporate body under the PRC Law.

This subsidiary is registered as an enterprise invested/controlled
by natural persons under the PRC Law.

The English name for the PRC subsidiaries are for identification
purposes only.

These subsidiaries are controlled by the Group by virtue of the
contractual agreements effective from 19 January 2018. Beijing
Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited (“Beijing
Subsidiary”) is a wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong
or Macau corporate body in the PRC. The Group operates a
streaming platform in the PRC through contractual arrangements
with its affiliated PRC entities, Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Company Limited and Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology
Company Limited (the “VIE Group”). Beijing Subsidiary has entered
into a series of contractual arrangements with the VIE Group and
their respective shareholders. These contractual arrangements
enable the Group to (1) have power to direct the activities that
most significantly affect the economic performance of the VIE
Group; (2) receive substantially all of the economic benefits from
the VIE Group in consideration for the services provided by Beijing
Subsidiary; and (3) have an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in the VIE Group at the minimum price
permitted under the PRC laws, when and to the extent permitted
by the PRC law, and request any existing shareholders of the VIE
Group to transfer all or part of the equity interest in the VIE Group
to any entity designated by the Group at any time in its discretion.
The Group believes that its ability to exercise effective control give
it the rights to receive substantially all of the economic benefits
from the VIE Group in consideration for the services provided
by Beijing Subsidiary. Accordingly, as the primary beneficiary of
the VIE Group and in accordance with the HKFRSs, the Group
consolidates their assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash
flows in the consolidated financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 December 2019 which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length. None of
the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
year end.

13 ARFAETEMBRAFE (E)

ZEMBARREHRBIAPIEM R GBEEA
BELE -

ZMBARREBETBEAGIEMAIERELE
ENBEDRE -

ZMBARREBERBEEDNEIMAERARE
EREE -

HEMBARZ EX R EEHRS2E -

ZEMNBARAARBEEREE_ZT—N\F—H
THHRERNE K GHEZER - EREBXE
XeEEBAR QA (MERMB AR B —RH
RAEBENEERENBERLE NEEEBE
HfEPREERIERBREERULAER AR R
IERESEREHEAERAR (VEKE] ME
WLRHFENTBEEE —ERERT S - LB
NAEBRVERE  URBERBRRTL K
BT - ZFANRHLSAKERIANE
BOESHVERB 2 RERAELERERTE
BB B (QRIVIES [ HR 48 X B0 5 48 B U &
ERIERMB R RERE 2KE: RQFH
BREER UERBERAMZRKERGE
N BPREEAFZREERERVERE
2 EBak AR AR AR - I B SRVIES BE fr 3R AE R
[ 7N % [ B B B 15 45 0 2 (] B8 R VIER [H
ZEHRREOBRE - AEERR  EHTRE
I 122 1| < 75 A ) VIE SR B W HR A8 K 50 0 4
Wak - ERIL R E A AR RS K E -
b ERVEREMEIEZHEA  RREEBH
BHREEA AKERRELEE BFE &
BRENASREEFRAVBRRTHEEFTE -

ERFSIARRR_F-NF+_A=+—
BZHMBERR AREERABAEEZE
RREERATIEXENRR - BEINEM
MBARFE ESRSSERRBERT
- BEARRBNN B R RRFRETEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 14 ESzEFkER

(a) Directors emoluments (@) E=EM=
The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid AEBENKEMNARARE S
and payable by the Group are set out below: S ¢
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-ZE-hF+-A=+—HLEE
Pension costs-
defined
Salariesand  Performance  contribution  Share-hased Total
Fees  other benefits  related honus plan  compensation  emoluments
g4k RERER  BHERK- WRBA
he Rt EH LR BEBRTH EBzEm goug
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

BRI BBTT B¥TR BB BRI BETT

Executive Directors #iEs
Mr. Dong Ping ERiLs 260 1,548 3,500 - - 5,308
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note i) RS 4 (B3H) - 15,173 3,500 18 - 18,691
Sub-otal Nt 260 16,721 7,000 18 - 23,999
Non-Executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Ning Hao EitfE 240 - - - - 20
Mr. Xu Zheng RELE 240 - - - - 0
Sub-total INef 480 - - - - 480
Independent

Non-Executive Directors BuknfEs
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen EERid 240 - - - - 240
Mr.Li Xiaolong ZERE 240 - - - - 20
Mr. Wang Hong (Note i) T L5 4 (i) 79 - - - - 79
Mr. Sl Tuong Sing, David (Note v) RERRE (Hith) 161 - - - - 161
Sub-total NGt 720 - - - - 720
Total 4 1,460 16,721 7,000 18 - 25,199

184 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED e Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

14 ESEC2E@ANRERS (Z)

(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) ESBE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-ZFZ—-N\FE+-A=+—HLEE

Pension costs-
defined
Salariesand  Performance contribution Share-based Total
Fees  otherbenefits  related bonus plan  compensation emoluments
FER BRE  BERERA- Wk A
e Hfp i B BREHNEE ER2EM HeBE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
BETL BB BB BRI AETT BRI
Executive Directors YrES
Mr. Dong Ping EVRA 20 1,505 3,000 - 2557 7322
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note i) 84338 % £ (i i) - 11924 3,000 18 5,572 40514
Sub-total gt 260 13,429 6,000 8 28129 47836
Non-Executive Directors FiTES
Mr. Ning Hao g p 20 - - - - 210
Mr. Xu Zheng RELE 240 = = = = 240
Mr. Gao Zhikai (Note v) Bt (fzk) 149 - - - - 149
Sub-total gt 629 - - - - 629
Independent BUFdTES
Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen EERTE 240 - - - - 20
Mr. Li Xiaolong ZERE 20 - - - - 210
Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David RERLE 20 - - - - 210
Sub-total gt 720 - - - - 720
Total @t 1,609 13,429 6,000 8 28,129 49185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

14 EEC2E@ANRERS (Z)

(a) Directors emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME (&)

Notes:

(i) The performance related bonus is determined by reference
to individual performance of the directors and approved
by the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”).

(ii) Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven is the chief executive officer of
the Company and his emoluments disclosed above included
these services rendered by him as the chief executive
officer.

(i)~ Mr. Wang Hong has been appointed as the director of the
Company with effective from 2 September 2019.

(iv)  Mr. Su Tuong Sing, David has ceased as the director of the
Company with effective from 2 September 2019.

(v) Mr. Gao Zhikai has resigned as the director of the Company
with effective from 15 August 2018.

For the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments for the
year (2018: same).

GEX

() BRBEBERZEALADBEREERBEARR
EE BRARAFMEES (FME
g #bAE -

(i) TABBEER/ANRABITHAE LA
BEHEE B BEEETRARME
HERBMEZ 2L -

@iy FUERECEZERARBAES B
Z-NFARAZHREN -

vy HEBRELEEHEARRESE 8-F
—NEAAZHRER -

v BEEEEHERARRES B-F
—NFNATHEBERER -

FAARERERTAESEMNEM
e AMERIMAREB R IMNAREE R
ZREHAELBEBME - FR SEE
EREEAME (ZZ—N\F : HE) -

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) ESHRAKER
None of the directors received or will receive any FA - BEEEYE S R E AR
retirement benefits during the year (2018: nil). KER(ZZE—N\F: &) o

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c) EEHRBER
None of the directors received or will receive any FA - B S YIS A = YO A fa]
termination benefits during the year (2018: nil). BEf(ZT—N\F: &) -

(d) consideration provided to third parties (d) BERHESEEOFE=SFRMH

for making available directors’ services.

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration
to any third parties for making available directors’
services (2018: nil).

KR E

TR AEEYRERHKANE SRS
MAEAE =D ZHRE(ZT-N\F:
&) -
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A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and

(f)

other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2018: nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 37, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Group was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year (2018:
same).

15 DIVIDENDS

Neither dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the
year, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2018: same).

14 ESEC2E@ANRERS (Z)

(e) BRALUES - ESZEFNEER

(f)

HAEERASHANER 8
UERREMARZHER

FA BEAES EFEHHEER
HAEERASEAMA LEMER -
BUERREMR SR (ZF—/\F:
&) -

EERRS RBEHIESHUNEKX
R

PRITEES7TAT B E SN RERKERE
AEHE > YEEMEARESERAR
AMEERNEPEER D (BREEK
KEF) MAKREXEHEHEBANEFREX
X5 REREH(ZF—\F R °

15 KB

RARFER WERN - 5IKSKEZ IR ER

ey

MBS HERE  TEEZZIKNE

RS (ZE—N\F : HE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

16 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 16 SRER (&)

(a) Basic (a)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Ex

FRERRBF,(BE) DRAREAES
AT (B1R) (T8 5 EEARIA
SN 2RSS R AR AN ) R A B B 4R 2
NEHTEBRZ NEFHREE -

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners RABHEE AEEEF
of the Company (in HK$'000) (E518) B FT) 105,103 (444,693)
Weighted average number of ordinary AUEHESRERR
shares for the purpose of basic and BERRN(BE) 2
diluted earnings/(loss) per share T B AR hnkE T £
(in thousands) (F&) 3,104,743 2,812,850
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FREARRAF(FHB)
(in HKS) (BT 0.03 (0.16)
(b) Diluted (b) #58

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as basic
earnings/(loss) per share as there were no potential
dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the year
(2018: same).

HRAFAMEEEECHTUEZE
B BREERT, (BB BRERE
ABRMN,/ (BR)BER(ZF—-N\F 8

A -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 Y% - BERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
FE-£E
HEMEHE &S] "B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BET T
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—-HF—H
Cost XA 4,026 2,024 3,934 9,984
Accumulated depreciation ZEtIfE (2,160) (796) (1,111) (4,067)
Net book amount REFE 1,866 1,228 2,823 5917
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z—N\&F
+-A=+—HLEEFE
Opening net book amount HARE A 1,866 1,228 2,823 5917
Additions gl - 332 - 332
Disposals HE - (47) - (47)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) HEER (K:9) (1,140) (434) (787) (2,361)
Exchange differences B ER (42) (37) - (79
Closing net book amount HARRE S E 684 1,042 2,036 3,762
At 31 December 2018 R-E-\E+=-A=t+—H
Cost D% 3,900 1,980 3,934 9814
Accumulated depreciation ZETIE (3,216) (938) (1,898) (6,052)
Net book amount REFE 684 1,042 2,036 3,762
Year ended 31 December 2019 HEZE=-ZF-hfF
+ZA=1+-HLEE
Opening net book amount B REEE 684 1,042 2,036 3,762
Additions 25 1,483 467 1,294 3,244
Disposals & - - (165) (165)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) HEER (fi:9) (980) (431) (833) (2,244)
Exchange differences EHERE 9 (15) (20) (26)
Closing net hook amount HARREFE 1,196 1,063 2,312 4,571
At 31 December 2019 RZE-hE+=ZA=+—H
Cost PR A 5,333 2,413 4,687 12,433
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (4,137) (1,350) (2,375) (7,862)
Net book amount REFE 1,196 1,063 2,312 4,571

Depreciation charge are included in administrative expenses
of approximately HK$2,244,000 (2018: HK$2,361,000).

WEEMFT AT A78%2,244,0007T (=

T — \4F : B¥2,361,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

18 LEASES 18 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is AWEEHT ANEBESEBAZAELSE -
a lessee.
(@) Amounts recognised in the (@) REEMBRRERERZEHE
consolidated statement of financial
position
The consolidated statement of financial position show REPBRARES EEERENSE
the following amounts relating to leases: N
As a lessee ERAFA
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
—E-hF —ET-nF
+=-A=+—A8” —H—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T S’ T
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
Properties ES 36,079 29,864
Equipment B 18 39
36,097 29,903
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current e 15,897 8,899
Non-current R ED 20,997 21,004
36,894 29,903
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year FAREBETREEENDRABE
were approximately HK$20,875,000. 20,875,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

18 LEASES (Continued) 18 A& (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in the (b) RizeEBEREMEEWGERE
consolidated statement of profit or loss RZEH

and other comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other eEBEkEMERRERENNEEE
comprehensive income show the following amounts HEmS|N T

related to leases:

2019
—E-hF
Note HK$'000
M 5 BT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAREEZHEEH
assets
Properties ES 14,070
Equipment B 21
9 14,091
Finance charges (included in finance costs) AT GEABKER) (i 1,592
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEERERS
(included in administrative expenses) (GFATTE R S) 9 2,754
The total cash outflow for leases for the year was FRHEFAERBNRSRHBEN A
approximately HK$17,631,000. #17,631,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

18 LEASES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The Group’s leasing activities

The Group leases offices and equipment. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Termination options

Termination options are included in a number of
property and equipment leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s
operations. The majority of termination options held
are exercisable by both parties.

18 ME (&)

(c)

(d)

REENHEEERE

AEEHERRERERRE HEAORE
FR] R3FHEE AR

AR BERRENEEE TR 825
BT M R R « B A AR
FRE AR ERER  AERET
A E 25 « FRE EET G M
AR -

R

AEEZEDERRBEHERBSRL
o ZERIANEEEAKRERKZ
BFRMNEEREAERSZLERT
T o PRI RIEEARB D AT RETITE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BEEEE

Software
development
License costs Total
U BAEBEA Fob o]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T
At 1 January 2018 RZE—-N$—H—H
Cost (%N = 23,352 23,352
Accumulated amortisation 2t - (2,335) (2,335)
Net book amount BRHEFE - 21,017 21,017
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE T N\#F
+TZHA=+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount H R EFE - 21,017 21,017
Additions i - 334 334
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 3¢6) Utk Ft & 2 & (Fi13T36) 842 - 842
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BHEER (ME9) (269) (4,758) (5,027)
Exchange differences b =5 (33) (848) (881)
Closing net book amount HIRARE FE 540 15,745 16,285
At 31 December 2018 RZFE-—NF+=H=+—H
Cost (PN 799 22,494 23,293
Accumulated amortisation 2 (259) (6,749) (7,008)
Net book amount IR FE 540 15,745 16,285
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE=-Z—-hF
+t-A=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount H ¥ BR EF B 540 15,745 16,285
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BB R (M) (264) (4,573) (4,837)
Exchange differences N E (1 (153) (154)
Closing net book amount HARREFEE 275 11,019 11,294
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-AFE+=A=1+—H
Cost BX A 783 22,037 22,820
Accumulated amortisation S fic (508) (11,018) (11,526)
Net book amount REFE 275 11,019 11,294

Amortisation charge are included in cost of revenue of
approximately HK$4,573,000 (2018: HK$4,758,000) and —F— J\4F : $%4,758,0007T) K& 1T
administrative expenses of approximately HK$264,000 (2018: #9785 86 264,00070 (== — J\ £ : B #269,000
HK$269,000). To)e

B 55 5 SRt AME 2 AN 4978 #54,573,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 #Z¥ERIEIoHWER I A

The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERFETIEfIA :
2019 2018
—E-AE —ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: RHEEK AT ENSREE ¢
Trade receivables FEULAR R 109,224 139,263
Other financial assets H Mz @ HK AT =
at amortised cost WEeREE 11,449 234,972
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 256,203 158,528
Financial asset at FVTPL: BEAFEAABRZERMEE
Film right investments B MRERE 99,897 =
476,773 532,763
2019 2018
—®-hE —FNE
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REBHK AT ENCHAE
Trade and other payables JE T BR SR I H A JE S R IR (75,862) (79,487)
Film investment funds from investors REKEENELRERIE (188,634) -
Other borrowings H Ath 5 3K (50,000) (295,307)
Lease liabilities HEBE (36,894) -
Amounts due to related parties FEMREANLTFHIE - (92,467)
(351,390) (467,261)

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period

is the carrying amounts of each class of financial assets

mentioned above.

AREE B S & T A AR Z R E R EES.1
BT - REMRORAEERRKO A L
EHeREEMNKMEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

21 PREPAYMENTS FOR FILM AND TV 21 EXRERBRERLTR
PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
2019 2018
—B-hE —EN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Prepayments for film and B RERB RETEN (M)
TV programmes rights (Note) 350,976 358,248
Prepayment for film director’s fee BB E B TEN R (M aE37(b))
(Note 37(b)) 11,731 11,974
362,707 370,222
Note: The prepayments for film and TV programmes rights represented Mz B RERBRERMNRERAEBRE Y X
the prepayments made by the Group to respective parties in BRI ERESEEZBN R *?zﬁéﬁm;h
relation to the film and TV programmes rights. The prepayments %ﬁk$$l%ﬂ$u§§ > K BAREI & & 2 56
will form part of the contribution by the Group for the investments AHE - HBEZEHE TR RSB % —
in the proposed film and TV programmes rights. The related terms FHEE °
will be further agreed between the respective parties upon the
signing of the agreements.
22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXRERBIFE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT
Film and TV programmes rights BT 2 B & ERBIMRE
completed (Note a and b) (Mtzrakb) 542,788 10,246
Film and TV programmes rights under SUER 2 B N ER B R iE
production (Note a and b) (M sFakb) 259,633 734,296
Film right investments (Note ¢) B RERE (Misc) 99,897 -
Licensed film and TV programmes B2 B R ERB R E
rights (Note d) (Bt 5Ed) 19,634 18,077
921,952 762,619
Less: Current portion B BNEREL (803,514) (744,542)
118,438 18,077
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #Z =%

—NETA=t—HLFE

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXREGCBEREE)
(Continued)
Filmand TV  Film and TV Licensed
programmes  programmes film and TV
rights rights under Film right  programmes
completed  production investments rights Total
BERAZEY HETLEY ERECEY
RERERE RERERE E¥HRERE RERARE fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BETT BT
At 1 January 2018 W_E-\E—f-H 10,779 471,603 23,980 22,743 529,105
Additions b1 = 346,155 15,036 27,554 388,745
Fair value gains AFEkRR - - 137,973 - 137,973
Transfer 54 49527 (49,527) - - -
Amortisation B (48,970) - - (31,507) (80,477)
Derecognition (Note €) &R (Hiske) - - (176,622) - (176,622)
Exchange differences ERERE (1,090) (33,935) (367) (713) (36,105)
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-NE#+=A=t+-H 10,246 734,296 - 18,077 762,619
Additions by 4,630 520,958 105,750 18,435 649,773
Fair value gains AFERS - - 7,469 - 7,469
Transfer a5 988,410 (988,410) - - -
Amortisation 3 (449,903) - - (16,439) (466,342)
Derecognition (Note €) &R (Hiske) - - (9,553) - (9,553)
Exchange differences BEHZEH (10,595) (7,211) (3,769) (439) (22,014)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-h&E+ZA=1-H 542,788 259,633 99,897 19,634 921,952
Notes: B o -

(a)

As at 31 December 2019, the film and TV programmes rights
completed includes a film right of approximately HK$349,907,000
in respect of a film Lost in Russia (A#5). On 26 February 2019,
the Group i) entered into a film production agreement with
Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication Co. Ltd. (Jt RE 4438
XALEE AR AR (“Beijing Joy Leader”), a company which is
owned as to 51% by Mr. Xu, the non-executive director of the
Company, as the production house of the aforementioned film
at a consideration of RMB30,000,000 and requested Beijing Joy
Leader to sign contract with independent third parties (“Third
Party Contracts”) on behalf of the Group in relation to the film
production provided that the total amount of Third Party Contracts
did not exceed RMB100,000,000 and ii) entered into a film director
agreement, a producer agreement, a screenwriter agreement, and
an actor agreement with Mr. Xu, the non-executive director of the
Company, at a consideration of RMB27,000,000, RMB10,000,000,
RMB10,000,000 and RMB40,000,000, respectively (Note 37(a)).
Such costs have been capitalised as the film and TV programmes
rights. Please refer to the Company’s circular dated 23 May 2019
for details.

@)

—T-hAF+-A=+—H EZKZE¥
REGERERFEAEZ(BG HENER
Hi HE 4978 #349,907,0007T - R = — L &FE = A
—+x8 AEE EELL?E%Z%VE’A?&?
Eéﬁé@wuﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ Al(tRE#E]) (K

T#iﬂﬁ%%«%ﬁ%i%ﬁﬁﬁ 751%&&/\>

IV EBEREERZE - R ER A RS30,000,000
oW BRI RBELERRASEEEB I F
—HEEHZEYEEHENER ([F=4
AR EE=ZFERMASERATBBEA
R %100,000,0007T © Ri)E AR FFEHITESE
BREEFTVEEERAGE EHERBE -
mEERAGEEREEERGZE RESFA
A K #27,000,0007T + A K #10,000,0007 * A
R %10,000,0007T & A K #40,000,0007T (Fff 5
37(a)) ° ZEKANCEER R EEEIMIERT N
B - ‘ﬁfﬁpﬂ&wﬁﬁw AIEHAE=ZT
—hNWERA=-+=Bz&

196

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED e Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2018, the film and TV programmes rights
under production included a film right with production cost of
approximately HK$428,074,000 in respect of the production of
a film, Crazy Alien (RIEHSNEA), in the PRC, which has been
released in 2019. On 30 December 2016, the Group engaged a
production house, an independent third party, for the production
of the aforementioned film at a budgeted cost of RMB400,000,000,
including the service fee to Jiayi Movie which is chargeable based
on 5% of the total production cost of the film and film director
fee to Mr. Ning, the non-executive director of the Company, of
RMB30,000,000. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
Jiayi Movie is an independent third party and Mr. Ning does not
have any interests in the contracts or transactions in connection
with the production of such a film other than his role as a film
director. An amount of approximately HK$5,862,000 was paid
to Mr. Ning as the aforementioned film director’s fee and was
recognised as film and TV programmes rights under production
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (Note 37(a)).

The balance represented the Group’s investments in film
productions which entitled the Group to predetermined
percentage of income to be generated from the films based on
the Group’s investment portion as specified in respective film right
investment agreements.

The balance represented the acquired license rights from
independent third parties for broadcasting licensed films or TV
programmes series on the Group's streaming platform (Note 19) or
sub-licensing the license rights to other independent third parties.

During the year, the Group has recognised film investment income
amounted to approximately HK$7,469,000 (2018: HK$137,973,000)
based on the Group's investment portion as specified in
respective film right investment agreements.

During the year, the Group has entered into certain joint operation
arrangements to produce and distribute four films (2018: four). The
Group has participating interests ranging from 50% to 57% (2018:
50% to 57%) in these joint operations. The aggregate amounts
of intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position relating to the Group's interests in these joint
operation arrangements are approximately HK$49,811,000 (2018:
HK$50,803,000).

22 EXRERBIRE(E)

Myt : (&)

O RZFE-NF+-A=+—B BETZE¥

RERBIRERFEEETEEMEL

SNEAY(BERZ=ZZT— NG LB HEA

CRIEH)

= B
V& 7

R

HE B B 7R 49 7% #5428,074,0007T ° A — T — X
F+-A=1+A AEEZE—EEEQE(—
EBIUE=ZF)RELREY RAEEAA

X #400,000,0007 * BE MRS ER

i 2 BR

BE (RERFEBERARZ5%TE) RAAA T

ZHATEREEEAINZERE
B HE

BERERIN

2

30,000,0007T © K AR E =
ME=F MELERIEE

REARY

EREZHRAZANARZ P A EE(ANE
B 7 % 5t 4 2 49 78 #55,862,0007T 1F & £ 3CAT
MZBHERE  RELBERNBE_FT—/\F

T-A=+T—BLFEERREEPLZ

BB R (K 5E37(a) °

=82/

B R

© HEREBEAFREREZEUEZRE  REMEE
BEYIRBEREGBMERAZASBIRA LG -

AEBERZALEEZANLESR

EEZIRA -

B %

) ZAERERBUF=7ERBEENFAIRE B
REASERNRER T & (HE19) 8 RER 2
BEXXERE  KAEMBILE =72 K:F

A -

) WREEEEZIREREHEMEPAZAERIE
B REBMPERNEREZIRE WALS
#7,469,0007T (= F — A\ F : /& #137,973,000

JT) e

® FR AKEBFVETEEEBLTHUEE
REANTEY (ZZ—)\F M) - A&H
RZEEEEBR 22 HBER N T50%E57%
(ZZ—\F : 50%=E57%) ° W AEBRZEA
BEBLTHZEZESRAVBRARAER
B EENBSENAEL,811,000T (ZF

— J\4F : 7 ¥50,803,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 EWRAKREMEKRRE &
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS RS
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Trade receivables JiE UK BR 3k
— Sub-licensing of film and — D REBEZR
TV programmes rights B 15 B iR i 2,816 2,946
— Film investment income —BEFEEBEWA 106,316 136,225
- Others —HAth 349 349
109,481 139,520
Loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)) BB B 45 (FT 7£3.1(D)) (257) (257)
109,224 139,263
Deposits B 6,287 6,219
Prepayments (Note) TEAT R (B5E) 124,874 1,575
Other receivables Hh jE IR 19,933 229,856
151,094 237,650
260,318 376,913
Less: Amounts due within one year B BIE—F AR H Y
shown under current assets MBEELSHE (155,120) (371,305)
Non-current portion SERNERER 105,198 5,608
Note: The prepayments mainly represented the prepayments made it ZEBRNREEREAEBLINEABLIE=78
by the Group in relation to acquisition of licensed film rights ENRREEERE 2 EXRERNAREBNR
from independent third parties for broadcasting on the Group’s e SRR -

streaming platform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 EWRAREMEKRRE &
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS REMSRE)
(Continued)
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are FEWER R R B fE W I ~ e RTEN R TD
denominated in the following currencies: AR5 EHEETHE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T PEEE T T
RMB AR 249,966 371,611
HK$ B 6,579 4,411
usD & 3,773 891
260,318 376,913
The credit period is generally within 30 days from invoice B H s EE BT A% = HE
date or the date when the settlement statement is duly EHEMKREERERZ BE0ERA -

confirmed as stipulated in the respective agreements.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade RTZA=+—H  EBUYRZK (R EE R
receivables, net of loss allowance, presented based on BV IR BN EEREXBEHEY 2 EEHD
invoice date or date of settlement statement are as follows: HEn :

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E—)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BEET T BT T

0 — 30 days 0£30H 3,976 139,170
91 - 180 days 91%2180H - 93
181 — 365 days 181£365H 11,364 =
Over 365 days 365H LA £ 93,884 -
109,224 139,263
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Other receivables pledged as security

As at 31 December 2019, the Group does not pledged
any other receivable as security.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged other
receivables amounting to approximately HK$223,133,000
to several third parties to obtain borrowings amounting
to approximately HK$220,364,000 and has retained late
payment and credit risk. Thus, the Group considers the
held to collect business model to remain appropriate
for these receivables and continues measuring them at
amortised cost.

Fair values of trade and other
receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current
receivables, their carrying amounts are considered to
be the same as their fair values.

23 BWRRRAEMEBWRIR - &S
RFEMKE)

()

(i)

ERP/ERNEMEWRFR

R-E-NAFE+-A=+—H Xx&E
1L R E R M SRR B HE AR o

R-E-N\FE+-A=+—H Kx&E
BERZEE =77 EHHEMEKRKEAY
& 223,133,0007T LA BUAS fig 349 75
220,364,0007T -+ I {R B 8 B 1 X Je {5
ERk - Bt AEERSFAZRE
MEBRABZERYGIAN = DB E
B YWHEREHNAE EETE -

P B 3 TR 2t RO 2
P

BN EVE WG IR I E R - H
REERESEEAFEMER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 BERREEE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cash at banks RITIRE 256,152 158,483
Cash on hand BEAENES 51 45
256,203 158,528

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following RekBReFEBTATHEEE :

currencies:

2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T 7S ¥ F T
HK$ i 3,753 321
uSD e 1,825 1,060
RMB AR 250,625 157,147
256,203 158,528

Bank balances and cash comprised of cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing
ranging from 0.01% to 0.35% (2018: 0.01% to 0.30%) per
annum and have original maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has cash and bank
balances amounting to approximately HK$249,429,000 (2018:
HK$158,189,000) which are held in the PRC. These cash
and bank balances are subject to the rule and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

RITESRMREBRAEEMFERE LR
7 F0.01%%0.35% (= — A\ F : 0.01%E
0.30%) Z FAM =G EBERINME /=K
AR Z FESRITE -

RZE-AF+_A=+—H x&H
FEARNTEFENRSERITERD
7 #249,429,000C (ZZE—\F : B
158,189,0007T) ° % FM & KIRTTAEERZ + B
B 98 ) SNE B BDEFDEBIRE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 BENERERRHEMENSFIE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Trade payables FEFBR 3R 67,851 64,377
Other payables H b & 5 IE 10,314 15,208
Accruals EEr &R 15,695 18,440
93,860 98,025
The carrying amounts of trade and other payables FENERLEMENZTENEREEE N E
approximated their fair values. BEHREE -
At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables RT+-_A=+—8 ENEZRENZEZAH
based on invoice date or date of settlement statement are as NEERRBHB25 ZRESTWOT ¢
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
0 — 30 days 0£30H 23,483 28,111
91 - 180 days 91£180H - 17,685
181 — 365 days 181£365H 3,246 5,630
Over 365 days 365H A £ 41,122 12,951
67,851 64,377
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following FE ST BR 20 I EL b E (5 2008 T4 DA T 51| S kA
currencies:
2019 2018
—E-AF —T—)\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
RMB AR 70,747 70,983
HKS S 23,096 27,042
usb = 17 -
93,860 98,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 &%

FILM INVESTMENT FUNDS FROM
INVESTORS

The amounts represent investments made by certain
investors in respect of film rights held by the Group. In
accordance with the terms of the respective investment
agreements, the investors are entitled to recoup their
investment amounts as appropriate by the predetermined
percentage of income to be generated from the theatrical
release of the films. The financial liabilities were measured at
amortised cost.

26

A W B R M R

—F - L sl

KEREENEXRERR

ZHREE TREENAKE M EF RE
FHHRE - REEBEREWZENGR - &
BEARBESHBEBEESRNRE LRAES
WARMBEE L I B B E 2R (WER) -
ZETRBEDLBEHERATE -

BORROWINGS 27 &R
2019 2018
—E-hE SAG:
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Other borrowings Hfh &=
Secured Vi - 220,364
Unsecured KR 50,000 74,943
Total borrowings BB % 50,000 295,307
As at 31 December 2019, the borrowing was interest-free RZZE—NFE+_A=+—"H ZEXER
and repayable within one year. BRBER—FANERER-
As at 31 December 2018, all borrowings were RZE—N\F+_A=+—8 "  IEEFRE
interest-bearing ranged from 0% to 12% per annum and BN FO%E12%2 FMEFEIL N —F
repayable within one year. The secured borrowings were MEE - B 15 30 B H M FE G IE K8 4
secured by other receivables accounting to approximately 223,133,0007C {EH # ©
HK$223,133,000.
The fair values of the borrowings are not materially different ZEBRNATEEERAETEERNE

to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on
those borrowings is either close to current market rates or
the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

2 HTHERZSFEFTNENNEEIRT
TSN RGERBEREE -

BEERKEERLE o« —2-NFFRH

203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

28 DEFERRED TAX 28 ELEBIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$357,513,000 (2018: HK$323,228,000) available
for offset against future profits of which the amount of
approximately HK$292,216,000 (2018: HK$252,690,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely and the amount of
HK$65,297,000 (2018: HK$70,538,000) will be expire in five
years from the year of assessment. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of these tax losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and the management does not consider probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately
HK$25,767,000 (2018: HK$7,379,000) have not been
provided for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$257,673,000 (2018: HK$73,787,000) in the PRC. The
unremitted earnings are used for reinvestment. The income
tax liability is not recognised, because the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

e N N SH ) I o B 0 o o e
K {5 A 7% 7B B5 18 & B 357,513,000t (=
T — )\ £ : 5 1323,228,0007T) * H A H
#) 7% #6292,216,0007T (Z T — \F : B ¥
252,690,0007T) A R AR A 88 | 3 LA 1
65,297,0007T (= — J\4F : % #70,538,000
L) KB MEERT AFERNER - BRZ
EHEBERELEEBE —BRREOKBA
A BEBEERBBRBRETAIGEELERNT
A AT IR - M B E R IEE
BRAERLEHBEE

B PR 1S T B B #) 8 #25,767,000T (Z F
— )\ : #%7,379,0007T ) I £ 5L B 2~ A9
A BE HH 2 7 49 %8 #257,673,0007T (ZZ —/\
% 1 B¥73,787,0007T) 1A B FE A 2 TR HI AR
AHREE - RELBNNIIARBRE - 7
MEERTER ZRAEEEREGEE
mEEECKEARKEZEENA R RRER]
EETEEME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & Z —ZE— hWF+-_A=+—HILFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 B
Number of Share
shares capital
BB EE [N
HK$'000
BYT T
ordinary shares EiE R
Authorised: SEE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, RZE—\&—HA—HB 22— /\&F
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019, +=-A=+—8 —Z—hF—A
at HK$0.01 each —BR_ZE—hE+_A=1+—
H  SREESE001T 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—H—H 2,768,055,408 27,681
Issue of ordinary shares for cooperation - ?'-E%Z’rr EEEMELT
with a film director (Note 35(a)) 2Rk (HEE35(@a)) 150,000,000 1,500
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H 2,918,055,408 29,181
Issue of ordinary shares (Note) BITE B (H ) 236,600,000 2,366
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZB-AE+=ZA=+—H 3,154,655,408 31,547
Note: During the year, the Company entered into the subscription fisE : R - ANA R EFHRIRZETT R 0 Btk

agreement with Maoyan Entertainment, pursuant to which
Maoyan Entertainment has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue to Maoyan Entertainment, 236,600,000 ordinary shares
(“Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$1.6507
per Subscription Share (the “Subscription”). The gross proceeds
and net proceeds to be raised from the Subscription are
approximately HK$390,556,000 and HK$390,000,000 respectively.
The Subscription was completed on 19 March 2019.

HIRIRZE T BRI R

BERE MARAEA K

14 [R) 5 [F) 94 R 4R 42 1% 15 AR 3R B AR 19 75 15 1.6507

TCL R
Bml) (T3
BHERFED
390,000,0007T °
+RBEMK °

RBEE]) ©

RS (B0 3 R 317236, 600 000R% & 3m A% (3R
RIEEIES KA

Bl B 4 7 %90,556,00075 Ko 7 ’#%
REEHEER-_Z—NLF=A

BEERKEERLE o« —2-NFFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w0 I R Ak W R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

30 RESERVES 30 f#E
Attributable to owners of the Company
NG 2PN {1
Share-based
Share payment  Translation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve  losses (Note) Total
IRBAER 2itEE
R aE NEPAA ] EifE (Hi&E) a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BRI BETT BB BETT
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NF—F—H 1,974,993 = 57,376 (1,267,833) 764,486
Loss for the year ~EEER - - - (444,693) (444,693)
Other comprehensive loss L2 EER - - (44.174) - (44.174)
Total comprehensive 0ss for the year rFEZABREE - - (44,174) (444,693) (488,867)
Transactions with owners: HEBEANRS :
Issue of ordinary shares for H-2BYERAEMEN
cooperation with a film director LERR 268,500 - - - 268,500
Share option scheme: e HE R
- value of services provided -BREREZER - 85,368 - - 85,368
268,500 85,368 - - 353,868
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\§+=R=+-H 2,243,493 85,368 13,202 (1,712,576) 629,487
At 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-F-H 2,243,493 85,368 13,202 (1,712,576) 629,487
Profit for the year AEE T - - - 105,103 105,103
Other comprehensive loss EzAER - - (29,971) - (29,971)
Total comprehensive income/(l0ss) rEERENE/(FR) 48
for the year - - (29,971) 105,103 75,132
Transactions with owners: BEFANRS:
Issue of ordinary shares, BILER(RRSRE)
net of transaction costs 387,634 - - = 387,634
Share option scheme: LR
- value of services provided —BREREZER - 6,430 - - 6,430
387,634 6,430 - - 394,064
At 31 December 2019 R=B-hE+=B=+-A 2,631,127 91,798 (16,769)  (1,607,473) 1,098,683

Note: The capital reserve arising from the Group reorganisation
represents the difference between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company in exchange for the aggregate
nominal values of the share capital of the subsidiaries amounted
to approximately HK$2,099,000 (2018: HK$2,099,000) is included in
the accumulated losses.

The contributed surplus represents the aggregate amounts of
capital reduction and share premium cancellation attributable
to the capital restructuring and the capital reorganisation of
the Company-during prior years amounted to approximately
HK$149,220,000 (2018: HK$149,220,000) is included in
accumulated losses.

M SREEAEECEARBIEAR B RRBM
BRBBRAMBETZEAZEELEFEMNER
BB T B 2 Z B 4978 #2,099,0000T (=&
—\4F : #%2,099,0007T) - 5t A RFHE1E

BEABBEARNARBAFTFERARBRAZE LR
AEHEEEZERNY R REG S B ENR
& B4 1149,220,0007T (=T — )\ 4F : B
149,220,0007T) ' sF A RETEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

31 CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) 31 REFTEHEE (FERH)2HRHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Profit/(loss) before tax BRBLATRR(BE) 186,184 (426,264)
Adjustments for: LTI FIEFHE :

Depreciation of property, MZE - BEREZEIINE

plant and equipment 2,244 2,361
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECITE 14,091 -
Amortisation of film and B R EGB R 2

TV programmes rights 466,342 80,477
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 2 4,837 5,027
Share-based payment for H—REBEYERAIEZ

cooperation with a film director PARR 7 7 B 1 2 1P 3K - 270,000
Non-cash employee benefit expenses FEEEBAFAS-

- share-based payments AR 0 A E R 2 3k 6,430 85,368
Finance costs, net WBEA - ¥ 134 15,796
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME BMENEHZ

plant and equipment (Uezk),/ B8 (5) 29
Gain from bargain purchase REZEBEE 2 W - (188)

Operating cash flows before BESZHAEI 2
working capital changes KEIRERE 680,257 32,606
Changes in working capital: BEESE
Trade and other receivables JE W AR SR % H A E U R IR 108,259 (346,915)
Contract assets BREE 2,853 (5,414)
Film and TV programmes rights B R EHE RE (641,903) (332,386)
Prepayments of film and B N EHR B RETE R

TV programmes rights (3,608) =
Trade and other payables JE 1 BR SR % E A A SRR 2,008 41,994
Film investment funds from investors REREENE R ERIE 195,752 =
Contract liabilities EHEaE (247,685) 548,235

Cash generated from/(used in) REEBFEEL(RA)
operations ZHE 95,933 (61,880)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

31

32

CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) 31 KREZTHFMELE (EHA)2BE$
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (42 )
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from RéFEBHERERAN HEWE  BERR
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: BB RIBERIE
2019 2018
—g-hE —F)N\&
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T PEEE T T
Cost disposed & AR 520 327
Accumulated depreciation ZEHinE (355) (280)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, LEDE BMEMREZ
plant and equipment Wz (E518) 5 (29)
170 18
CASH FLOW INFORMATION 32 ReREER
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a) REMETBHZEEHER
financing activities
Interest Amounts due
payable to related
included in Borrowings parties Lease
other payables (Note 27) (Note 37) liabilities Total
FEff
FARMER ER BEALRE
BZERAE (H3¥27) (H3t37) HESE )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BRI BRI BB BRI

At 1 January 2018 RZE-/\E-HA-H 160 77,500 120,000 - 197,660
Financing cash flows BERENE (2,307) 211,503 (21,868) = 187,328
Accrued interest expenses EfsRx 6,612 - - - 6,612
Exchange differences EizR (164) 6,304 (5,665) - 475
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NETZR=T-H 4,301 295,307 9,467 - 392,075
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-7E-5-H 4,301 295,307 92,467 - 392,075
Financing cash flows HERSRE (6,713) (243,036) (97,528) (14,877) (362,154)
Acquisition of leases hERE - - - 50,778 50,778
Accrued interest expenses Eifls R 2,339 - - 1,592 3,931
Exchange differences ERER 73 (2,271) 5,061 (599) 2,264
At 31 December- 2019 RZB-AE+ZB=1-H - 50,000 - 36,894 86,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (Continued)

The table above details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

Material non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group has transferred
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
amounted to approximately HK$5,787,000 (2018:
HK$17,710,000) to film and TV programmes rights.

Non-cash investing activities

32 BEREEH (&)

(a)

(b)

REMETB2EEHR(E)

ERFIIARNEERAREEHEL AR
e ERRSLIRSEY - BER
BELZABEREAEIARKRAER
EXNAEEGEARERERTOER
RETDEEZREREZAR

EXFRERS

FA AEEEEHBEZ RERER
T T8 5 F A 75 #55,787,0007T (= F — )\
& : 7 ¥17,710,00070) 2B X K ERE
hR 4 ©

HHEERELE

2019
—E-hF

HK’000
BT T

Acquisition of assets by means of leases NEERFARAWEEE

50,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B o W B R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

33 OPERATING LEASES

The Group leases various offices and equipment under
non-cancellable operating leases expiring within nine
months to three years. The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms

of the leases are renegotiated.

From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use
assets for these leases, except for short-term and low-value
leases, see Note 6 and 18 for further information.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under

33 KeMHE

=

=/
&K

AEERERNEAZ=FIHz A&
HREHEERZENLE
HEABTRES  8EHFAR
Ao EHEE - ARAE ZGFIK T AERE

Rim-BH
K BT RE

B-_ZT-AF—-A—Hk XEBEEHZZ
ME(EHEEREEEHEERIN) #REM
BEE E—TERNFLHMFTORMES -

RBEHR  AEERTAIHEZLEHE
PR 51 BT B B R 2 R R R AR TE A9 15 R

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: YEZEHET
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year —FR - 15,334
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFRLF (BREEEME) - 20,243
- 35,577
34 COMMITMENTS 34 EiE
(@) Commitments (a) #¥E
2019 2018
—E-NF —F-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T PEEETT
Commitments in respect of the REERBIEETZ RERE
acquisition and production of film IRFEFTIEZ EIE(DETH
and TV programmes rights contracted il R R4 BT 15 & B 48)
for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements 285,644 250,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

34 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Litigations

(i)

A court action was commenced in the Chengdu
Intermediate People’s Court on 29 April 2018 by
Chengdu Watson Media Co., Ltd.* (the “Chengdu
Plaintiff”), an independent third party, against
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company
Limited* (“Shou Ying"), an indirect wholly-owned
company through contractual arrangements, and
other 17 investors of the film Us and Them (&R
79 F:1M9) (the “18 Defendants”).

By the above action, the Chengdu Plaintiff
alleged that the 18 Defendants through unfair
competition adversely affected the box office
receipts of the Chengdu Plaintiff’s film during
the release period of the film Us and Them (1 2k
RIF ™). The Chengdu Plaintiff mainly requested
the 18 Defendants to compensate a total sum of
RMB10,000,000 and bear the relevant legal fee
and reasonable expenses arising from their legal
rights protection.

Subsequent to the year end, the court action was
withdrawn by the Chengdu Plaintiff and the Group
was not liable to any compensation.

* The English name is for identification purposes only

34 E¥E(E)

(b) FFR

() R-FE-N\FHA-t+IH BI
FZTRBERCERBRA
Al (TACER R & 1) IR &P T AR AL A
RERY AR F —FBEBENOLH
ME2EHAENRALERERES
M EBRAR ([REEBR]) A
REZ(EXNKRFIHEM+ £
2RET ([T N\BRED R —
TR ©

RIE LA - BREETN\S
5 E R (R RA IR AT DR 23
B ATNEEBRFTETRBRE
MERER WS - KBREER
EBRTNBREBEAHRARE
10,000,000 T W A EH R A E K&
RAEEHREEINAES N -

REFBERRE - RS RHEEZF
7 MASBEBFELEAEE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

34 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Litigations (Continued)

(i)

A court action was commenced in the Wuhan
Intermediate People’s Court on 29 November
2018 by Wuhan Guangya Culture and Art
Development Co., Ltd.* and Huang Gansheng*
(the “Wuhan Plaintiffs”), independent third
parties, against 17 investors of the film Us and
Them (1828 % 1), including Beijing Huanxi Shou
Ying Culture Company Limited* (“Shou Ying”) (the
“17 Defendants”).

By the above lawsuit, the Wuhan Plaintiffs alleged
that the 17 Defendants infringe of the right of
adapt and film the script of the film Us and
Them (&R & F M) and damage the interests of
market through filming Us and Them (14%&%
/). The Wuhan Plaintiffs mainly requested the 17
Defendants to stop the reproduction, distribution
and dissemination of the film, compensate a
total sum of RMB70,000,000 and bear the case
acceptance fee and other legal fees.

During the year, the lawsuit was settled and the
Group was not liable to any compensation.

* The English name is for identification purposes only

34 EE(E)

(b)

SN,

(i)

RZZE—N\F+—H=Z+NB B
VE=ZFREXRTULEMER
BERARERBEZE((RERS])
REZEMPRARZERE S (R
REBRMDOTERIZERS - K
BIELTBEEEELER AR
((BEaw)) ((+ttaHEE)) R
H—IBERA °

Rig LA - RERSHE TS
RERBEFZ A (RENEFDOIT
REREZR (R BIAH
HimELBRE BEETS
e REREETEERTLRWE
FUERFROER  BITRER &
E& £ A K #70,000,0007T 37 74 4
REXBEEREMHFRE -

ZAFAERNFATE  MAKEH
FIELE(REE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A W B R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Total expenses arising from share-based payment

35 RGO AER 2K

RERERZABNBER N FESE

transactions recognised during the year were as follows: W BT :
2019 2018
—E—-hF —E—)N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt BT T BT
Share-based payment H—FELE RS IEZARD
for cooperation with a film RER 2 3 (M sEa)
director (Note a) - 270,000
Share-based compensation VAR 15 75 E 6 2 S M
(Note b) (Mt 3EDb)
— Directors —E=F 14 - 28,129
- Employees —EB8 10 6,430 57,239
6,430 355,368
(a) Share-based payment for cooperation (a) Eﬁi BEFEESEZURG A

with a film director

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into an agreement (“Agreement”) with
Unique Swift Limited (“Unique Swift”) and Mr. Zhang
Yimou (“Mr. Zhang”), whereby the Company issued
150,000,000 ordinary shares to Unigue Swift and
pursuant to which Unique Swift has conditionally
agreed to procure Mr. Zhang to provide the Company
(or its designated group member) with certain
investment rights for the film and TV programmes
to be produced by Mr. Zhang or partially directed
by Mr. Zhang within a period of 6 years. The shares
granted vest immediately on grant date. On this date,
the market value of the shares issued is recognised in
the profit or loss as a share-based payment.

# iz

BHE-_ZT-NF+ZA=+—HLF
B AEEEEZERAA ([HE])
MR&EHRLAE ([REgE]) T HE
([Hpa%l) » B AR R [ MEZEET
150,000,0000% & @A - MmMESRE B &
R B R L A EOF HE AR AR
Al (KEEBENEEKE QR RHHER
FERENBOARLERNENER
BERBEINETHRERE FIRTZROHR
BREBHNSSEE - NZAH BT
Bipz mEEBRFBRAAURN AE

2 AR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual
general meeting held on 17 June 2014, the Company’s
shareholders approved the adoption of a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme became valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on 17
June 2014. The Company operates the Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who have made or may make contribution
to the Group. The eligible participants of the Scheme
include the Company’s or its subsidiaries’ directors,
employees, and any business consultants, agents,
financial or legal advisers and any other persons whom
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
may determine, at its sole discretion, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group.

The share options may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time within the
period commencing from the date of grant of the share
options and expiring on the date determined by the
Company’s directors, but in any event such exercise
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date
of grant of the share options. The amount payable on
the acceptance of a share option is HK$1 (or such other
nominal sum in any currency as the board of directors
of the Company may determine).

The exercise price of the share options shall be
determined by the board of directors of the Company,
but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

35 URGDAEER AR (E)
(b) FERAESHE

RER-_F-OFAT+EHETZ
BRERBFAG LBBIREER AR
PR AL R — IR BB i a8 ([R& T
g2 -zZt#a—E—mESAT+LE
REEMRER BRI+ F - ARBR
Mazat 8l DU I 22 R B AR kAl
HAKEELERCAERSRE - &
Bz R ERSRE BB AA R REHK
BREIZER  RBE  UNREMREE
A~ RIEA - BB SORERERE RARF]
Exe((E5g)U2ERNBERRYEAR
SERELEMKEFL TR ERE

AL o

BRETEROBREZAEEAAF
EXBETZH HEABRRIEZE
B IGRTR T ATTE - MERZTT B B TR A 247
BT A REBE L ERERE 2 B
AATFE-BRMNBREEMSESRAEE
TL(XARREFTEG A BEEE 2 AEM

EEFEZEMRIEESE) -

BREZTEEALARAESTSEE
EABERATZERSE - (AR AR
RN A (BAREER) R
BRI 2 W& - (DA 2RO R
SR M A BT R E S X AR
WERME 2 FHRME  R>NAR R

o Z E1{E °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

The maximum number of shares in the Company in
respect of which the share options may be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the Scheme by the Company’s
shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), or, if
such 10% limit is refreshed, as at the date of approval
of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit by
the Company’s shareholders. Notwithstanding the
foregoings, the maximum number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company already
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all the share
options granted to each participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date such new grant is
not permitted to exceed 1% of the total number of the
Company’s shares in issue as at the date of such grant.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this 1%
limit shall be subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting.

Each grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company or any of their respective associates
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

35 URODABER 2SR (E)
(b) BRAESHE (&)

RIRFZ AT 8 A1 B (Efa] E A fE B T
SR RE I th 2 BRI S R AR R ) B £
e AT FHBERNA BRI EZ
AEIERARF R HITRAE10% (5
EIRERE]D - HMHZI0RBLEE
¥ AN SHEB AR B R E
AEIREREE BARRE HITHRAN
10% - BEA LR TE @ RIBEZFTE R
AREEAEAMBRET S DR EE R
RITEZ B BREETER A TET
ZARBBMNERSHE TEBEBARR
T B EITRAD E930% °

RBERBEBBAME LA BIEEM2
EAMRE IEeE2EERNNMERE
BEETERAETRETRITZAR
ARNEBRTFEBENZEHARAR
AR BT ARER1% » EE—FE
HBBZIBREA BRAE - ARARE
BERRBER ARG LHE -

HREBEZEREREARE L BB ILEM
12 AHE - MARR - BT ERERR
—REUGFATESARES B M
HEALIRLZBREEBAQRE
BITRMM0 1M EBEARBEER
5,000,0007C * BREFARBRRES
#LEE -

BEARKEERAF « —2-NEFFHK 215
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35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35 URGDEAER AR (E)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) EERRESTE(£E)
Average

exercise price
per share Number of
option share options

BREREZ
Y ITEE EBRERE

Granted during the year FAE HK$2.08

75 12.087T 130,700,000
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 W-_ZT—N\F+-_A=+—8 *

and 31 December 2019 —E-hF-—H-BK HK$2.08
—E-hEFE+=A=+—H 78 2 .087T 130,700,000

Vested and exercisable at R-ZE—NAF+_A=+—H HK$2.08

31 December 2019 BB RAI{TE 752 087T 114,700,000
Vested and exercisable at R-ZZE—NE+=-_HA=+—H HK$2.08

31 December 2018 BB LA 7B 2 .087T 100,700,000
No options was exercised or lapsed during the periods R BT E A HAR PO I B PR T
covered by the above tables. R o
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have FREMARITERERE 2 Z BB RITE
the following expiry date and exercise prices: BT :

Share options  Share options
31 December 31 December

Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price 2019 2018

—EB-NF —E-)\F

t=RA=+-RA +t=A=+—H

£ BH ZIH B TEE 2B - {ie: ]

27 April 2018 17 June 2024 HK$2.08 130,700,000 130,700,000
—E-NFOUAZ=++tH —ZE_MmMFEARA+LEHR 75 #52.087T

Weighted average remaining contractual life of
options outstanding at the end of period 4.47 years 5.47 years
IR M ARITHEBIRE 2 BT8R T & FH 4.47%F 5.47%
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

(i)

Fair value of options granted

The fair value at grant date is independently
determined using an adjusted form of the Black
Scholes Model with Binomial Tree Method which
includes a Binomial Tree model that takes into
account the stock price, the exercise price, the
time to maturity, the risk-free rate, the dividend
yield and volatilities of comparable companies,
the sub-optimal factor, and the forfeiture rate.

The model inputs for options granted during the

year ended 31 December 2018 included:

(@) options are granted for consideration of
HK$1 and vested period of three years from
the employment date of the respective
employees. Vested options are exercisable
before expiry date

(b) exercise price: HK$2.08

(c) grant date: 27 April 2018

(d) expiry date: 17 June 2024

(e) time to maturity: 6.15 years

(f)  share price at grant date: HK$2.08

(g) risk-free interest rate: 1.91%

35 URODABER 2SR (E)
(b) BRAESHE (&)

(1)

ERHBRENLFE

RHBHOATFELERERAR
HE N 7o — &T B AT AR E (BAR AL —
BEAREERE (B8 —EAH®E
EEEL) BBETF Yt kKRR
B - 1THEE - DHEE - EAR
X AR LB A R R B ER
KO e - RERF RO EK -

RBEE-_Z-NF+_A=+—

BLEFEEEREBRENEL R

ABIRBEHE

() BEREAREBBITRYE -
FEHESEEZEERS
B SHBE - CHRBNER
R EDHE ZmTE

(b) 171E(E : BHE2.087T

(0 WEHEH: —T—N\F
MA=Z++H

(d HHB: ZZT-WEF
NA+TLER

() FEH|HARER] : 6.15%F
(H B BEHORE : B%2.087T

@ ERBRME:191%
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35 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 35 LR RERZMNARE)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) EERRESTE(£E)
(i)  Fair value of options granted (Continued) () ERHBRENLFHEE)
(h) expected dividend yield: 0% (hy TEERRRBULZ=ER : 0%
(i)  expected price volatility of the company’s () RARAKREFEHESKRE:
shares: 48.38% 48.38%
()  forfeiture rate: 0 to 16.35% () CRUE :0=16.35%
(k) fair value per share option: HK$0.72 K BOhEREZATE: BE
0.727¢
The expected price volatility is based on the TEERE SR IR T A 2R iR (R
historic volatility (based on the remaining life of BRENGRT T AERE TR
the options), adjusted for any expected changes BARUESERRRREREZ
to future volatility due to publicly available FRBAEBIEHARESD
information.
36 BUSINESS COMBINATION 36 ¥E56t
(@) summary of acquisition (a) WIESEHE
In January 2018, the Group's wholly-owned subsidiary, RZZE—N\E—F  AEEZ2ENBEA
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company AL REB X E X EERR AR L
Limited* entered into certain contractual arrangements REEEgRX{tBARAR (R 1R
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing Huanxi TERESEEIEBER AR ) REH B A A
Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (formerly known ERESENEREER AR URES
as “Beijing Hua Hua Duo Duo Culture Company ZEZBRERBEATREREAl A
Limited”*) and its subsidiary, Beijing Hangaohua FECZBYEZAAD)IVAETAEY
Network Technology Company Limited, and their ZH([ERREE]) - BREZBEWE - K
respective equity holders (“Equity holders”) who are SEERERPBELERERBTYEFSE
independent third party individuals in the PRC. Through A - BEANLH  ~&EEE=Z
the acquisition, the Group has obtained the license —NF—AT+NBREBRESY &R R
required for operating streaming platform in the PRC. SEZEHIEREESE 2B (B
By virtue of the contractual arrangements, the Group 2B 5E13) o

has obtained control over and derived economic
benefits from the VIE Group with effect from 19 January
2018 (refer to Note 13).

& The English name is for identification purpose only
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 #ZE —ZT— hFE+-_A=+—BItFE

36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

(@) Summary of acquisition (Continued)

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the
acquisition are as follows:

36 EBEH (&)
(@) WIREEBE (&)

AKRBEEERANEERARET

19 January

2018

—E-)N\F

—A+AhA

HK$'000

BT T

Cash and cash equivalents HekReEE 494
Other receivables H fth fE UL K IE 119
Amount due from the Group JE U 7N £2 B 3R IR 313
Intangible assets B EE 842
Trade and other payables JE A1 BR 3K I HAth FE < FR IR (1,580)
Net identifiable assets acquired B U 2 Pl A E EFE 188
Less: Consideration o RE -
Gain from bargain purchase REZEBRE 2 188

There were no acquisitions in the year ended
31 December 2019.

RBE_ZT-NFt+_-_A=1+—HLL#HF
B EWFEEIH -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 & ZE —Z— W F+-_A=+—BItFE

36 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 36 K&/ (&)
(b) Purchase consideration - cash inflow (b) BERE-RER
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
ST
Inflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, WEHB AR ZEE R
net of cash acquired (IBRBEWECES)
Cash consideration HERE -
Less: Balances acquired B BWEE 2 Ak 494
Net inflow of cash — investing activities HeERAFHE-KETE 494
Acquisition-related costs 10 58 46 A 2

Y BB ABRAAK A48 % 118,000T X B E A

Acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$118,000 ST -

are included in administrative expenses in profit or
loss.

37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 37 AEANLHE

The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Mr. Dong, ii%i%gng%;«Ai%%ég
° = sy AN

Mr. Ning and Mr. XU..The.dir.ec.:tors of the Group a're of the T AR A ) K £ S 4 25 5 o A
view that the following individuals and companies were A A+

related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group as at and during the year:

Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BEALERE HH B 7K £ [ BE 1R
Mr. Dong Executive Director
BhAE HITES
Mr. Ning Non-Executive Director
EEA FEHITES
Mr. Xu Non-Executive Director
mEE FEHITES
Beijing Dirty Monkey Cultural Development Company Limited*
(“Beijing Dirty Monkey") Controlled by Mr. Ning
IRBHRFCEXEERERAR ([ERERF]) B B o A P A
Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
(“Khorgas Dirty Monkey”)
ERRMBERETERAXERERAR((ERRITEEK T B 22 ot A P A
Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
PRI ELERBR QA HH 28 5 A P A
Beijing Joy Leader Culture Communication Co. Ltd. Controlled by Mr. Xu
IRELEXEERBER QA 1R 55 A 1 4l

s The English name is for identification purposes only
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37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 37 BEALTHE (&)
(Continued)
(a) Related party transactions (@) EHBAEALTZRS
During the year, the Group entered into the following FRN - AEBEBEATIIIATRS
transactions with related parties: £I5
2019 2018
—ZE—-hF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Film director’s fee to Mr. Ning MELESNCEFZERE
(Note 22(b)) (M 5E22(0)) - 5,862
These transactions constitute continuing connected ER S EK LT BB 14AE B 55
transactions for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the BRERS -
Listing Rules.
2019 2018
—E—hE —E—)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Film production fee paid or payables B sk ER1EE 42
to Mr. Xu (Note 22(a)) BEXREER (M5E220) 100,694 -

Film production fee paid or payables & {3k fE 4t B 38

to Beijing Joy Leader (Note 22(a)) EXEEER (MH522() 34,722 -
Fee paid to Beijing Joy Leader for ME=ZFEHNEMNILRE
Third Party Contracts (Note 22(a)) %382 B (fiE22()) 115,741 -
150,463 -
On 24 December 2018, the Group has entered into a RZZE—N\EF+ZA=Z+WMA  A&EH
film investment agreement with Tibet Jindouyun Film HPEEH I EXEBR ARG ISR
Company Limited. The Group has invested RMB12 REWZE - FA - AEBEREARK
million, being 10% of the estimated total production 12,000,0007T * 1h a5 ket 2 2R
cost of the film during the year. KHEI10% ©
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37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

37 BEANLTIRE (&)

(b) Related party balances (b) EEEE A 24tk

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables FETBR 5K
— Mr. Xu (Note i) — IR % & (P EED 2,063 =
- Beijing Joy Leader Culture — b RE L8 b E R
Communication Co. Ltd (Note i) BB A A (P D) 3,346 =
5,409 -
Amount due to a shareholder FET— B R FKIA
— Mr. Dong (Note ii) — & S A (P ED) - 1,393
Amounts due to related companies FE B E R R FRIA
- Beijing Dirty Monkey (Note iii) — b R F (B i) - 45,537
— Khorgas Dirty Monkey —EBRREET
(Note iii) (B #iii) - 45,537
- 92,467
Trade receivable JE W BR 5k
- Khorgas Dirty Monkey - ERRERET
(Note iv) (M Eiv) 76,754 -
Prepayment for film and B &k BAR B R ETE K
TV programmes rights
— Mr. Xu (Note v) — R A (FiFEEv) 11,731 11,974
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37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(b) Related party balances (Continued)

Note i:

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

The balances were denominated in RMB, trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year.

The balance was denominated in HKS$, non-trade in
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The balances were denominated in RMB, non-trade in
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one
year.

The balance represented the Group’s right to receive
income arisen from a film rights investment where
the film has been released in prior year. During the
year, Khorgas Dirty Monkey took the responsibility to
distribute the aforementioned income to the investors
of the film including one of our subsidiaries. There were
no business transactions occurred between the Group
and Khorgas Dirty Monkey during the year. The balance
was denominated in RMB, trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and receivable within one year.

The balance represented the payment prepaid to Mr. Xu in
relation to the development of the proposed film.

The carrying amounts of amount due to a shareholder,
amount due to related companies approximate their
fair values.

37 BEATRE

——
Z)

(b) BEAEANLZEER(E

By &

B i

Pt £ -

B sEiv

B REY -

RZERBAARETHE - BEREE
EER  RERAR—FAEE -

AAERRABEEGHE - RIFEEME
EIKA  RERAREREE -

HEREBIAARSIE  AEEEY
B - WA 28 RAR—FNEE -

ZAERIEAEE W —IHE X MRER
ARELNBARET ZEFERL
—FELER-FA - ERARIIEET
BERERBRASRTZEXRAER
EREEAKEETHBAR - A%
B = R AR R TR F AR ETT
EMEBRZ S © ZERAAREHE -
REBEMHE BER RERAR—
FREE -

ZERERRERREY MIRELETR
Y FRIA ©

et — 2 PR B 0B e BB A B 2B
MREEREAFERE -

BEGHSEERATE o —E-NFFH
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37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(c) Key management personnel

compensation

The remuneration of directors who were considered
as key management personnel of the Group during the
year is as follows:

37 BEANTIKRE (&)

(c) TEEE AEFHHN

FARESASETEEEABZES
M :

2019 2018

—ER-NF —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Short-term benefits 52 HA & A 25,181 21,038
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  B{R& A — et 2 st 2 18 18
Share-based compensation VARR 19 & E 1 2 37 M - 28,129
25,199 49,185

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

38 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“the
COVID-19 outbreak”) since January 2020, the management
has conducted an assessment of the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak to the financial performance of the Group and has
identified the following:

(@)

The distributor of Lost in Russia (E%%) has withdrawn
the theatrical release on 23 January 2020. The Group
decided to terminate the minimum guaranteed
distribution agreement in accordance with its terms
and conditions as the film has not been premiered
on the first day of Chinese New Year in 2020 as
agreed therein. The Group has repaid the receipt in
respect of minimum guaranteed distribution amounted
to RMB250,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$278,831,000) in February 2020. For the details
of the minimum guaranteed distribution agreement,
please refer to Note 6.

EFERFBRTHRABZME HEFHIE
BeRFEAARRETEBEMETE -

38 BEHRER

B-F-TF-AMEFUTHREELME
(HRTRAEENED) % - &2 EC T
DERFEEEHARBYERAOLE
WHEE AN IT@E

@ (EB\)MNBTER-_FT_FTF—A
“Ht=ZARERER LR -ARZEF
REWRERTHROER_FT_F
FEMBER  NEBEREREHEGER
MigH®EZHB®E AEEER -F
—EF_ARERFRERTRIZ K
T8 A R #250,000,0007T (18 1 4978 ¥
278,831,0007T) - BAREZETHE
15 B2HMEe -

224

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED e Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A W B R M R
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38 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b) On 23 January 2020, the Group has entered into
a cooperation agreement with Beijing ByteDance
Network Technology Limited (1t & Bk S48 48 £ fi
BBR AR ("ByteDance”), pursuant to which, the Group
and ByteDance will carry out cooperation in several
fields in relation to online videos and ByteDance
shall pay the Group at least RMB630,000,000 as the
consideration. As part of the cooperation, following the
withdrawal of theatrical release of Lost in Russia (fE15),
the Group has licensed this film, to ByteDance and its
related parties for the release through online platforms
since 25 January 2020.

() On 31 March 2020, the Group has entered into an
agreement to terminate one of the film investment
agreement with an investor. Pursuant to the
agreement, the prepaid amount of RMB150,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$167,299,000), which
has been recognised as financial liability as of 31
December 2019, will be repaid to the counterparty.

(d The COVID-19 outbreak may also impact the
production and distribution plan of the Group’s film
and TV programmes rights. If the COVID-19 outbreak
persists for a longer period subsequently, the financial
performance of the Group for the year ending 31
December 2020 may be affected but the financial effect
of which cannot be reasonably estimated at this stage.

The Group will pay close attention to the development of
the COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on the media market,
and will continue to perform relevant assessments and
take proactive measures to minimise its impact towards the
Group's business operations and financial results.

38 HEWRBE(E)

(b)

R-E_ZE-—A_+=H AEEHA
It RFEHRBEERMBR AR ([FE
BEE) ) FTSL B 1R R © B AKRER
FEABEE N T AR AR SAAR R Y 2 (E B
RAGIE FHURBDERNAEEHZL X
it AR #630,000,0007T1ERRME © 1ER
BIEM—#o - HECELS) BEHBTAR LR
®& AEECEEFHKE R EER S
BE-Z_TF-A-_+HAAEEEREL

FERRZEF

R-ZZB-_FTE=-_A=1—H A&
—HREEF U HHEERLET—E
KREWHZ - REEZHHE ER-F
Ft_A=T-"BEHIREHMEBENTE
I FIE A R #150,000,0007T (18 & R 49
7B#167,299,00070) iR E TR HET -

| & B
=+ B

%ﬁﬂﬁ#ﬁ%%%ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ@%
REBEBRBIREEIE R BT EIERF
c M EBERRZSREFERE K
E#FEJ AAEERBE_Z_TF+—
A=+ —BLEFEZMBRRIEXE

TE ERERELISEMAFTEMBEE
=,

AEBEeTIEBHETE ﬁﬁff&ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%@
REHERTSNTE I REBETHE
AHE - EBURERER  REREESAREE
E i&ﬁﬁk%’?ﬁﬁ 2K
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

39 AQFZMBAMR K

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 BET T BT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Prepayments TE 5K 52,496 -
Interests in subsidiaries RHT B AR 2 #Exm 226,388 231,079
278,884 231,079
Current assets REBEE
Film and TV programmes rights B R ERE R AE 49,465 -
Other receivables H o fE U Fh 18 1,630 143
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG BT 8 A Rl Zk IR 388,545 262,695
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHESZEHE 5,539 41
445,179 262,879
Total assets EEHE 724,063 493,958
Equity =
Share capital fi& A< 31,547 29,181
Reserves HE (@) 551,155 228,020
Total equity REREE 582,702 257,201
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables H b fE 1~ R 14,991 15,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries &S B A B FIE 76,370 -
Amount due to a related party e — R EE AT FIE - 1,393
Borrowings (RN 50,000 220,364
Total liabilities BEAR 141,361 236,757
Total equity and liabilities ExRaEHaE 724,063 493,958
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

39 ARFZBMBERRRK (Z)

Notes: I
(@  Reserves (@ B
Share-based Accumulated
Share compensation Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note b) Total
MR R ER 25 E#E
R4 &8 ZHEMEE ERfEE (B &) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT ok BT
At 1 January 2018 R=F-\§—A—-H 1,974,993 - 46,389 (1,749,554) 271,828
Issue of ordinary shares RA—ZEYERETLERRK
to a film director 268,500 - - = 268,500
Share option scheme: BikEral
— value of services provided -ERHREZEE - 85,368 - - 85,368
Total comprehensive loss
for the year AEEREERAE = - 5,028 (402,704) (397,676)
At 31 December 2018 R-B-—\E+-A=+—H 2,243,493 85,368 51,417 (2,152,258) 228,020
At 1 January 2019 R-Z-A%E-A-H 2,243,493 85,368 51,417 (2,152,258) 228,020
Issue of ordinary shares,
net of transaction costs EALRR (MR FHKA) 387,634 - - - 387,634
Share option scheme: e S
- value of services provided -BRERKZBE - 6,430 - - 6,430
Total comprehensive loss
for the year AEEREBRER - - (7,195) (63,734) (70,929)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZ-hAE+=A=+-H 2,631,127 91,798 44,222 (2,215,992) 551,155

(b) The contributed surplus of approximately HK$199,168,000
(2018: HK$199,168,000) is included in the accumulated losses. It
represented reduction in issued share capital and share premium
cancellation pursuant to a capital restructuring in 2004 and capital
reorganisation in 2010, 2011 and 2012. Under the Company Law
of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of the Company is available
for distribution. However, the Company shall not declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

(b)) EBHEHDBEE199,168000T (ZT— N\ : B
#.199,168,0007T) 5 A 25T E518 - BEH AR T 5
BE-ZTTNFRAEREE-_T—TF . =T
—— ER T —FRASARATER 2 %
TTRRAN Rk 2 BR1D (8 - IREBEBREQADA -
ARBIZEBRBHBAFHIR - A g T51E
R /NG NIV - O = D NNk
BRI

()  EBRBTRLRIKM RS EDEEDH
B %

iy HAEZIEREESAMEREAR
REBBITRAERDGEEREZEM -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
S 5t 2

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is as follows:

AEEBERERRERL S $4 - AERE BT
mF :

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-ALEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE —E-\F ZZ—+f TR “T-TfF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BETTT BETTT BETTT
RESULTS ES |
Revenue and film investment income WaREZRERA 814,425 174,632 53,209 16,112 266,913
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAEH/ (58) 186,184 (426,264) (95,159)  (1,253,745) (84,166)
Income tax expense FGEREX (81,081) (18,429) - - (8,630)
Profit/(loss) for the year rEERRH/(EEB) 105,103 (444,693) (95,159)  (1,253,745) (92,796)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: KERGEH/(BE)GER :
Owners of the Company NUNGIE TSN 105,103 (444,693) (95,159)  (1,253,745) (92,796)
At 31 December
Rt=B=+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“EZ-hE ZE-\F ZZ—t+f TR —T-1F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BETT BT T BT BETTT BETTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets BEES 1,855,506 1693549 1046527 1,011,555 1,055,285
Total liabilities BERE (725,276)  (1,034,881) (254,360) (184,644) (65,169)
Total equity EREE 1,130,230 658,668 792,167 826,911 990,116
Attributable to: BER :
Owners of the Company NGIE DN 1,130,230 658,668 792,167 826,911 990,116
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